
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Paulina Ford  on 01733 452508 as soon as possible.

AB
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MONDAY 12 JUNE 2017
1.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall
Contact – paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 452508

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

3. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 23 March 2017 3 - 12

4. Older People's Primary Prevention - Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 13 - 162

5. Increased 7 Day GP Access 163 - 172

6. Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Sustainability And Transformation Plan 
(STP) Update Report

173 - 186

7. Motor Neurone Disease Charter -  Focus Group Update 187 - 196

8. Annual Health And Wellbeing Strategy Performance Report 197 - 232

9. Adult Social Care, Better Care Fund (BCF) Update 233 - 236

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

10. Schedule of Future Meetings and Draft Agenda Plan 237 - 238

To note the dates and agree future agenda items for the Board.  To include 
frequency of reporting from other Boards, where appropriate, including Local 
Safeguarding Boards, Children’s and Adults Commissioning Boards, LCG 
Commissioning Board.  Also to consider how we will monitor progress 
against the Health and Wellbeing strategy. 

Public Document Pack



Board Members:

Cllr J Holdich (Chairman), Dr Mistry (Vice Chairman), Cllr  D Lamb, Cllr W Fitzgerald,
Cllr R Ferris, C Mitchell, Dr Laliwala, Dr  Howsam, G Smith, H Daniels, W Ogle-Welbourn,

 Dr Robin, A Chapman and A Pike

Co-opted Members:  Russell Wate and Claire Higgins

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Paulina Ford on telephone 01733 
452508 or by email – paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take 
photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the 
public. A protocol on this facility is available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use
%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


AB
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD HELD IN THE 

BOURGES / VIERSEN ROOMS, TOWN HALL ON 23 MARCH 2017

Members 
Present:

Councillor Holdich, Leader and Cabinet Member for Education, Skills,
University, and Communication (Chairman)
Dr Harshad Mistry (Vice Chairman)
Councillor Ferris
Adrian Chapman, Service Director Adult Services and Communities
Dr Liz Robin, Director for Public Health
Cathy Mitchell,  Director of Community Services and Integration 
Joanne Proctor, Head of Service, Adult and Childrens Safeguarding  Boards
Safeguarding Adults Board Co-opted Member
David Whiles, Peterborough Healthwatch
Claire Higgins, Chief Executive of Cross Keys Homes, 

Also Present: Dr Penny Hazell, Clinical Psychologist & Clinical Lead, CAMHS Eating
Disorder Pathway
Daniel Emery, Campaign Coordinator for the Motor Neuron Disease Association
Val Thomas, Consultant in Public Health
Dr Linda Sheridan, Consultant in Public Health Medicine
Will Patten, Director of Transformation
Emma Wakelin, Strategic Development Manag
Karen Oldale

Officers 
Present:

Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Councillor Lamb, Russell Wate, Wendi Ogle Welbourn and 
Andrew Pike.  Joanne Proctor was in attendance as substitute for Russell Wate.

The Board were informed that South Lincolnshire CCG were still looking to appoint a 
replacement for Dr Kenneth Rigg and were hopeful that someone could be found for the 
start of the next municipal year.

2. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were received.

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2016

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2016 were approved as a true and 
accurate record.

3



Chairman’s Announcement

The Chairman received a request from Dr Liz Robin at the meeting to ask if it would be 
possible to make an announcement regarding a bid to the Sport England Local Pilots Fund                                            
and to seek an expression of support from the Board.

The Chairman agreed to the announcement being made which was as follows:

 A bid to the Sport England Local Pilots Fund would be put in by Inspire Peterborough 
with support from Peterborough City Council.  The bid would have a strong focus on 
enabling people with disabilities and people who were aging to access sport and 
physical activity.

 The local Pilots Fund was a large fund of approximately £130M for 10 pilots around the 
country to get people involved in sport and physical activity.

 The bid would need to be in by the end of March and would be focussed on 
collaboration and cooperation around a place.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to express their support for the bid.

4. Update on the Development of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Children and 
Young Persons Community Eating Disorders Service
The report was introduced by the Clinical Psychologist & Clinical Lead, CAMHS Eating 
Disorder Pathway and provided the Board with an update regarding the development of the 
Children and Young Persons Community Eating Disorders Service (CYP-CEDS).

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 Concern was raised regarding capacity and what numbers were envisaged coming 

through and the current backlog.  The Board were informed that the service was partly 
commissioned using new money and there had been an increase in the number of 
clinicians dealing with young people with eating disorders.

 Over the last 12 months clinicians had been seeing most young people with eating 
disorders within one to four weeks for assessment.  The commissioning standard for 
seeing young people with eating disorders was one week if urgent and four weeks if it 
was a routine eating disorder case and to see up to 100 new referrals in a year.

 Most staff were already in place with one vacancy for a permanent consultant 
psychiatrist. 

 A standardised procedure for a formal pathway into adult services for children who had 
reached 18 was currently being developed however there was already very close links 
with the Adult pathway psychology lead.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the contents of the report and 
requested a further update report in six months’ time.

4. Motor Neuron Disease Charter
Daniel Emery who was in attendance representing the Motor Neuron Disease (MND) 
Association as their volunteer Campaign Coordinator for Cambridgeshire introduced the 
report and provided further context and information regarding MND.   The Motor Neuron 
Disease Charter had recently been adopted by Peterborough City Council at its meeting on 
8 March 2017. The report requested that the Board consider ways in which support 
services would be able to work better together to improve the lives of those living with MND 
and thereby breathe life into the Charter to ensure it made a difference to improving the 
health and wellbeing of those living with MND.  Two documents were tabled for the Board 
to take away.  The first document was a real life case study of someone with MND and 
their journey from diagnosis to present day and the daily difficulties they faced living with 
MND.  The second document listed what the next steps might be to take the report forward.

4



The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 Education and training for support services was required.
 A representative from the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning 

Group suggested that  a focus group be formed bringing together the relevant services 
with  Mr Emery’s input and suggestions to identify the gaps and areas for improvement 
to the service provided to MND patients.  The outcome of this could be reported back to 
the Board.

 Another suggestion was the appointment of a single point of contact for MND patients to 
assist them in accessing the right services at the right time.

 It was noted that there were other conditions such as Parkinson’s disease which were 
also very debilitating and had similar needs to MND.  It was therefore suggested that 
the single point of contact could also be for other similar neurological conditions.

Mr Emery advised that he had the time and commitment to assist the Board in identifying 
the gap in services and areas for improvement.

The Director of Community Services and Integration at the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group volunteered to take the lead on the formation 
of the focus group.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to: 

1. Note the Motor Neuron Disease (MNDA) Charter attached at Appendix 1 of the report 
which was adopted by Peterborough City Council at its meeting on 8 March 2017.

2. Discuss ways in which support services were able to work better together to improve 
the lives of those living with MND: to breathe life into the Charter so it makes a real 
difference in improving the health and wellbeing of people with MND and to find a way 
to co-ordinate the numerous health and social care functions to provide an appropriate 
level of respect, care and support for those living with the disease, and in doing this;

3. AGREED that an MND Focus Group be set up to identify the gaps and areas for 
improvement to the service provided to MND patients.  The outcome of the Focus 
Group to be reported back to the Board.

6. Dual Diagnosis

The report was introduced by the Consultant for Public Health.  The report provided the 
Board with information regarding issues, concerns and recommendations relating to dual 
diagnosis of substance misuse and mental health conditions. Substance misuse in the 
report referred to drugs and alcohol. This was a cross cutting issue and a similar paper was 
being taken to the Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing Board.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 A dual diagnosis strategy was already in place but issues had recently been raised and 

escalated to initiate a review of the commissioning services for dual diagnosis in 
particular for drugs and alcohol misuse.

 Data sharing had been a problem and information governance regulations often 
prohibited this.  A data sharing agreement was currently being developed through a 
work group under the System Transformation Programme for older people and the 
same principles could be applied to this group, this could therefore be looked into to see 
if a similar data sharing agreement could be put in place.

 The lead for Mental Health at the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group advised that she was responsible for commissioning mental 
health services and would therefore look into how the commissioning strategies could 
be better aligned to support this particular group of patients.

5



The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to 

1. Comment on the risks and issues raised in the report with regard to the current 
treatment and care pathways for those who have both mental health and substance 
misuse problems.

2. Endorse the alignment of commissioning strategies and intentions to strengthen and 
develop services for those who have mental health problems and misuse substances.

7. Annual Health Protection Report for Peterborough 2016/17 

The Consultant in Public Health Medicine introduced the report which provided the Board 
with an annual summary on activities in Peterborough to ensure health protection for the 
local population and included areas that were covered by the Peterborough Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  Services that fell within Health Protection were:

i. communicable diseases – their prevention and management
ii. infection control 
iii. routine antenatal, new born, young person and adult screening 
iv. routine immunisation and vaccination  
v. sexual health 
vi. environmental hazards

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 Reference was made to table 2 on page 48 of the report in the section on Vaccinations:  

Diphtheria, Tetanus, Pertussis, Polio and Haemophilus Influenza B.  Clarification was 
sought as to the meaning of the percentage figure. It was explained that this figure 
represented the uptake of the vaccinations which had been good.

 There were various reasons as to why people did not take part in the vaccination 
programme such as parental health beliefs and access to clinics.  A task and finish 
group had been set up to investigate the reasons further and make recommendations to 
improve the take up further in these groups of people.

 It was noted that there were already some open access clinics in place which had 
proved to be successful in providing a more flexible vaccination appointment system.

 The Board were informed that it would be National TB Day on 24 March and there 
would be an event held in Queensgate to raise the profile of TB and in particular latent 
TB.  

 Latent TB was a term used for dormant or sleeping TB.  
 Air quality. It was felt that a lot more work needed to be done between Transport 

Services and Health Services to understand and address the air quality issues.  The 
Board was advised that Public Health were actively looking at this and working with 
council services on air quality.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to comment on the Annual Health Protection 
Report and on future priorities for health protection in Peterborough.

8. Peterborough City Council Commissioning Intentions 2017/2018

The report was introduced by the Director of Transformation which updated the Board on 
the current position relating to the commissioning plans for the financial year 2017/18. The 
Director highlighted the following commissioning principles that had been put in place to 
guide decision making:-

● Demand management - we will prioritise the commissioning of services and 
solutions that will prevent or delay escalating support and service needs;

6



● Efficient and effective - we will take an evidence based approach to 
commissioning services and solutions that demonstrate efficient and effective use of 
resources. Services and solutions will be commissioned on the basis of best value;

● Return on investment - We will commission on the basis of a clear, whole-life 
costed benefits realisation for service users, PCC and other stakeholders. This will 
include analysis of the value of social and environmental outcomes of 
commissioning activities as well as financial outcomes;

● Market Development - We will work with providers and partners to ensure that 
commissioning activity across health and social care is coordinated and best value 
and outcomes are delivered; 

● Statutory duties - We will ensure PCC complies with its legal duties within the 
statutory legislative and policy framework;

● Policy - Commissioning activity will take account of and be sensitive to national and 
local policy drivers; and

● Collaborative commissioning - We will work to commission services and co-
produce solutions with service users and strategic partners where this best delivers 
PCC outcomes and objectives.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 Board members were pleased to note the statement regarding return on investment and 

whole life costing as part of the commissioning principles. The Board were informed that 
investment would not be for a return during one year but for a whole life cost return with 
a move away from short term decisions.

 The Director of Community Services and Integration supported collaborative working 
and joint commissioning where opportunities presented.  Such opportunities might 
present themselves through the Better Care Fund arrangement or previous joint 
commissioning arrangements.

 All opportunities to improve outcomes and / or reduce costs was being looked at.
 The Director of Public health advised that public health were working towards a joint 

public health commissioning unit across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  
Strategically this would make it easier for the CCG to joint commission on some of the 
public health commissioned services.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the commissioning intentions for 
Peterborough City Council for 2017/18 and to comment on the issues raised. 

9. Peterborough Inter Board Protocol 

The Head of Service for Adult and Children Safeguarding Boards introduced the report.  
The purpose of the report was to seek endorsement from the Board on the protocol which 
had been developed so that the relationship between the four statutory boards 
(Peterborough Safeguarding Children Board, Peterborough Safeguarding Adults Board, 
Safer Peterborough Partnership and the Health and Wellbeing Board) is formalised. The 
protocol stipulates a clear governance arrangement, how the four Boards will agree their 
joint priorities, sets out a process for the Boards to report on progress and allows for formal 
challenge.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 Members of the Board strongly endorsed the protocol.
 It was noted that the protocol made mention of an annual review of the Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy, this however was incorrect and needed to be changed to state that 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy delivery plans were renewed annually.  The error 
was noted and would be amended.

 Clarification was sought as to what arrangements had been put in place for 
interrelationship working and cross communication with Cambridgeshire.  The Board 

7



were advised that with regard to the Safeguarding Boards there would be one combined 
unit county wide.  There were five community safety partnership boards in place across 
the county and therefore these were a little more difficult to combine.

 Cross border working with Lincolnshire was also raised and a cross border protocol 
would be looked into.

 Adults and Safeguarding training were now being delivered together and would in the 
future be delivered as one unit of training county wide with one point of contact to 
access the training.  This to be in place by late summer 2017.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to endorse the Inter Board Protocol and 
requested that enquiries be made into developing a cross border protocol with Lincolnshire.

10. Cambridge and Peterborough Integrated Workforce Strategy 

The Strategic Development Manager introduced the report.  The purpose of the report was 
to ask the Board to review the Cambridge and Peterborough Integrated Workforce Strategy 
and provide feedback on its core Ambitions: improving supply, improving retention, new role 
development, setting up new ways of working and up-skilling, and leadership development, 
as well as consider how the Board could further support the implementation of this system 
strategy.
The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 One of the key identifiers in terms of workforce requirements was to upskill the support 

workforce across health and social care settings.  Work was underway to identify the 
core competencies and requirements for an integrated care worker which was someone 
that could be employed on a flexible career path and could work across traditional 
bounders.  The integrated care worker would have a flexible pathway as part of their 
employment so they would be able to work in a range of settings and therefore assist 
with the current retention issue across the system.

 Workforce development was not a quick fix and measuring success would come 
through conducting satisfaction surveys.

 Investment in the workforce was important to address long term retention issues. 
 A joint set of skills was being looked at for reablement and intermediate care workers to 

provide better career opportunities.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to endorse the Cambridge and Peterborough 
Integrated Workforce Strategy.

11. Safer Peterborough Partnership Plan 2017-2010
The report was introduced by the Service Director, Adults and Communities.  The purpose 
of the report was for the Board to consider the Safer Peterborough Plan for 2017-2020.  
The plan set out the community safety priorities for the partnership over the next three 
years. 

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 The Chair of the Safer Peterborough Partnership was in attendance and commented 

that the priorities and themes within the plan had been agreed following an assessment 
of community safety in Peterborough.  There were three priorities and two cross cutting 
themes:

Priority 1:  Offender Management
Priority 2:  Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
Priority 3:  Building Community Resilience
Cross Cutting Theme 1:  Substance Misuse
Cross Cutting Theme 2:  Mental Health

8



 Some members of the Board felt that the consultation under played antisocial behaviour 
and was therefore pleased to note that work was continuing to be done around 
antisocial behaviour.  In building community resilience there was a need to get the 
message out to people that it was safe to report crime.

 It was important to ensure that there was a focus on the design of public spaces as this 
might help with issues around community cohesion. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to consider the Safer Peterborough Plan 
2017-2020 and the priorities contained therein.

2.24pm Councillor Fitzgerald left the meeting.

12. Health and Wellbeing Strategy 6 Month Progress Report 

The report was introduced by the Director of Public Health accompanied by the Interim 
Head of Mental Health and provided the Board with a 6 month summary of progress against 
the Future Plans identified for each of the focus areas outlined in the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2016-2019.

The Interim Head of Mental Health introduced herself and provided some background 
information of her role and provided further context to the Mental Health for Adults of 
Working Age performance report.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 The Suicide Prevention Strategy was currently being reviewed with completion of an 

updated Strategy planned for autumn of 2017.
 Clarification was sought as to how the Mental Health for Adults of Working Age 

performance report would be monitored going forward and the Board were advised that 
it would be part of a quarterly report on the Health and Wellbeing Strategy to the Board.

 It was noted that there were only quantitative targets and no qualitative targets. The 
Board were informed that qualitative targets were measured through commissioning 
through the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust.  There were 
Qualitative measures within each provider’s contract.   However more work could be 
done to provide specific qualitative measures across the mental health economy.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to consider the content of the Peterborough 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 6 month progress report.

2.30pm Dr Mistry left the meeting.

INFORMATION AND OTHER ITEMS

13. Adult Social Care, Better Care Fund (BCF) Update 

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 It was noted that there was some overlap between the Better Care Fund and 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan and work was being done with health to reduce 
the duplication of activity where possible.

 Consideration was being given to combining the Cambridgeshire County Council BCF 
Board and Peterborough City Council BCF Board to support a more joined up approach 
between Peterborough and Cambridge.  The budgets and reporting to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board would still remain separate but the oversight of the effective delivery of 
the BCF Plans would be under the one Board.

9



 £3M of additional funding would be coming through next year from the Adult Social 
Care fund but guidance had not yet been issued from government as to how this could 
be used.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the update of the BCF delivery and 
planning for the BCF 2017/18 submission.

14. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the update of the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Sustainability and Transformation Plan without comment.

15. Hydrotherapy Policy (Verbal Update)

A verbal update was provided by the Director of Community Services and Integration who 
advised that no formal report had been provided due to a report needing to go to the CCG 
Governing body first and the deadline for that meeting had been after the deadline for 
publication of the Health and Wellbeing Board agenda. 

The CCG Governing body had now received a policy document relating to whether 
someone received land based physiotherapy or water based therapy. The CCG have 
considered the evidence which was not conclusive to show if one type of therapy was better 
than the other.  The CCG had therefore concluded that those people who were able to do 
land based therapy should receive land based physiotherapy but it had been acknowledged 
that not everyone would be able to do this and therefore the water based therapy would be 
offered and this would be based on an individual assessment of each patient’s needs.

The Board considered the report, and key points highlighted and raised during discussion 
included:
 The physiotherapy service commissioned within the community was through the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust (CPFT).
 Clarification was sought as to whether the hospital could commission physiotherapy on 

behalf of the CCG.  The Director of Community Services and Integration would look into 
whether this was possible.

 The way the pathway worked in Peterborough was that the patient would be referred 
through a single point of access which was the community service.  The community 
service would then either work with the individual or refer them to secondary care.

 It was noted that in the southern part of Cambridgeshire the hospital decided the 
direction of travel for the patient but in Peterborough people would have to go to the 
hospital first and then be referred to community services who would then refer them to 
CPFT who would then commission a service provider. Members of the Board felt that 
there should be the same service across Cambridgeshire. The Director of Community 
Services and Integration advised that she would look further into if a patient was 
assessed in a hospital setting what would be the pathway to access the therapy 
services.

 The Hydrotherapy Policy was now a public document and could be circulated after the 
meeting.

Karen Oldale, was in attendance and addressed the Board.  The following comments and 
responses were made:
 There was concern that there were still some inequalities in the policy for the residents 

of Peterborough.
 Confirmation was provided that patients would not be required to attend the exceptional 

cases panel to be referred for either land based or water based therapy.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the verbal update on the 
Hydrotherapy Policy.

10



16. Devolution 2

The Director of Public Health provided the Board with an update on progress regarding the 
Devolution 2 deal stating that feedback on discussions regarding the Devolution 2 deal 
would need to be put forward by the Mayor once he had been elected.

The Health and Wellbeing Board RESOLVED to note the verbal update on Devolution 2.

The Chairman noted that David Whiles a long standing member and Chairman of Healthwatch 
would be retiring from the Health and Wellbeing Board and Healthwatch and wished to note on 
record the Boards appreciation and thanks for the enormous amount of work that he had done on 
behalf of Healthwatch for the people of Peterborough and the valuable contribution he had 
provided to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

17. Schedule of Future Meetings and Draft Agenda Programme 

It was noted that all meetings for the next municipal year would now be held on a Monday 
commencing at 1.00pm and the next meeting would be on 12 June 2017.

CHAIRMAN
1.00 - 2.50 pm

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



                                                                        
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 4

12 JUNE 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Dr Liz Robin 
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Diane Lamb, Cabinet Member for Public Health

Contact Officer(s): Dr Angelique Mavrodaris, Consultant in Public Health – 
Older People Service Lead

Tel.01733 207175

OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION – JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS 
ASSESSMENT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM:  Dr Liz Robin Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. Note the findings and the areas which are highlighted for further work presented in the attached 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and;

2.  Approve the JSNA.
3. Further advise and advocate on how this work can be developed so the JSNA is not only widely 

disseminated but also implemented and utilised most effectively.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board at the request of the Director for Public 
Health. 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1          The purpose of this report is to introduce the Peterborough JSNA on Primary Prevention for  
Older People for consideration of the findings of the JSNA. The full JSNA report is attached for 
the Board’s attention.

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No.  
3.2          To develop a shared understanding of the needs of the community through developing 
and keeping under review the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and to use this intelligence to 
refresh the Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

13



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Background 

The Health and Wellbeing Board requested a JSNA on Primary Prevention for Older People to 
be prepared for June 2017. 

A JSNA working group with colleagues from the Public Health Team across Peterborough City 
Council and Cambridgeshire County Council have considered evidence and input including key 
epidemiological data, high-quality evidence and national guidance, local community views, 
complemented by ongoing consultation with key local stakeholders to produce this work.

The preliminary data and evidence was presented to 40 local stakeholders at an event on Monday 
8th May to jointly elucidate key findings and opportunities for action going forward.

Ongoing consultation throughout the JSNA process with local communities took place to ensure 
the views of older people across communities in Peterborough remained at the centre of the 
JSNA and provided key insight to the barriers and enablers faced by older people in accessing 
and adopting primary preventative approaches.

4.5 

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

JSNA structure and contents 

The full JSNA report is attached and structured as follows:
● Executive Summary
● Introduction
● Physical Activity
● Diet
● Malnutrition
● Smoking 
● Alcohol
● Environment
● Enablers and Barriers
● Summary of Opportunities for Action
● Appendices

The JSNA provides background, evidence and methods to promote health in later life as well as 
data (as available) describing the older population in the context of key risk factors at a local 
level. A review of the evidence base is also presented which highlights national guidance and 
recommendations and effective interventions in response to identified needs of the population.

As prioritised by stakeholders and supported by the literature; the risk factors with evidence of 
greatest impact on health in later life were examined in greater detail to explore existing relevant 
local data, current evidence of effective approaches and interventions, local views and assets; 
and to support the design of potential future approaches and actions that could applied to the 
local Peterborough older population.

On reviewing the literature regarding effective primary preventative interventions and approaches 
in discussion with stakeholders it was clear that any application and design of effective 
approaches would require an understanding of the local enablers and barriers faced by older 
people across communities in Peterborough particularly when accessing and engaging in 
approaches to promote health in later life. To achieve this, the working group engaged with local 
communities to understand their views. Outputs from the process are presented in the enablers 
and barriers chapter and apply across risk factors. 

Each chapter presents key findings and detailed options for future intervention. A summary 
chapter highlighting opportunities for local action and application going forward was co-produced 
by the JSNA working group and local stakeholders..

Multiple stakeholders have been engaged throughout the JSNA process, in shaping the scope, 
gathering and providing local views, and examining the findings. It is intended the relationships 
built during this JSNA process will be maintained and extended to support the further application 

14



4.11

of this work.

Key actions and opportunities for the future

Preventing ill health in later life and promoting healthy ageing is a complex consideration that 
cannot be addressed by a narrow view of health in older age as a state defined by the absence 
of disease. Health needs to be considered as a fundamental and holistic attribute that enables 
older people to achieve the things that are important to them. Ageing is a dynamic process - 
where subtle shifts in capacity or environment can have significant long-term consequences. To 
strengthen an older person’s ability to navigate and adapt to these dynamics and the losses they 
are likely to experience, local sectors and partners are well placed to support and foster resilience 
at a number of levels. This JSNA has focussed on the most powerful determinants of health in 
later life and together with local partners from across sectors have produced a summary of key 
actions and opportunities to take going forward to preserve health in later life. Each focus area 
took relevant enablers and barriers into account. These key actions and opportunities arise from 
the findings of the JSNA, and would need further exploration and identification of resources 
before putting them into practice.    
    
Physical Activity

● Commission robust and targeted research and evaluation to better understanding the 
levels of physical activity, needs and barriers of our local older population and monitoring 
of what works e.g. dropout rates, self-referral from GPs, community based health and 
wellbeing hubs

● Include health promotion messaging specifically reaches carers – not only to promote 
physical activity to those they are caring for but also to engage themselves

● Work creatively to co-produce and disseminate targeted and market-segmented 
messages promoting physical activity and access to services

● Ensure sustainability of services and messages
● Utilise existing assets e.g. Health Checks and Community Serve assets as an opportunity 

to better target 50+ population and pass on knowledge about available services and 
general lifestyle 

● Generate and disseminate messages on physical activity at schools (relevant for younger 
people and across the life course). 
  

Diet and Malnutrition
● Gain understanding of key/target risk groups  and how best to identify and stratify risk and 

target those in need  
● Review and develop appropriate community pathways 
● Develop Community Outreach – including peer learning and education links, utilising 

creative channels e.g. supermarket links 
● Consider promoting messaging regarding diet and available support through winter 

warmth packs
● Explore hospital and community meals outsourcing, including monitoring of outcomes
● Include metrics addressing diet and malnutrition in older people within an outcomes 

framework: what does good look like, clear targets, evaluation and what works
● Consider expansion of Cambridgeshire Safe & Well visits to include focus on malnutrition.

 
Smoking and alcohol

● Commission local research to better understand efficacy of targeted messages and then 
target to appropriate key groups 

● Give parity to mental health – as mandated by national NHS guidance but also due to 
higher prevalence of tobacco and alcohol use in people with mental illness

● Co-produce messages that are succinct, easily understood and consistent – ‘one version 
of the truth’ that responds to key groups appropriately

● Consider delivery of face-to-face messages to specific community groups and at places 
of work where appropriate

● Explore options of promote alternative ways of social engagement that  do not involve 
alcohol

● Explore relevant social prescribing best practice evidence. 

15



 Environments
● Accept that Peterborough is a car dependent city and that interventions need to be 

framed taking this into account
● Focus in developing solutions for rural transport links with local partners to avoid social 

isolation in these areas
● Advocate and drive promotion of dementia-friendly environments
● Utilise opportunities through housing sectors to understand safety and appropriateness 

of homes for older people 
● Commission greater levels of research to understand needs, particularly in rural areas 

and utilise local opportunities.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1

5.2

5.3

Stakeholder Engagement and Scoping consultation (9 March 2017), outcomes included:
● Sharing of knowledge to understand the local picture and what works best to prevent ill 

health later in life
● Highlighting local views on the assets and challenges currently prevalent to ensure 

responsiveness to local needs
● Identification of local opportunities to enhance work in relation to the prevention of ill 

health and promotion of better ageing for older people
● Agreement on how best to work collaboratively, both to identify local needs and take 

actions forward.

Stakeholder Dissemination and Action consultation (8 May 2017), outcomes included:
● Sharing of preliminary data, evidence & local knowledge collected for JSNA
● Identification any gaps or additional work that needed to be done
● Application of findings & development of potential local solutions
● Identification of local opportunities to enhance delivery of local solutions & agreement on 

how best work could continue collaboratively, both to identify and respond to ongoing 
local needs and take future opportunities for action forward.

Ongoing consultations throughout JSNA process with local communities to understand 
barriers and enablers

5.4 In consultation with local stakeholders, future work generated from the JSNA findings and 
opportunities for action should be co-designed with consistent stakeholder involvement and 
ownership to ensure effective and sustainable achievement of aims.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1

6.2

6.3

This JSNA provides important evidence and information to support the development of local 
approaches to prevention and promotion of health in later life, the commissioning of specific 
services across sectors and to encourage awareness and signposting of available local assets, 
programmes and services available across Peterborough.

The process and production of the JSNA is timely as new structures, funding vehicles and service 
design models are currently in effect and for which this piece of work will provide a base and 
foundation for further work across several local priority areas.

The approach to prevention and healthy ageing within this JSNA is in alignment with emerging 
approaches which take into account the specific needs of older people and opportunities across 
the lifecourse. This approach is in keeping and responds to demographic change and current 
pressures on health and social care resources. The JSNA focusses on older people and 
highlights the specific opportunities that exist in Peterborough particularly around a growing mid-
life population (during which many preventative interventions are known to have the greatest 
impact on later life). The JSNA also presents a description of those at higher risk of poor health 
in later life and, in response, potential interventions and health promoting approaches that can 
be adapted and targeted to meet the needs of the most vulnerable groups locally.

16



6.4 The JSNA highlights overarching opportunities for action including:
● Co-production of succinct, easily understood and consistent key messages appropriately 

responsive to key groups.
● Development of tailored and targeted preventative interventions for groups who may be 

at increased risk of poorer health outcomes and experience greater barriers to access 
and adoption of preventative approaches.

● Commissioning of robust and targeted research and evaluation to better understand local 
levels access, engagement and adoption of primary preventative approaches, needs and 
barriers of local older populations and monitoring of what works.

● Maintain active involvement with older people and ensure co-design of approaches to 
ensure effectiveness and retain person-centred focus.

● Promotion of intergenerational approaches – what’s often good for older people is good 
for all – enhancing intergenerational relationships and cohesion across communities.

● Promotion of sustainable approaches to ensure continuity and effective impact.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 It is a statutory requirement for the HWB Board to plan to meet the needs identified in the JSNA, 
through its Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 Alternative options regarding the scoping and aims of the JSNA were considered. These 
included:

● Links to long-term conditions as outcomes of reduced or poor primary prevention 
approaches and behaviours. This option was rejected as a JSNA specifically addressing 
long-term conditions is due for completion later this year. 

● Inclusion of additional risk factors or opportunities for primary prevention e.g. cognitive 
stimulation activities or brain exercises. At the initial consultation event with stakeholders, 
clear requests were made to focus on risk factors with the most powerful evidence of 
effectiveness that could be used to formulate clear actions going forward rather than to 
include a review of many risk factors with poor evidence of effectiveness that could 
confuse and dilute key findings and risk losing focus on strong priority areas.

9. IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Financial Implications

As a report presenting current data, evidence and opportunities the JSNA report does not have 
financial implications. Any opportunities for future action arising from the JSNA findings will need 
to be addressed and reported on separately and specifically to the Board following guidance and 
request of the Board.

9.2 Legal Implications

The production of a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment is statutory requirement for the HWB 
Board, and the needs identified should then be met through the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. . 

Equalities Implications

9.3 Older people as a population group are at risk of marginalisation e.g exclusion from decision 
making and inequity e.g access to services for a range of reasons. This JSNA aims to highlight 
the importance of preventative approaches to minimise inequity in health experience later in life. 
The JSNA also highlights specific groups e.g. those living in poorer socio-economic conditions 
that are at greater risk not only of poorer health outcomes in later life but also experience greater 
barriers in access to and engaging in health promoting approaches in a effort to support the 
development of targeted strategies to ensure equity across the population. 

17



10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 A full list of background information, data and evidence are referenced throughout   Appendix 1: 
Older People’s Primary Prevention   - Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (full document) 2017. 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 ● Appendix 1: Older People’s Primary Prevention - Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (full 
document) 2017. 

18



 

 

Draft 

Older People’s 

Primary Prevention 

JSNA 

2017 

19



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  TABLE OF CONTENTS 

0 
 

CONTENTS 

Contributors and Acknowledgements ................................................................................................... 0 
Working group .................................................................................................................................... 0 
Contributors ........................................................................................................................................ 0 
Stakeholders ....................................................................................................................................... 0 

 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................ 2 
 
1. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 3 
 
2. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY ............................................................................................................................. 4 

2.1 Key Findings .................................................................................................................................. 4 
2.2 Context: why is being physically active in older age important? .................................................. 5 
2.3 Data: What do we know about physical activity levels locally? ................................................... 6 

2.3.1. Physical activity levels: older people living in England ......................................................... 6 
2.3.2. Physical activity levels: older people living in Peterborough ................................................ 6 

2.4 Evidence base: What works? What is recommended? ............................................................... 11 
2.4.1 Factors influencing physical activity in older adults: ........................................................... 11 
2.4.2 Older adults: how active for health benefit? ....................................................................... 12 
2.4.3 Evidence of effectiveness – what works? ............................................................................ 14 
2.4.4 Cost effectiveness and the cost of physical inactivity.......................................................... 17 

2.5 Local action: what are our local assets? ..................................................................................... 18 
2.6 Future opportunities ................................................................................................................... 20 

 
3. DIET ................................................................................................................................................... 21 

3.1 Key findings ................................................................................................................................. 21 
3.2 Context: Why is diet important? ................................................................................................. 21 

3.2.1 Diet and non-communicable disease ................................................................................... 21 
3.2.2 Diet and older people .......................................................................................................... 25 

3.3 Data: What do we know about local dietary intake? ................................................................. 26 
3.3.1 Levels of fruit and vegetable intake ..................................................................................... 26 
3.3.2 Other food consumption patterns ....................................................................................... 28 
3.3.3 Overweight and obesity ....................................................................................................... 29 

3.4 Evidence base: What works? What is recommended? ............................................................... 30 
3.4.1 Factors influencing diet and nutrition in older adults ......................................................... 30 
3.4.2. Evidence base for primary preventative measures ............................................................ 32 
3.4.3. Evidence base for weight loss and diabetes prevention programmes ............................... 33 
3.4.4 Evidence base for supplementation .................................................................................... 34 
3.4.5 Evidence base for whole population approaches ................................................................ 35 
3.4.6 National standards – Care Quality Commission .................................................................. 36 
3.4.7 Cost effectiveness of dietary interventions ......................................................................... 37 

3.5 Local Action: What are our local assets? .................................................................................... 37 
3.6 Local views and future opportunities ......................................................................................... 39 

 
4. MALNUTRITION ................................................................................................................................ 40 

4.1 Key Findings ................................................................................................................................ 40 
4.2 Context: why is malnutrition important? ................................................................................... 40 
4.3 Data: what do we know about malnutrition locally?.................................................................. 43 
4.3 Evidence base: What works? What is recommended? ............................................................... 45 

4.3.1 Screening .............................................................................................................................. 45 
4.3.2 Dietary intervention ............................................................................................................. 46 

20



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1 
 

4.3.3 Oral nutritional supplements ............................................................................................... 47 
4.3.4 Other primary preventive measures .................................................................................... 47 
4.3.5 National Guidance and Recommendations ......................................................................... 51 

4.4 Local Action: What are our local assets? .................................................................................... 56 
4.4.1 Hospital-based services in Peterborough ............................................................................ 56 
4.4.2 Community-based initiatives in Peterborough .................................................................... 57 
4.4.3 Academic work and professional networks ......................................................................... 59 
4.4.4 Local Views ........................................................................................................................... 60 

4.5 Future Opportunities .................................................................................................................. 60 
 
5. SMOKING .......................................................................................................................................... 62 

5.1 Executive Summary - Smoking .................................................................................................... 62 
5.2 Key findings ................................................................................................................................. 62 
5.3 Context: Why is smoking important? ......................................................................................... 63 
5.4 Data: What do we know about smoking levels locally?.............................................................. 65 
5.5 Eonomic costs of smoking ........................................................................................................... 68 
5.6 Evidence base: What works? What is recommended? ............................................................... 68 
5.7 Local Action: What are our local assets? .................................................................................... 73 
5.8 Local Views and Future opportunities ........................................................................................ 77 

 
6. ALCOHOL ........................................................................................................................................... 79 

6.1 Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 79 
6.2 National ....................................................................................................................................... 79 
6.3 Context – why is alcohol important? .......................................................................................... 80 
6.4 Data – what do we know about alcohol locally .......................................................................... 81 
6.5 Evidence base – what is recommended? .................................................................................... 84 

 
7. ENVIRONMENT ................................................................................................................................. 87 

7.1 Key findings ................................................................................................................................. 87 
7.2 Context – why is the built environment important to Older People’s Primary Prevention? ..... 88 
7.3 Data – what do we know about the local environment? ........................................................... 89 

 
8. ENABLERS AND BARRIERS .............................................................................................................. 109 

8.1 Key findings ............................................................................................................................... 109 
8.2 Context – why is consideration of the enablers and barriers to primary prevention important?
 ........................................................................................................................................................ 109 
8.3 Data: The population of Peterborough by age, sex, deprivation/inequality and ethnicity ...... 109 
8.4 Data: What is known about risk behaviours? ........................................................................... 111 
8.5 Differences in risk behaviours ................................................................................................... 111 
8.6 Evidence: what are the enablers and barriers to primary prevention?.................................... 122 
8.7 Local Discussion: What are the enablers and barriers to primary prevention in Peterborough?
 ........................................................................................................................................................ 126 

 
9.  SUMMARY OF KEY ACTIONS/OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE FUTURE ............................................... 130 
 
10. APPENDICES .................................................................................................................................. 133 

 

 

 

21



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA CONTRIBUTORS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

0 
 

CONTRIBUTORS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

This JSNA has been developed and written by a working group in partnership with a range of local 

stakeholders across health and social care in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire.  

WORKING GROUP 

 

Name Organisation 

Dr Angelique Mavrodaris, Consultant in Public Health Medicine – Older 

People Service Lead 

PCC and CCC 

Jill Eastment, Public Health Analyst, Advanced CCC 

Gen Fitzjohn, Public Health Analyst PCC 

Sue Hall, Public Health Administrator CCC 

Ryan O’Neil, Public Health Analyst, Advanced PCC 

Cassie Philp, FY2 CCC 

Helen Tunster, Senior Public Health Manager – Older People  CCC 

Eleanor Turner-Moss, Public Health Registrar CCC 

 

CONTRIBUTORS 

We are very grateful for the contributions from each and every one of our local stakeholders.   

 

STAKEHOLDERS 

The following stakeholders attended the scoping workshop or key findings workshop or provided 

feedback on the briefing paper and key findings, and thereby shaped and developed this JSNA.  

Name Organisation 

Sarah Leadbetter, Health and Wellbeing Manager Vivacity 

Sue Stephenson, Project & Service Improvement Support Officer CCG 

Natalie Munslow, Lead Nurse Acute Medicine PSFT 

Sue Rampal Punjabi Hindu community 

David Bache Charities’ Consultant 

Innocent Muza, Primary Care Project & Service Improvement 
Manager, CCG 

CCG 

Rev David Parkes Community representative 

Lauren Sandford,  Band 7 Occupational Therapist / Team Leader 
MAU, PSHFT 

PSS 

Margaret Robinson - Healthwatch Representative Community representative 

Shama Kanwar, Project Lead - Dementia, CPFT CPFT 

Mark Gardiner, Senior Information Analyst, PCC PCC 

Susan Humphreys, Cross Keys Homes Cross Keys Homes 

22



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA CONTRIBUTORS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

1 
 

Jodie Hills SDU, CPFT 

Ashling Bannon, Carers Hubs Manager, Carers Trust 
Cambridgeshire 

Carers Trust Cambridgeshire 

Anne Keogh, Housing and Strategic Planning Manager, PCC PCC 

Rebecca Gilbertson, Disability Sport Coordinator / Senior 
Coordinator, Living Sport 

Living Sport 

Leonie McCarthy, Chief Executive Officer, Peterborough CVS Peterborough CVS 

Diana Baird CPFT 

Stuart Fort Axiom Housing 

Paul Clarke Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue 

Service 

Stephen Seelig, Social Care Lead  PCC 

Kyran Brivio, Service Manager CPFT 

Anne Keogh  PCC 

Belinda Child  PCC 

Fleur Barron  PCC 

Gill Kelly CCG 

Jan Cottrell  PCVS 

Peter Collier PCC 

Tina Hornsby PCC 

Caroline Townsend Programme Manager - Health & Social Care 

(Better Care Fund) 

Peterborough Strategic 

Partnership 

Pamela Blades, Vice Chair 

Greater Peterborough Patient 

Forum 

Susan Bentley who is the Rehabilitation Services Manager & AHP 

Lead  

North West Anglia Trust 

Will Patten, Director of Transformation PCC 

Gary Jones PCC 

Mary Bryce  Cross Keys 

Deyo Okubadejo 

 

PCH 

Key to Abbreviations 

PCC – Peterborough City Council  

CCG – Clinical Commissioning Group 

PCVS – Peterborough  

PCH – Peterborough City Hospital  

CPFT – Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust  

23



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Ageing is a valuable, yet often challenging process, and older people make multiple vital 

contributions to local communities and society at large. To prevent ill health in later life and 

promote healthy ageing, sectors and communities need to believe that getting old should be 

celebrated, and that communities are far richer because of the value older people bring.  

Many older people will experience significant losses, whether in their physical or cognitive health, or 

through the loss of family, friends and the roles they had earlier in life. Some of these losses can be 

avoided and efforts should be made to prevent them. But other losses will be inevitable. Local 

responses to ageing should not deny these challenges but look to foster resilience, recovery and 

adaptation. 

This JSNA has focussed on the most powerful determinants or risk factors relevant to health in later 

life which include physical activity, diet, smoking, alcohol and surrounding environments. Each focus 

area has been explored across four themes: context, local data, recent evidence-base and local 

solutions and assets. The JSNA aims to present a foundation for work going forward in these areas to 

promote health for older people by establishing the current local picture, understanding what works 

regarding evidence and how we can make this happen locally in Peterborough.  

There is much to be done going forward, but it is envisaged that using the information provided in 

this piece of work will ensure a common starting point for use and collaboration across all sectors.

24



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA INTRODUCTION 

3 
 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

For the first time in history, the fastest growth in the UK's population is in the older age groups. By 

2050, one in four people will be 65 years or older. A longer life brings great opportunities. Yet, 

evidence suggests that older people are not experiencing better health than previous generations, 

and that those who have experienced disadvantage across their lifetime have a higher risk of poor 

health. While Peterborough’s older population is currently “younger” than the England average, 

anticipated changes will see the proportion of older people soon aligning with projections nationally.  

 

Age increases the risk of many health disorders and these can have significant impacts on an older 

person’s independence and ability to function day-to-day. As people age, they are more likely to 

experience multimorbidity – the presence of multiple long-term conditions at the same time. 

Multimorbidity has significant impacts in older age. As the number of chronic conditions increases, 

so does the risk of declines in capacity. However, the impact of multimorbidity on functioning in 

older age is determined not only by the number of concurrent health conditions but also by the 

particular diseases involved. Health and care responses have focussed on single conditions, without 

incorporating information on potential comorbidities and often conflicting with treatment or 

lifestyle changes for other conditions. 

The greatest disease burden in older age is due to non-communicable diseases, therefore risk factors 

for these conditions are important targets for health promotion. In particular physical activity, 

nutrition, alcohol, smoking and environments and access, have strong links with health and 

wellbeing across the life course and in later life.  

Strategies to reduce the burden of disability and mortality in older age by focussing on prevention 

and enabling healthy behaviours can therefore start early in life and should continue across the life 

course. Strategies to reduce their impact continue to be effective in older age, particularly for 

sustained physical activity, improving nutrition and stopping smoking. There is also growing evidence 

that engaging in healthy behaviours not only lowers the risk of developing long-term conditions, but 

also has powerful impacts on intrinsic capacity and resilience which are central strategies to reverse 

or delay declines in capacity, loss of independence and even conditions such as frailty. 

Healthy Ageing is relevant for everybody. It is defined as the process of developing and maintaining 

the functional ability that enables wellbeing in older age. To achieve healthy ageing the prevention 

of poor health in later life for local communities, local sectors and partners are well placed to 

support and foster resilience at a number of levels. 

 

25



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

4 
 

2. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY  

 

‘If exercise were a pill, it would be one  

of the most cost-effective drugs ever invented’1 

 

Source: Make Sport Fun 

 

2.1 KEY FINDINGS 

Physical inactivity is the fourth leading risk factor for death worldwide; the positive impacts of 

physical activity and the negative impacts of physical inactivity on the health of older adults are well 

known. 

‘How active?’ guidelines for older adults have been produced by Chief Medical Officer (CMO) which 

describe ideal levels of activity that are beneficial to health and wellbeing. In terms of how many 

older adults meet these guidelines, there is data for England available and an indication of 

participation for Peterborough.  Older adults are not a homogenous group; an interpretation of the 

CMO guidelines for three groups of older adults (‘actives’, in ‘transition’ and ‘frail’) is available. 

There is some evidence of what works; volume of activity is more important that engaging in specific 

types of activity. There is evidence of the cost effectiveness of interventions and indication of the 

cost of physical inactivity.  

Peterborough is not a blank page; assets in the community exist.  These may not be available to all, 

and sustained funding is not assured.  The local assets include older adults who are trained 

volunteers.  

 

                                                           
1  Community Links Early Action Task Force (2014). Looking forward to later life: taking an early action approach to our 

ageing society: http://www.community-links.org/earlyaction/looking-forward-to-later-life 

26

http://www.community-links.org/earlyaction/looking-forward-to-later-life
http://promotingactivity.smugmug.com/Activity/departmentofhealth/16419918_MhZpNP/58/1249656589_9pSkxjc/Medium


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

5 
 

2.2 CONTEXT: WHY IS BEING PHYSICALLY ACTIVE IN OLDER AGE IMPORTANT? 

Physical activity is a broader concept than ‘exercise’ or ‘sport’ or other terms that may be used and 

can be defined as: 

‘any body movement produced by the skeletal muscles which results in a substantial increase 

over resting energy expenditure’.2 

In comparison, physical inactivity is described as ‘doing no or very little physical activity at work, 

home, for transport or during discretionary time …. not reaching physical activity guidelines deemed 

necessary to benefit public health’.3  

Physical inactivity is the fourth leading risk factor for death worldwide.4 Furthermore, prolonged 

periods of sedentary behaviour may be adversely associated with chronic disease morbidity, 

irrespective of whether physical activity guidelines are reached5. 

Physical activity has been shown to have a positive impact on the health of older adults (65+ years).5  

The evidence suggests that: 

• Physical activity improves cardiovascular fitness, strength and physical function of older 
adults and reduces susceptibility to falls.5,6  

• Physical activity can assist in reversing the decline of physical function even in later life.5  

• Physical activity improves the psychological health of older adults such as self-esteem and 
mood.5  

• Physical activity reduces aspects of cognitive decline6 and is likely to prevent the 
development of vascular dementia.7 

• Regular physical activity is associated with the maintenance of functional activities and 
independence in later life.5 

• For older adults, the health benefits of activity far outweigh the risks.8 

• Older adults who are physically active are healthier than older adults who are physically 
inactive.9 

                                                           
2  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Physical Activity and Older Adults (65+): evidence briefing. 

Loughborough University.  See: http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-
item/313/index.html  

3  Quoted in British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Interpreting the UK physical activity guidelines for older 
adults (65+). Loughborough University.  

4  World Health Organisation (2014).  Physical Activity Fact Sheet. 
5  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Physical Activity and Older Adults (65+): evidence briefing. 

Loughborough University.  See: http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-
item/313/index.html.    

6     Department of Health (2011). Start Active, Stay Active: Chief Medical Officers Guidelines on Physical Activity.  London. 
7    Aarsland, D et al. (2010).  Is physical activity a potential preventive factor for Vascular Dementia? A systematic review.  

Ageing & Mental Health.  Vol 14, No 4, 386-395.   
8  Engaging in physical activity carries very low health and safety risks for most older adults. In contrast, the risk of poor 

health as a result of inactivity are very high. For more information see Department of Health (2011). Start Active, Stay 
Active: Chief Medical Officers Guidelines on Physical Activity.  London 

9  Hamer M., et al. (2014). ‘Taking up Physical Activity in Later Life and Healthy Ageing: the English Longitudinal study of 
Ageing’. British Journal of Sports Medicine; London. 

27

http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

6 
 

• Inactive older adults who take up physical activity in old age improve their chances of staying 
healthy compared with those who remain inactive.10 

 

2.3 DATA: WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT PHYSICAL ACTIVITY LEVELS LOCALLY?  

2.3.1. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY LEVELS: OLDER PEOPLE LIVING IN ENGLAND 

Functional capacity declines with age; strength, endurance capacity, bone density and flexibility are 

lost at about 10% per decade and muscle power is lost even faster at around 30% a decade.  

Gradually this loss in physical function will impact upon an older person’s ability to maintain an 

independent life.11 

The latest Health Survey for England12 conducted in 2012 indicated that the proportion of older 

adults nationally meeting physical activity recommendations was: 

 57% of men and 52% of women aged 65-74 years. 

 43% of men and 21% of women aged 75-84 years. 

 11% of men and 7% of women aged 85+ years. 

Walking ability further declined with age as 36% of men and 56% of women aged 85+ noted walking 

difficulties. 14% of men and 25% of women aged 65+ had a walking speed of less than 0.5 metres 

per second, slower than the required speed of 1.2 metres per second to cross at traffic lights.  

While participation in physical activity decreases throughout later life among both men and women, 

the British Heart Foundation National Research Centre 2012 report found that men still remain more 

active than women.13   

2.3.2. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY LEVELS: OLDER PEOPLE LIVING IN PETERBOROUGH14 

The level of physical activity in older people living in Peterborough is currently challenging to 

identify.  The only regular survey of physical activity related participation is the Active People 

Survey.14 This survey measures participation in sport and as active recreation and includes activities 

such as recreational and 'sport' walking as well as activities considered 'moderate intensity' for this 

age group such as cycling, bowls, archery, yoga, pilates, and croquet. The indicator does not include 

activity related to travel such as walking to work or physical activity while at work. Levels of 

                                                           
10    NICE (2014). Eyes on Evidence: Physical activity in older people and healthy ageing.  
11  Skelton, D. A., Young, A., Walker, A. and Hoinville, E. (1999) Physical activity in later life: Further analysis of the Allied 

Dunbar National Fitness Survey and the Health Education Authority National Survey of Activity and Health. London: 
H.E.A. 

12  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2014): Current levels of physical activity in older adults. Loughborough 
University. 

13  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Physical Activity and Older Adults (65+): evidence briefing. 
Loughborough University.  See: http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-
item/313/index.html.    

14   Sport England (2016). Active People Interactive: Adult Participation in sport and active recreation (NI8): October 2014 – 
September   2016 (APS9 and 10). Available at: http://activepeople.sportengland.org/ 

28

http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://activepeople.sportengland.org/


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

7 
 

participation in sport/recreation could be considered as ‘indicative’ of physical activity levels in 

Peterborough. 

The Active People Survey14 indicates that 11.9% of older Peterborough residents (aged 55+ years) 

report participating in sport/active recreation of at least moderate intensity for 30 minutes on at 

least 12 days out of the last four weeks (equivalent to 30 minutes on three or more days a week) 

(Figure 1). Of the 14 local authorities with a similar socio-economic profile, Peterborough has the 8th 

highest participation levels. 

 

A comparison of local participation rates against national participation rates, analysed by age (55-64 

year olds and 65+ years), shows Peterborough’s participation rate for 55-64 year olds in 2009/10 was 

35.0% and this is higher than any observed national participation rate over the period 2005/06 and 

2015/1614 (Figure 2). Peterborough also has above average participation rates for the 65+ age group 

for 2015/16 (26.5% participation rate in Peterborough compared to 18.3% in England in 2015/16) 

(Figure 2). It should be noted that these data are based on results from the Active People’s Survey, 

which targets only a small proportion (approximately 500 people within the 55+ age group) of the 

total population and therefore caution should be exercised in applying these results to the wider 

population.    

 

The Active People Survey also measures zero participation in any sessions of sport. The data shows 

that zero participation rates in Peterborough in the 65+ age band decreased between 2010/2011 

and 2015/16 but an increase was observed in the same time period in the 55-64 age band15 (Figure 

3).  Zero participation in any sessions of sport in Peterborough was lower than the England average 

in people aged 65+ in 2012/13 and 2015/16 and lower than the England average in people aged 55-

64 in 2013/14. 

 

  

                                                           
15  Sport England (2016). Active People Interactive: Sports Participation: No Sport: October 2014 – September 2016 (APS9 

and 10). Available at: http://activepeople.sportengland.org/ 
 

29

http://activepeople.sportengland.org/


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

8 
 

Figure 1: Participation in sport and active recreation 

 
 

Figure 1 shows the percentage of Peterborough residents who self-report participating in sport/active recreation of at least moderate intensity for 30 minutes on at least 

12 days out of the last 4 weeks when questioned between October 2014 and September 2016.  

Source: Active People Survey, Sport England  

9.7% 10.0% 10.1% 10.3% 10.7%
11.4%

11.9% 12.2%
13.3% 13.4%

14.6% 14.7%
15.6%

16.6%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

R
o

ch
d

al
e

O
ld

h
am

C
o

ve
n

tr
y

Th
u

rr
o

ck
 U

A

M
ed

w
ay

 U
A

D
er

b
y 

U
A

P
et

e
rb

o
ro

u
gh

 U
A

Te
lf

o
rd

 a
n

d
 W

re
ki

n
 U

A

Sw
in

d
o

n
 U

A

Lu
to

n
 U

A

B
ed

fo
rd

B
u

ry

C
al

d
er

d
al

e

St
o

ck
to

n
-o

n
-T

e
es

 U
A

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Local Authority

Partipation in sport and active recreation, at moderate intensity, for at least 30 mins on at least 12 days out of the last 4
weeks, aged 55+ years Oct 2014 - Sep 2016

30



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

9 
 

Figure 2: Trends in participation in sport and active recreation 

 

Figure 2 compares Peterborough to England in regards to participation in sports at least once per week, for at least 30 minutes, in the last 28 days from when the question 

was asked among people aged 55 years or older. Data are only available for Peterborough for 2005/06 and 2009/10 among 55-64 year olds, and available for 2005/06, 

2012/13 and 2015/16 for 65+, due to an insufficient sample size being gathered in other years.  

Source: Active People Survey, Sport England. 

21.6%

35.0%

14.0%

26.3% 26.5%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

2
0

0
5

/0
6

 (
A

P
S1

)

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 (
A

P
S2

)

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
A

P
S3

)

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 (
A

P
S4

)

2
0

1
0

/1
1

 (
A

P
S5

)

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 (
A

P
S6

)

2
0

1
2

/1
3

 (
A

P
S7

)

2
0

1
3

/1
4

 (
A

P
S8

)

2
0

1
4

/1
5

 (
A

P
S9

)

2
0

1
5

/1
6

 (
A

P
S1

0
)

2
0

0
5

/0
6

 (
A

P
S1

)

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 (
A

P
S2

)

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 (
A

P
S3

)

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 (
A

P
S4

)

2
0

1
0

/1
1

 (
A

P
S5

)

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 (
A

P
S6

)

2
0

1
2

/1
3

 (
A

P
S7

)

2
0

1
3

/1
4

 (
A

P
S8

)

2
0

1
4

/1
5

 (
A

P
S9

)

2
0

1
5

/1
6

 (
A

P
S1

0
)

55-64 years 65+ years

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Age Band and time period

Participation in sports at least once per week, for at least 30 minutes, in the last 28 days among people aged 55+ 
years

England Peterborough

31



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
 

10 
 

Figure 3: Zero participation in sport by age bands 55-64 years and 65+ years 

 

Figure 3 shows self-reported zero participation in any sessions of sport, at any intensity or for any duration, in the last 28 days for people 65+ years living in 

Peterborough and its Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) nearest neighbours 2015-16).  

Source: Active People Survey, Sport England  

32



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

11 
 

2.4 EVIDENCE BASE: WHAT WORKS? WHAT IS RECOMMENDED?  

2.4.1 FACTORS INFLUENCING PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN OLDER ADULTS:  

Evidence summarised in British Heart Foundation briefing (2012)16 notes that physical activity is a 

complex behaviour in older adults which is influenced by a wide range of factors. Older adults face a 

number of internal and environmental barriers to becoming and remaining active.  

These factors operate at individual, social and environmental levels. Some may be modifiable, for 

example, social support or attitudes.  Others are fixed, such as sex or ethnicity. Understanding these 

factors is important for considering local opportunities to enable older people to be more active 

including providing support, local networks and information and advice. 

Biological and demographic factors: 

• Men tend to be more active than women. 
• As age increases physical activity participation decreases. 
• The decline in physical activity participation with age is higher among: 

o minority ethnic groups; 
o those from lower socio-economic backgrounds; 
o those who have lower levels of educational attainment. 

• People living alone are more likely to have lower physical activity levels than their married 
peers. 

Psychological factors: 

• Physical activity participation is positively affected by an older adult’s: 
o belief in their ability to be active; 
o confidence in their physical abilities; 
o perceptions of risk; 
o general beliefs, attitudes and values. 

 
• Physical activity participation is negatively affected by: 

o fear of falling or over exertion; 
o concern for personal safety during the activity. 

Social factors: 

• Mutual trust, shared values and feelings of community among neighbours are linked to 
increased physical activity levels. 

• Physical activity participation is influenced by ‘significant others’ such as health 
professionals, physical activity instructors, care givers, family and friends. Opinions and 
support given from these ‘significant others’ can have both a positive and negative affect on 
physical activity participation. 

 

 

                                                           
16  British Heart Foundation (2012).  Factors influencing physical activity in older adults.  BHF National Centre, 

Loughborough University.   

33



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

12 
 

Environmental factors: 

• Older adults are more likely than other age groups to not go out or participate in an activity, 
eg walking to the shops, for fear of crime. 

• Pedestrians are most likely to be victims of a road traffic accident, and many older adults are 
unable to cross a road within the allotted a time of a traffic light controlled crossing. 

• A lack of transport is frequently cited by older adults as a reason they are unable to take part 
in activities. 

• Older adults have reported that having somewhere interesting to go motivates them to walk 
more. 

• A lack of suitable opportunities and settings for physical activity is often reported by this age 
group. 

2.4.2 OLDER ADULTS: HOW ACTIVE FOR HEALTH BENEFIT? 

In 2011, the four Chief Medical Officers (CMO) of England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, 

drew on global evidence for the health benefits people can achieve by taking regular physical activity 

throughout their lives.17 

For the first time, guidelines for older adults were included (Table 1) and drew upon an evidence 

base of prospective cohort studies and experimental research. These guidelines are still current.  

Table 1: CMO Guidelines for Older Adults 

Guideline 

 Older adults who participate in any amount of physical activity gain some health 
benefits, including maintenance of good physical and cognitive function. Some 
physical activity is better than none, and more physical activity provides greater 
health benefits. 

 Older adults should aim to be active daily. Over a week, activity should add up to at 
least 150 minutes (2½ hours) of moderate intensity activity in bouts of 10 minutes or 
more – one way to approach this is to do 30 minutes on at least five days a week. 

 For those who are already regularly active at moderate intensity, comparable benefits 
can be achieved through 75 minutes of vigorous intensity activity spread across the 
week or a combination of moderate and vigorous activity. 

 Older adults should also undertake physical activity to improve muscle strength on at 
least two days a week. 

 Older adults at risk of falls should incorporate physical activity to improve balance and 
co-ordination on at least two days a week. 

 All older adults should minimise the amount of time spent being sedentary (sitting) 
for extended periods. 

  

                                                           
17  Department of Health (2011). Start Active, Stay Active: Chief Medical Officers Guidelines on Physical Activity.  London. 

34



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

13 
 

Although these guidelines relate to all older adults, older adults are not a homogeneous group.  The 

age range is 40 years and chronological age may not always be helpful when describing differences 

in health, physical function and disease status.  As the British Heart Foundation indicates,18 many 

people in their late 80s do as well as those in their 60s; some in their early 70s have a functional 

status more expected of a 90 year old.   

The British Heart Foundation has produced a series of guidance documents for professionals working 

with older adults who are: 

 Active. 

 In transition. 

 Frail. 

These guidance documents are listed below in Table 6 for those interested in understanding how the 

CMO guidelines can be applied to the three groups of older adults, each of which have differing 

functional status and physical activity need.   

Table 2: Applying CMO guidelines for older adults 

Group British Heart Foundation guidance documents 

The ‘actives’ – those who are already active, 

either through daily walking, an active job 

and/or engaging in regular recreational or 

sporting activity. 

Even though this group is described in the CMO 

report as being active, surveys indicate low levels 

of physical activity among older adults of all ages.  

Evidence suggests that even among active older 

adults, many may also be spending prolonged 

periods of time being sedentary. 

See BHF guidance for those who work with older 

adults described as actives19 

Those in transition – those whose physical 

function is declining due to low levels of 

activity, too much sedentary time, who may 

have lost muscle strength and balance, 

and/or are overweight but otherwise remain 

reasonably healthy. 

National data indicate that this makes up the 

largest proportion of older adults and that they 

have a great deal to gain in terms of reversing loss 

of function and preventing disease.  

See BHF Briefing for Older Adults in Transition20 

                                                           
18  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Older Adults in Transition.  BHF National Centre, Loughborough 

University. 
19  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012): Interpreting the UK physical activity guidelines for older adults (65+).  

Loughborough University.  http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-
item/39/428/index.html 

20  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012): Older Adults in Transition.  Loughborough University. 
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-item/39/429/index.html 

35

http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-item/39/428/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-item/39/428/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-item/39/429/index.html


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

14 
 

Frailer, older people – those who are frail or 

have very low physical or cognitive function, 

perhaps as a result of chronic disease such 

as arthritis, dementia or very older age. 

This group may require a therapeutic approach eg 

falls prevention, and many will be in residential 

care. 

See BHF Briefing for Frailer, Older People21           

Source: British Hearth Foundation, 2012   

 

 

Source: Make Sport Fun 

 

2.4.3 EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVENESS – WHAT WORKS?    

As indicated in the CMO guidelines, evidence suggests that it is the ‘overall volume of activity that is 

key to the beneficial effects of physical activity rather than specific types of activity or 

combinations of intensity or frequency.  Accordingly, older adults should aim to achieve the 

recommended amount of activity in a manner that is most convenient and comfortable for them’. 

Evidence-based action is required at a range of levels to increase physical activity and reduce 

prolonged periods of sedentary behaviour amongst older adults.22 There is increasing evidence to 

demonstrate what is required from an intervention to successfully increase physical activity amongst 

older adults.  

                                                           
21  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012). Interpreting the UK physical activity guidelines for frailer, older 

people.  Loughborough University.  http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-
item/39/430/index.html 

22  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Physical Activity and Older Adults (65+): evidence briefing. 
Loughborough University.  See: http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-
item/313/index.html   

36

http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-item/39/430/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/older-adults-resources-and-publications-item/39/430/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://promotingactivity.smugmug.com/Activity/departmentofhealth/16419918_MhZpNP/2/1239939133_LzCSng7/Large


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

15 
 

The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) found evidence that: 

 A supportive built environment was important in encouraging activity across all age groups, 
including older people.  Recommendations included involving the local community and 
experts in the development of policies and plans, the prioritisation of the need to be active 
for all (including those with impaired mobility) and access to safe, attractive and welcoming 
public open spaces on foot.23  

 Relevant policies and plans being developed by agencies with an interest in health and 
wellbeing should consider the promotion of walking and cycling for a range of groups, 
including older adults.24 

 A review of occupational therapy and physical activity interventions to promote the mental 
health and well-being of older people in primary and residential care was undertaken on 
behalf of NICE in 2008. Reviews of the evidence for this guideline in 2011 and 2015 confirmed 
that no new evidence had been identified that would change the recommendations. The 
guideline recommends that physical activity interventions should be encouraged and 
developed in collaboration with older people (and their carers); a range of moderate intensity 
activities, strength training and toning and stretching exercises should be included, reflecting 
the needs and preferences of the participants.  This guidance emphasised the value of 
promoting physical activity and physical health for mental health outcomes.25 

In addition:  

• Systematic review evidence26 supports older people’s physical activity programmes which 
are of a longer duration (18 months), either group/class or home-based activity, tailored to 
individual needs with choices which are accessible and include cognitive-behavioural 
strategies and goal setting along with telephone support and continued contact.  

• A meta-analysis has corroborated previous research findings indicating that physical activity 
interventions in older people living in the community are effective.27 The review provides 
further evidence on the elements of effective physical activity interventions for older people 
and these include: the design of interventions based on behaviour change theories; 
interventions using a combination of cognitive (eg education, counselling) and behaviour 
change strategies (self-monitoring, goal setting); the use of audio-visual materials such as 
discs of exercise instruction; and the use of mailed out materials such as newsletters with 
pictorial and descriptive examples of exercises. The study indicates interventions were 
similarly effective regardless of the type of person delivering the intervention or the 
intervention setting. Therefore, interventions delivered by lay people and diverse range of 
health professionals in a range of settings including at home, in the community or in the 
clinics, are all similarly effective. 

• A study published in 2010 investigated the processes associated with participation and 
adherence to a 12-month physical activity programme for older people aged 70 years and 
over.  Their findings suggest that a locally-run programme that provides individual tailoring, 
creates a sense of ownership, delivers meaningful benefits, and provides opportunities for 

                                                           
23  National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2008).  Promoting and creating built or natural environments that 

encourage and support physical activity.  London 
24  National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2012).  Promoting walking and cycling.  London. 
25  National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2008).  Occupational Therapy interventions and physical activity 

interventions to promote the mental wellbeing of older people in primary care and residential care.  London 
26  King et al (1998).  Physical activity interventions targeting older adults.  A critical review and recommendations.  

Am J Prevent Med, 15(4), 316-333. 
27  Chase J.D. (2015). Interventions to increase physical activity among older adults: a meta-analysis. Gerontologist, 55 

(4): 706-718. Available at: https://academic.oup.com/gerontologist/article/55/4/706/580670/Interventions- to-
Increase-Physical-Activity-Among 

37

https://academic.oup.com/gerontologist/article/55/4/706/580670/Interventions-%09to-Increase-Physical-Activity-Among
https://academic.oup.com/gerontologist/article/55/4/706/580670/Interventions-%09to-Increase-Physical-Activity-Among


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

16 
 

inter-generational support and new social groups to form all facilitate engagement in 
physical activity in later life.28  

• A further example, the Community Health and Mentoring Programme for Seniors 
(CHAMPS),29 identified the following successful strategies to encourage people living in 
supported residential housing and those who use community centres aged 62-91 years of 
age to increase their activity levels: the use of other older adults as motivators and 
counsellors, accessible local activity classes for older adults generally and also for specific 
groups (eg those with arthritis) providing participants with educational materials with 
information, support and skills training to overcome barriers and increase their physical 
activity levels.  

• Tailored specific activities that promote improved strength, coordination and balance are 
particularly beneficial for older people as they are effective in reducing the incidence of falls 
and for tasks of daily living such as walking or getting up from a chair.  (See JSNA: Older 
People and the Prevention of Ill-Health (2013): Falls).30  

• A recent cluster randomised controlled trial has reported that a group exercise programme 
was more effective at supporting older people 65+ living in the community to achieve 150 
minutes of physical activity per week than a home exercise programme. The group exercise 
programme (Falls Management Exercise – FaME) comprised group exercise classes once a 
week run by trained postural stability instructors combined with exercises at home twice a 
week, in comparison with the home exercise programme (the Otago Exercise Programme) 
which comprised exercises at home at a frequency of three times a week combined with 
support from volunteer peer mentors.31 

The British Heart Foundation acknowledges that more research is still necessary to identify 

interventions to increase physical activity, decrease morbidity and all-cause mortality in older adults.  

However, it is recommended that agencies work with both providers and older adults to offer 

tailored programmes which reflect the preferences of older adults.  Common features found in 

successful physical activity interventions in older adults include.32 

 Educational components where participants were given information and counselling by 
health professionals on physical activity and health and encouraged to engage in regular 
physical activity. 

 A cyclical design which includes continuous reviews of participant progress towards goals 
throughout the intervention and provides on-going support and encouragement. 

 Use of behaviour change model and intrinsic motivation. 

 Cognitive behavioural strategies (including self-monitoring and goal setting). 

 Assessment and negotiation of social and environmental barriers to physical activity. 

                                                           
28  Stathi A, Mckenna J and Fox KR (2010) Processes associated with participation and adherence to a 12-month exercise 

programme for adults aged 70 and older. Journal of Health Psychology, 15(6), 838-847 
29  Stewart et al (1994 onwards).  A range of publications in relation to the USA Community Health and Mentoring 

Programme for Seniors (CHAMPS).  University of California, San Francisco. 
30  Cambridgeshire Insight (2013): Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – Older People and the Prevention of Ill-Health.  Falls 

– see page 32:  http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-
reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013 

31    NICE (2015). Eyes on the evidence: Improving physical activity among older people in the community. Available at:    
https://www.evidence.nhs.uk/ [Accessed 21st March 2017] 

32  British Heart Foundation National Centre (2012).  Physical Activity and Older Adults (65+): evidence briefing. 
Loughborough University.  See: http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-
item/313/index.html.    

38

http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
https://www.evidence.nhs.uk/
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html
http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/homepage-resources-and-publications-item/313/index.html


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

17 
 

 The use of support strategies (including telephone, home visits and peer support). 

 In the short, the (12 months) participation in group-based physical activity appears to be 
effective, although longer term adherence to physical activity programmes is superior in 
home-base programmes. 

The ‘Move More’ report33 produced by MacMillan Cancer Support provides the basis for advice and 

guidance on physical activity to those living with cancer. 

 

 

Source: Make Sport Fun 

 

2.4.4 COST EFFECTIVENESS AND THE COST OF PHYSICAL INACTIVITY 

NICE34 established that brief interventions for physical activity (when compared with no 

intervention) cost between £20 and £440 per quality adjusted life year (QALY).  The Department of 

Health economic analysis of a physical activity related brief intervention35 includes a projected 

lifetime QALY gain of between £91 and £288 depending on whether the brief intervention is 

delivered by a GP, practice nurse or health care assistant.  

                                                           
33  MacMillan Cancer Support.  Move More – see: 

http://www.macmillan.org.uk/Cancerinformation/Livingwithandaftercancer/Physicalactivity/Physicalactivity.aspx 
34  National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2006). Four commonly used methods to increase physical activity: 

brief interventions in primary care, exercise referral schemes, pedometers and community-based exercise programmes 
for walking and cycling.  London. 

35  Department of Health (2009).  Let’s Get Moving: Commissioning Guidance: Annex 2. London. 

39

http://www.macmillan.org.uk/Cancerinformation/Livingwithandaftercancer/Physicalactivity/Physicalactivity.aspx
http://promotingactivity.smugmug.com/Activity/departmentofhealth/16419918_MhZpNP/3/1240036919_qF4Q2Q3/Large


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

18 
 

In addition to these potential savings attributed to physical activity across all adults, cost savings 

ascribed specifically to older people include falls prevention, fracture prevention services and 

walking for health within which older people are one of the target participant groups.  

The Walking for Health scheme has been shown to give a cost-benefit ratio (1: 7.18). Although 

limited by some unavailable data, more than £7 of life-cost (the amount the NHS saves by not having 

to treat illness) is averted against £1 invested.  It has also been estimated that in England, if a group 

of 120 healthy individuals aged over 60 years started to walk two miles per day, then over 10 years 

there would be approximately seven less heart attacks, three less strokes, two less new diabetics, 13 

less people with some disability from osteoarthritis of the knee and 20 less deaths; two lives are 

saved per year.  

The evidence of cost effectiveness for falls prevention work is in the chapter on Falls within the 

Prevention of Ill-health in Older People JSNA (2013).36 

 

Source: Forever Active, Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire 

 

2.5 LOCAL ACTION: WHAT ARE OUR LOCAL ASSETS?  

This list of assets offers some examples of the programmes and resources available in Peterborough 

to promote physical activity to older adults.  These programmes may not be available to all older 

adults and because of competing demands on statutory budgets, sustained funding is not assured. 

 Formal and informal group led walking programmes are available to older adults and these 
include the Walking for Health Programme delivered by Vivacity37 as well as other walks 
delivered by the Ramblers,38 University of the Third Age,39 and Inspire.40 Self-referrals are 
accepted. 
 

                                                           
36  http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-

older-people-2013 
37   https://www.walkingforhealth.org.uk/walkfinder/peterborough-walking-for-health 
38    http://www.ramblers.org.uk/peterborough 
39    http://www.peterboroughu3a.org.uk/activities/category/4 
40    http://www.inspirepeterborough.com/walks-on-wednesdays/ 
 

40

http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
https://www.walkingforhealth.org.uk/walkfinder/peterborough-walking-for-health
http://www.ramblers.org.uk/peterborough
http://www.peterboroughu3a.org.uk/activities/category/4
http://www.inspirepeterborough.com/walks-on-wednesdays/


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

19 
 

 A few programmes dedicated to promoting physical activity in older people have been 
identified such as a walking football for men over 50,‘Young at heart’ fitness classes, short 
tennis, rowing and bowls. There may be additional activities. A mapping exercise is currently 
being undertaken by Living Sport and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Public Health 
Directorate to identify physical activity/sports opportunities for adults and older people and 
a new initiative ‘Let’s Get Moving’, to be coordinated by Living Sport from spring 2017, will 
contribute to the ongoing research/insight.  
 

 It is recognised that there are a number of other programmes / classes in the area, which are 
open and accessible to all adult including older people, dependent upon their fitness levels 
eg jogging clubs.  
 

 An evidence based exercise referral scheme delivered by Vivacity is available for adults of all 
ages with certain clinical conditions.41 It is predominantly used by older people. Self-referrals 
are accepted. 
 

 Condition specific rehabilitation programme for adults with clinical conditions are available 
from Vivacity. Again, these are predominantly used by older people. Self-referrals accepted. 
 

 The Let’s Get Moving health and wellbeing service is available for all adults 16-74 years old.42 
The behaviour change programme is designed to assist adults to become more active and is 
delivered through primary care. A referral is required. 
 

 Peterborough NHS Health Checks are statistically significantly better than England for a 
number of indicators, including numbers of people invited for NHS health checks and the 
number of health checks delivered. 
 

 The ‘Healthy Peterborough’ website provides information on healthy lifestyles including 
recommendations on physical activity for older people.43 
 

 Local libraries deliver the ‘Books on prescription’ scheme for mild to moderate mental health 
conditions and physical activity is highlighted in a number of the self-help books as a 
technique for managing these conditions. 
 

 Older people have volunteered to be trained to support the delivery of local physical activity 
programmes such as Health Walks, Exercise Referral Scheme and Stroke Rehabilitation 
Programmes.  Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sports Partnership, Living Sport,44 provides 
information about volunteering opportunities related to physical activity. 
 

 Commissioners and practitioners have access to a strengthening evidence base from a range 
of academic institutions; locally these include the Institute of Public Health (Ageing Well 
Programme) and the Centre for Diet and Activity Research. 
 

 

                                                           
41   https://www.vivacity-peterborough.com/sport/heath-and-wellbeing/health-referral-options/ 
42    http://letsgetmoving.org.uk/what-is-lgm/ 
43   http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/june-2016/physical-activity/physical-activity 
44  Living Sport: http://www.livingsport.co.uk/  

41

https://www.vivacity-peterborough.com/sport/heath-and-wellbeing/health-referral-options/
http://letsgetmoving.org.uk/what-is-lgm/
http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/june-2016/physical-activity/physical-activity
http://www.livingsport.co.uk/


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 

20 
 

2.6 FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES 

Opportunities to enhance the physical activity levels of older adults in Peterborough were explored 

with local stakeholders and their suggestions included:  

 Utilising, supporting and improving initiatives, programmes and assets already established in 
Peterborough such as Healthy Peterborough campaigns, Vivacity; ‘making every contact 
count’; maximising the use of the great outdoor spaces in Peterborough; and the use of 
communal rooms in organisations like Cross Keys to deliver information and/or exercise 
groups to older people. 
 

 Improving the offer of physical activities for ethnic groups who may be unaware of local 
opportunities and do not feel they can engage. 
 

 Exploring the implementation of good practice from other areas of the United Kingdom for 
example the free gym pass pilot in Birmingham which claimed a saving of £6 for every £1 
invested. 
 

 Identifying opportunities to provide more detailed instruction and advice on physical activity 
to older adults such as during health checks.  
 

 Displaying information on public signage indicating the number of minutes and calories 
utilised by walking to specific destinations.   
 

 Making the most of the opportunity to commission/amend/roll out physical activity related 
assets through the implementation of ‘Solutions4Health’ which has been commissioned to 
take over Peterborough's Public Health delivery from April 2017. Examples of this include 
consideration being given to the commissioning of specialist health trainers to advise older 
people, and 'wellness coaches' to deliver joined up help across pathways to avoid the need 
for an individual to see multiple lifestyle specialists. 
 

 Development of a programme for older people/healthy ageing to replicate the Peterborough 
Public Health 'youth health champions'. 
 

 A better falls prevention programme including the provision of strength and balance 
exercises classes in the community. 

 

 

 

 

42



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

21 
 

3. DIET  

3.1 KEY FINDINGS  

Dietary factors contribute significantly to the global burden of disease.  Dietary improvements made 

in older age significantly reduce the risk of chronic diseases.  

There is very limited information about the healthiness of the food consumed in Peterborough.  

Nationally, less than a third of older adults consume five portions of fruits and vegetables daily. In 

addition, older adults consume low levels of fibre, oily fish, and vitamin D relative to 

recommendations.  

The evidence on primary prevention of cancer, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes draws from the 

all adult population; research for older adults focusses on bone health and preventing cognitive 

decline.  Population approaches to improving nutritional status include taking opportunities at all 

ages to prevent the development of chronic disease, and supporting behaviour change for healthier 

diet and healthy ageing.  Weight management interventions (12 weeks with >1kg lost and 

maintained for life) can be more cost effective for older adults because older people gain health 

benefits sooner. 

Daily vitamin D supplementation is recommended by the Department of Health for all adults aged 

65 years and over.  It is not known how far this is practiced locally. NICE Public Health guidance 

(PH56) published in November 2014 provides guidance on approaches to increase Vitamin D 

supplement use in at-risk groups including older people.   

Local assets include lifestyle support services accessed by older adults, and practical advice and 

support through social care and voluntary sector organisations.  There may be opportunities to look 

at enhancing messaging about a healthy balanced diet for older adults through local services, 

stakeholders, health and social care professionals, and to consider the healthiness of the food 

offered in residential and social settings. 

3.2 CONTEXT: WHY IS DIET IMPORTANT? 

3.2.1 DIET AND NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASE 

There is strong and well documented evidence for the association between dietary factors and non-

communicable diseases. The Global Burden of Disease project identified the 20 leading risk factors 

for ill-health and measured the relative burden of each risk factor on disease using disability-

adjusted life years (DALY) (Figure 4). Of the 20 leading risk factors for ill-health, nine are directly diet-

related and many others have a dietary association eg high blood pressure, high body-mass index (ie 

overweight/obesity), high total cholesterol and high fasting plasma glucose. 

The global burden of disease analysis is measured across all ages in the population.  The higher 

incidence of chronic disease in individuals aged 65 and over, however, may be a reflection of 

accumulated risk where lifestyle behaviours throughout life have led to exposure and increased risk 

43



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

22 
 

which have manifest in poor health outcomes.  A key message promoted by the WHO is that dietary 

changes in later life are still advantageous to health:   

“Dietary changes seem to affect risk-factor levels throughout life and may have an even greater impact in older 

people.  Relatively modest reductions in saturated fat and salt intake, which would reduce blood pressure and 

cholesterol concentrations, could have a substantial effect on reducing the burden of cardiovascular disease. 

Increasing consumption of fruit and vegetables by one to two servings daily could cut cardiovascular risk by 

30%.” 

44



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

23 
 

Figure 4: Burden of disease attributable to 20 leading risk factors for both sexes in 2010, as a percentage of UK Disability Adjusted Life Years 

 

 

Source: Living Well for Longer 201445  

                                                           
45  Living Well for Longer: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/helping-people-live-well-for-longer ; Figure in Living Well for Longer was reproduced from Murray et al (2013) “UK 

health performance: findings of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010”. The Lancet; 381:9871, 997-1020.    

45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/helping-people-live-well-for-longer


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

24 
 

Figure 5: Causal web for risk factors and disease events implemented in the chronic disease prevention 
model 

Source: Adapted from Cecchini et al 201046  

 

A further diet-affected degenerative disease is osteoporosis.  Osteoporosis is particularly relevant as 

women make up a larger percentage of the older people population and are particularly at risk due 

to accelerated bone loss post-menopause: 80% of hip fractures occur in women.47  As noted in NICE 

clinical guidance 146, ‘as the longevity of the population increases, so will the incidence of 

osteoporosis and fragility fracture’.48   

  

                                                           
46  Cecchini, M. et al. (2010) ‘Tackling of unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, and obesity: health effects and cost-

effectiveness’ The Lancet, 376:1775-85  
47  World Health Organisation website content on ‘Nutrition for older persons, Ageing and nutrition: a growing global 

challenge’. Available at:  http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/ageing/en/ 
48  NICE (2012). Osteoporosis: Assessing the risk of fragility fracture. Available at: 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg146  

46

http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/ageing/en/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg146


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

25 
 

3.2.2 DIET AND OLDER PEOPLE 

Good nutrition throughout the life course is essential for health and wellbeing.  While there are 

specific changes and factors associated with the dietary intake of older people, many of the healthy 

or unhealthy habits that tend to continue through life are established in adolescence.49   

There are particular dietary-related considerations for older adults: an on-going healthy diet to 

support active and healthy ageing; for the prevention of nutrition-related chronic disease; for the 

maintenance of functional capacity; and for the social and emotional benefits of meals consumed 

and shared.  

At population level, older adults may present a double burden of nutrition-related concerns: 

1) Undernutrition or malnutrition, associated with frailty. 

2) Poor nutrition, overconsumption and being overweight which is associated with chronic diseases 
such as Type 2 diabetes. 

A primary prevention approach requires recognition of both these risks, and offers opportunities for 

interventions at different stages in the life course to promote and support a healthy diet to ensure 

healthy ageing across the population.  A detailed consideration of malnutrition in older people is 

included in the Malnutrition chapter.   

3.2.3 DIETARY ADVICE FOR OLDER ADULTS  

There is evidence to suggest that older adults have lower levels of knowledge about nutrition 

messages relative to the general adult population.50  National guidance on nutrition requirements of 

the older adult has not been published, although a range of resources are available including the 

Caroline Walker Trust 2004 guide ‘Eating Well for Older People’,51 and 2002 WHO guidance ‘Keep Fit 

for Life: Meeting the Nutritional Needs of Older Persons’.52  

By and large the nutritional requirements for older adults are the same as those for the rest of the 

adult population; energy requirements are generally lower while vitamin and mineral requirements 

remain similar, therefore the nutrient density of the diet is of high importance.  

The NHS Livewell website highlights the following key issues for those 60 years and over: 

 A healthy, balanced diet 

 Plenty of foods rich in starch and fibre 

 Iron-rich foods 

 Calcium-rich foods 

 Less salt 

 Enough vitamin D 

                                                           
49  Joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation on Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases (2002 : Geneva, 

Switzerland) WHO technical report series; 916 
50  Parmenter K, Waller J, Wardle J.(2000) 'Demographic variation in nutrition knowledge in England'. Health Educ. Res.;15 

(2): 163-174. 
51  http://www.cwt.org.uk/pdfs/OlderPeople.pdf 
52  http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/9241562102.pdf 

47

http://www.nhs.uk/livewell/over60s/pages/nutritionover60.aspx
http://www.cwt.org.uk/pdfs/OlderPeople.pdf
http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/9241562102.pdf


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

26 
 

 Vitamin A 

 Keeping healthy 

 Stay a healthy weight 

 Watch out for a lack of appetite 

 Don’t get thirsty 

Further information for professionals and the public can be found on the British Nutrition 

Foundation website.  

 

3.3 DATA: WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT LOCAL DIETARY INTAKE?   

3.3.1 LEVELS OF FRUIT AND VEGETABLE INTAKE 

Public Health guidance advocates eating ‘five a day’ across the life course. Local level data to 

indicate consumption levels of fruit and vegetables in older adults is not available. However, data is 

available to indicate consumption levels in all adults in Peterborough. Data shows Peterborough to 

have a statistically significantly low percentage of adults meeting the recommended ‘5 a day’ 

consumption of fruit and vegetables on a ‘usual’ day (48.0% compared to 52.3% in England) and also 

a statistically significantly low average number of portions of vegetables consumed per day (2.13 

compared to 2.27 in England)(Figure 6). With regards to average portions of fruit consumed per day, 

Peterborough is statistically similar to England. 

Figure 6: Peterborough & Nearest CIPFA Neighbours – Fruit & Vegetable Consumption 

 
 

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-

framework#page/0/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/nn/nn-1-E06000031 

 

48

http://www.nutrition.org.uk/nutritionscience/life/older-adults
http://www.nutrition.org.uk/nutritionscience/life/older-adults
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/nn/nn-1-E06000031
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/nn/nn-1-E06000031


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

27 
 

Data capturing fruit and vegetable consumption in older adults is available at a national level from 

the 2015 Health Survey for England (Figure 7). The data shows that a majority of older adults 65+ 

years in England consume three portions or more of fruit and vegetables daily (Figure 8) and only a 

very small proportion of older adults do not consume any portions. Amongst the population aged 65 

to 74 years, 30% of men and 30% of women report consuming five or more portions of fruit and 

vegetables daily (Figure 8).  This decreases slightly to 26% of men and 24% of women in the 

population aged 75+ years.  

Figure 7: Portions of fruit and vegetables consumed by the older population 

 

Source: Health Survey for England, 2015   

 

  

49



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

28 
 

Figure 8: Consumption of 5+ portions of fruit and vegetables by age group  

 

Source: Health Survey for England, 2015 

 

3.3.2 OTHER FOOD CONSUMPTION PATTERNS 

The most recent data from the UK National Data and Nutrition Survey published in 2016 provides 

insight into the eating patterns of those aged 65 years and over, combined across all four UK 

countries (the data is not Peterborough specific).53 The main findings from 2012/13-2013/14 (two 

years of data combined) were: 

1. Low intake of oily fish  

Mean consumption of oily fish was below the recommended one portion (140g) per week at 87.5g 

per week (91g for men and 84g for women). There is no evidence in change of consumption over 

time. 

2. Low intake of dietary fibre  

The Dietary Reference Value for intake of non-starch polysaccharide (NSP) is at least 18g per day.  

Mean intake was 13.4g per day, mainly from ‘cereals and cereal products’ and ‘vegetables and 

potatoes’.  

 

 

                                                           
53  Public Health England (2016). National Diet and Nutrition Survey. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-diet-and-nutrition-survey  

50

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-diet-and-nutrition-survey


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

29 
 

3. Low vitamin D status 

Mean daily intake of vitamin D from food sources alone was well below the Reference Nutrient 

Intake (RNI) for older adults aged 65+ years. The survey showed that the average daily intake for 

older adults 65+ was 33% of the RNI level set for this age group. 

3.3.3 OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY  

The body mass index (BMI) is a widely used metric for identifying levels of overweight and obesity 

throughout the population.  There are caveats in its use with older people as the thresholds of risk 

may differ. The relationship between BMI and mortality is U-shaped in older people, with a higher 

risk of mortality at lower BMIs in the Malnutrition chapter and at higher BMIs. A recent meta-

analysis found that being overweight was not associated with an increased risk of all-cause mortality 

in populations aged 65 years and older, although the risk of mortality increased at BMIs of 33 and 

above.54  Other data has indicated that women with high body mass index are protected from 

osteoporosis, although there are conflicting results, and increasing evidence suggests obesity may 

interfere with bone health.55 Nonetheless, the risks associated between a much higher BMI and 

occurrence of diabetes, some forms of cancer, and cardiovascular diseases remain in older adults. 

Obesity is also associated with functional limitations in older people56 and it remains an important 

public health metric.  

The Health Survey for England (HSE) 2015 data on the interviewer-measured prevalence of 

overweight and obesity is shown in Table 3.  The prevalence of overweight in men and women 65-74 

years old is similar to that of men and women aged 45-54 years of age. However, the prevalence 

increases as old age advances, peaking in the oldest old age group of 85+ years. 

The prevalence of obesity in men and women 65-74 years of age is comparable to that of men and 

women aged 45-54 years. However, in contrast to overweight, the prevalence of obesity declines as 

old age advances, occurring at the lowest levels in men and women 85+ years old.  

 

Table 3: Interviewer-measured body mass index (BMI), overweight and obesity prevalence, by age 

 

                                                           
54  Winter JE. et al. (2014) ‘ BMI and all-cause mortality in older adults: a meta-analysis’ Am J Clin Nutr, 99(4):875-90 
55  Migliaccio S et al. (2011) ‘Is obesity in women protective against osteoporosis?’ Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes, 4: 273–

282. 
56  Vincent HK, Vincent KR & Lamb KM (2010) Obesity and mobility disability in the older adult. Obes Rev, 11: 568–579. 

BMI (kg/m2), BMI status (%) 16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75-84 85+ 16+

Men

% Overweight 23 36 45 47 44 44 51 60 41

% Obese, excluding morbidly 

obese 

14 18 24 29 34 30 25 13 25

Women

% Overweight 21 24 33 34 35 35 39 40 31

% Obese, excluding morbidly 

obese 

13 22 24 23 28 26 28 20 23

Source: Health Survey for England 2015, NHS Digital

51



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

30 
 

Figure 9 estimates the numbers of people aged 65 years and over in Peterborough who are likely to 

be classified as overweight or obese on the basis of their BMI (HSE prevalence figures for older 

people have been applied to the local population).    

 

Figure 9: Estimated numbers of people aged 65 years and over that are overweight or obese in 
Peterborough, 2015  

 

Source: Health Survey for England; ONS mid-2015 population estimates 

 

3.4 EVIDENCE BASE: WHAT WORKS? WHAT IS RECOMMENDED? 

This section highlights the evidence base underpinning: the factors influencing diet and nutrition; 

primary prevention measures; weight loss and diabetes prevention programmes; supplementation; 

whole population approaches; National Standards – Care Quality Commission; and cost effectiveness 

of dietary interventions. 

3.4.1 FACTORS INFLUENCING DIET AND NUTRITION IN OLDER ADULTS 

There are a range of factors specific to later life that contribute to the nutritional status of older 

adults, on the foods and drinks consumed, and on the absorption and utilisation of nutrients in the 

foods and drinks.  An evidence review on dietary intake completed in Scotland (Table 4) highlights 

some of the overarching factors affecting consumption patterns in older people and the implications 

for intake and health. In addition, there is some evidence that economic factors may be of particular 

importance in later life and that retirement has divergent effects on food intake.57  

                                                           
57  Conkin AL, Maguire ER, Monsivais P (2013) ‘Economic determinants of diet in older adults: a systematic review’. J 

Epidemiol Commun H, 67:721-727. 

52



DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

31 
 

Dentition and oral health has a bearing on eating patterns and intake throughout the life course.  A 

study of oral and dental health in older people in Cambridgeshire is available on the Cambridgeshire 

Insight website.58  It highlights that more of the population of older people are keeping their own 

teeth in later life, although there needs to be means of ensuring ongoing dental care, and promoting 

measures for the prevention of oral diseases.  

Table 4: Summary of factors influencing dietary intake in older people 

Poverty and 
economic 
uncertainty 

Poverty can affect food choice and dietary diversity. 

Foods that are integral to a healthy diet (eg fruit, vegetables and fish) may be 
perceived as a luxury. 

Healthier alternatives to everyday foods can carry a price premium (eg wholemeal 
bread, spreads low in saturates). 

Food preparation facilities and skills may be limited in poorer households.  

Mobility Immobility may lead to difficulties with shopping, preparing, cooking and eating 
foods. 

Mental health and 
wellbeing 

Depression can lead to loss of interest in food. 

Dementia can impact on appetite and food intake. 

Social support Social isolation or emotional trauma can result in disinterest in food. 

Social interaction may encourage eating. 

Other health 
problems 

Illness and medications can result in reduced appetite and difficulties with shopping, 
preparing and eating food. 

Malabsorption conditions (ie gastritis and pernicious anaemia) reduce ability to 
absorb B12 from food. 

Problems with incontinence may stop individuals eating and drinking normally. 

Some medication can contribute to constipation. 

Source: Scottish evidence review drawn from Denny, 2008; Schenker, 200359 

 

 

                                                           
58  Available at: http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-

reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013 
59  Scottish Government, (2009) Older People Living in the Community - Nutritional Needs, Barriers and Interventions: a 

Literature Review. Available at: http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/12/07102032/9 

53

http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/12/07102032/9


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

32 
 

3.4.2. EVIDENCE BASE FOR PRIMARY PREVENTATIVE MEASURES 

One systematic review, published April 2014, considered the effectiveness of dietary interventions 

for adults of ‘retirement transition age’, defined by the authors as age 54-70 years, and as a life 

event with a key opportunity for behaviour change.60  24 studies were identified; the meta-analysis 

found that interventions increased fruit and vegetable intake, with a slightly higher increase in fruit 

than in vegetables.  The increase in consumption by a mean of 87.5g, while modest, equates to an 

increase of 0.77 portions per day; this could be classified as medium increase relative to other 

studies in adults.  Interventions were also associated with significant increases in fish intake and 

decreases in meat intake.  In terms of study design, there were no significantly different effects on 

dietary change in healthy participants compared with studies where participants had risk factors, 

which does not support an argument that the presence of known risk factors will enhance 

participants’ responses to dietary interventions.  Indirectly delivered interventions eg by telephone 

were only slightly less effective than those face-to-face.  However, the increase in fruit and 

vegetable consumption was positively associated with the number of contacts with participants 

during the interventions.  

The vast majority of systematic reviews on dietary exposures consider the all adult population; these 

may bear relevance for the diets of older people.  Studies on food intake include the Dietary 

Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) dietary pattern which has shown benefits for a range of 

cardiovascular health markers, including improvements in insulin sensitivity.61  A review of 73 

studies, for the US Preventative Services Task Force found that counselling individuals to improve 

their diet or increase their physical activity changed their health behaviours and was associated with 

small improvements in adiposity, blood pressure and lipid levels.62  The beneficial outcomes were 

found for interventions involving medium- and high-intensity counselling.  However, only 11 trials 

followed outcomes beyond 12 months, and it is not clear how far the term ‘counselling’ aligns with 

advisory interventions in the UK.  

Similarly, Cochrane reviews focussed on older people to date have not addressed primary 

prevention topics other than physical activity, preventing falls, and cognitive decline.  The findings of 

relevant all age adult reviews include that:   

 Giving advice to increase fruit and vegetable consumption has favourable effects on 

cardiovascular disease risk factors, though analyses were based on only two trials.  

Interventions which actually provided participants with fruit and vegetables showed no 

strong evidence for cardiovascular risk benefits, although, these studies were short term, 

and the majority only provided one fruit or vegetable.63  

                                                           
60  Lara J, Hobbs N, Moynihan P et al. (2014) Effectiveness of dietary interventions among adults of retirement age: a 

systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Medicine 12:60 
61   Shirani F, Salehi-Abargouei A, Azadbakht L. (2013). 'Effects of Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet on 

some risk for developing type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis on controlled clinical trials.' Nutrition; 
29(7-8):939-47. 

62  Lin JS et al (2010) Behavioral Counseling to Promote Physical Activity and a Healthful Diet to Prevent Cardiovascular 
Disease in Adults: A Systematic Review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, false Annals of Internal Medicine
153.11: 736-750. 

63  Hartley L, Igbinedion E, Holmes J, et al. (2013) 'Increased consumption of fruit and vegetables for the primary 
prevention of cardiovascular diseases'. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 6. 

54

http://search.proquest.com/pubidlinkhandler/sng/pubtitle/Annals+of+Internal+Medicine/$N/42137/DocView/818747777/abstract/A5807BFF58F04D60PQ/6?accountid=47863
http://search.proquest.com/indexingvolumeissuelinkhandler/42137/Annals+of+Internal+Medicine/02010Y12Y07$23Dec+7,+2010$3b++Vol.+153+$2811$29/153/11?accountid=47863
http://search.proquest.com/indexingvolumeissuelinkhandler/42137/Annals+of+Internal+Medicine/02010Y12Y07$23Dec+7,+2010$3b++Vol.+153+$2811$29/153/11?accountid=47863


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

33 
 

 Dietary advice appears to be effective in leading to modest beneficial changes in diet and 

cardiovascular risk factors over approximately 12 months.  Longer-term benefits are not 

known.64  

 A modest reduction in salt intake for four or more weeks causes significant decreases in 

blood pressure.65  

 There is some limited evidence that a Mediterranean dietary pattern may have favourable 

effects on cardiovascular risk factors.  Authors noted that more comprehensive 

interventions, incorporating more elements of a Mediterranean diet, may produce more 

beneficial results than trials with fewer dietary components.66  

There are several cohort studies in progress which should contribute further to the evidence base 

including the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study, designed to 

investigate the relationships between diet, nutritional status, lifestyle and environmental factors and 

the incidence of cancer and other chronic diseases.67  ‘Effects of the Mediterranean diet on the 

primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases’ is a smaller-scale coordinated project, known as 

‘PREDIMED’, to conduct a large randomized clinical trial in high risk individuals.68 The World Cancer 

Research Fund Expert Report on cancer prevention, published in 2007 reviewed the strength of the 

association between all the investigated dietary aspects and cancer – there is a programme of 

bringing continuous updates to this and maintaining the accumulated evidence related to food, 

nutrition, physical activity and cancer.69  

3.4.3. EVIDENCE BASE FOR WEIGHT LOSS AND DIABETES PREVENTION PROGRAMMES 

Interventions to mediate weight loss may contribute to preventative action for chronic disease by 

reducing levels of abdominal adiposity and obesity.  

There have been ongoing concerns about weight loss in older adults and inadvertent risks for bone 

health and muscle strength.70  The 2005 joint position statement by the US technical obesity groups 

confirmed their opinion that the benefits of weight loss outweigh the risks, although the emphasis 

should be on loss of fat mass:  

The current data show that weight-loss therapy improves physical function, quality of life, and the 

medical complications associated with obesity in older persons. Therefore, weight-loss therapy 

                                                           
64  Rees K, Dyakova M, Wilson N, et al. (2013) 'Dietary advice for reducing cardiovascular risk'. Cochrane Database of 

Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 12. 
65  He FJ, Li J, MacGregor GA. (2013) 'Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure'. Cochrane Database 

of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 4. 
66  Rees K, Hartley L, Flowers N, et al. (2013). 'Mediterranean' dietary pattern for the primary prevention of cardiovascular 

disease. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 8 
67  Further information on EPIC is available at: http://epic.iarc.fr/ 
68  Further information on the PREDIMED research programme is available at: 

http://predimed.onmedic.net/eng/Home/tabid/357/Default.aspx 
69  The WRCF report and further details are available at:  http://www.dietandcancerreport.org/expert_report/index.php 
70  DeCaria JE, Sharp C, Petrella RJ (2012). 'Scoping review report: obesity in older adults' Int J Obesity, 36: 1141-50 

55

http://epic.iarc.fr/
http://predimed.onmedic.net/eng/Home/tabid/357/Default.aspx
http://www.dietandcancerreport.org/expert_report/index.php


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

34 
 

that minimizes muscle and bone losses is recommended for older persons who are obese and who 

have functional impairments or medical complications that can benefit from weight loss.71 

The technical guidance highlights evidence for the role of regular physical activity in minimising the 

loss of muscle and bone mass, specifically the inclusion of endurance or resistance exercise training, 

alongside dietary modification.72 

A recent study assessed longer term effects of physical activity and weight loss on body composition 

in overweight or obese older adults and found significant reductions in fat mass in the weight loss 

group.  This loss of fat mass was primarily responsible for detected improvements in cardiometabolic 

risk factors.  Reduction in body weight was associated with favourable changes in mobility.73  There is 

also primary evidence to suggest that clinically important weight loss can be maintained by frail, 

older adults in the community; in one small trial weight loss was maintained at 30 months following 

the start of the intervention, through the maintenance of a low-calorie diet.74  

Two major diabetes prevention studies – the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study, and Diabetes 

Prevention Programme in the US, with intensive lifestyle modification support, delivered modest 

weight loss, and in older adults were shown to reduce healthcare costs arising from diabetes.75  

Targeted approaches for people with pre-clinical indicators may also have a positive impact: a recent 

meta-analysis considered lifestyle interventions that lasted at least three months, including exercise, 

diet and at least one other component for high risk patients and found that they effectively 

decreased the incidence of Type 2 diabetes.76  

3.4.4 EVIDENCE BASE FOR SUPPLEMENTATION  

The Department of Health recommends that people aged 65 years and over should take a daily 

supplement containing 10 micrograms (0.01mg) of vitamin D to protect musculoskeletal health77. 

NICE clinical guidance entitled ‘Vitamin D: increasing supplement use in at-risk groups was published 

in November 201477 and provides guidance on approaches for improving awareness and levels of 

supplementation to better meet recommendations and address vitamin D inadequacy in at-risk 

groups including older people.   

 

 

 

                                                           
71  Villareal DT, Apovian CM, Kushner RF, Klein S (2005). 'Obesity in older adults: technical review and position statement 

of the American Society for Nutrition and NAASO, The Obesity Society'. Am J Clin Nutr; 82:5, 923-934 
72  ibid 
73  Beavers KM, Beavers DP, Beverly AN, et al. (2014) 'Effect of an 18-month physical activity and weight loss intervention 

on body composition in overweight and obese older adults'.  ; 22:2; 325–331. 
74  Waters DL, Vawter R, Qualls C et al. (2013). 'Long-term maintenance of weight loss after lifestyle intervention in frail, 

obese older adults'.  The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Ageing; 17:1.  
75  Foresight. (2007) Tackling obesities: future choices—project report. London: The Stationery Office. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices 
76  Schellenberg ES et al. (2013) ‘Lifestyle Interventions for Patients With and at Risk for Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic 

Review and Meta-analysis’ Annals of Internal Medicine, 159:8:543-551.  
77  https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph56?unlid=7841479482014121534249?print=true?print=true 

56

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph56?unlid=7841479482014121534249?print=true?print=true


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

35 
 

Calcium supplements may be prescribed for high risk individuals; the majority of the population of 

older adults are projected to meet their calcium requirements within their food intakes.  Further 

preventative measures for bone health, including the role of physical activity is described in previous 

JSNA work addressing falls.78  

There is additional research activity to explore the potential health benefits and risks of 

supplementation with antioxidants,79 selenium,80 potassium,81 and omega 382 for a range of 

cardiovascular disease targets, and in the prevention of cognitive decline.  However, the evidence 

base is not sufficiently strong to translate into policy or guidance.  For example, the Scientific 

Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) considered selenium and issued a position statement, May 

2013 concluding ‘Overall, there is currently insufficient evidence of a public health issue or rationale 

to justify undertaking a more detailed full risk assessment on selenium and health’.83   

3.4.5 EVIDENCE BASE FOR WHOLE POPULATION APPROACHES 

NICE public health guidance issued for several chronic diseases,84 states the value of taking a pan-

population approach rather than solely targeting high risk individuals – and emphasises that these 

approaches are complementary.  This is explained in detail in PH2585 which focusses on the 

prevention of cardiovascular disease (CVD):  

3.11 CVD risk factors can be reduced in a number of ways. Two different (and frequently, 

complementary) approaches are often described as 'individual-' and 'population-based'.  The former 

involves interventions which tend to give people direct encouragement to change their behaviour.  It 

may involve providing information about the health risks of their current behaviour, advice (such as 

to be more active) or prescribing a treatment.  Alternatively, it may involve altering the way the NHS 

and other organisations deliver prevention or healthcare services.  Population-based interventions, 

on the other hand, aim to change the risks from the social, economic, material and environmental 

factors that affect an entire population.  This can be achieved through regulation, legislation, subsidy 

and taxation or rearranging the physical layout of communities.  The PDG [Programme Development 

Group – editor comment] focused on population-based approaches. 

3.14 Previously in the UK, interventions focused on individuals have tended to dominate CVD 

prevention activities and it is important to identify and treat those who are at higher risk. However, a 

much larger overall benefit could be achieved by making changes (albeit small ones) among any 

                                                           
78  Available at:http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-

reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013 
79  Bjelakovic G, Nikolova D, Gluud LL, et al. (2012). 'Antioxidant supplements for prevention of mortality in healthy 

participants and patients with various diseases'. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2012, Issue 3. 
80  Rees K, Hartley L, Day C, et al. (2013). 'Selenium supplementation for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease'. 

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2013, Issue 1. 
81  Aburto NJ, Hanson S, Gutierrez H et al. (2013). 'Effect of increased potassium intake on cardiovascular risk factors and 

disease: systematic review and meta-analyses'. BMJ; 346. 
82  Delgado-Lista et al., (2012) ‘Long chain omega-3 fatty acids and cardiovascular disease: A systematic review.’ British 

Journal of Nutrition; 107:201-213. 
83  Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition. (2013). ‘SACN Position Statement on Selenium and Health’. Available at: 

http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/position_statements/sacn_position_statement_on_selenium_a
nd_health_-_may_2013.html 

84  For example, NICE guidance PH25 on cardiovascular disease and PH35 on type 2 diabetes. NICE guidance is available at: 
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/ 

85  Available at: http://publications.nice.org.uk/prevention-of-cardiovascular-disease-ph25 

57

http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/current-jsna-reports/prevention-ill-health-older-people-2013
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/position_statements/sacn_position_statement_on_selenium_and_health_-_may_2013.html
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/position_statements/sacn_position_statement_on_selenium_and_health_-_may_2013.html
http://guidance.nice.org.uk/
http://publications.nice.org.uk/prevention-of-cardiovascular-disease-ph25


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

36 
 

given population as a whole.  As indicated by the Rose hypothesis, a small reduction in risk among a 

large number of people may prevent many more cases, rather than treating a small number at higher 

risk.  A whole-population approach explicitly focuses on changing everyone's exposure to risk (Rose 

2008). 

3.15 There is growing evidence in support of the Rose hypothesis (see point above).  For instance, 

data were recently pooled from six general population cohort studies involving 109,954 European 

participants.  These data were analysed to compare different CVD strategies.  The analysis found that 

a 10%, population-wide reduction in blood cholesterol, blood pressure and smoking prevalence would 

save approximately 9,120 lives per million population over 10 years.  In contrast, treating 40% of 

high-risk individuals with a 'polypill' (containing a statin, three half-dose anti-hypertensives and 

aspirin) would save about 3,720 lives per million, even assuming complete, long-term adherence 

(Cooney et al. 2009). 

Primary preventative approaches include any social and environmental changes that will have a 

positive bearing on the prevalence of risk factors in the community and reducing the levels of 

associated diseases.  These social and environmental changes were particularly explored for obesity 

in detail in the 2007 Foresight report ‘Reducing obesity: future choices’.86  Whilst much of the 

evidence on improving dietary intake is related to children, young people and families, structural 

changes that benefit public health nutrition may be experienced across the population, and 

contribute to the health and wellbeing of older adults.   

3.4.6 NATIONAL STANDARDS – CARE QUALITY COMMISSION 

The Care Quality Commission Standards include Outcome 5: Meeting nutritional needs. Therefore 

registrants to the CQC have a duty to ensure the quality of food provision and nutrition support for 

their clients and service users.  Further detail on the meaning of this outcome is provided in the CQC 

‘Provider Compliance Assessment’ tool:87 

“What should people who use services experience? 

People who use services: 

- Are supported to have adequate nutrition and hydration. 

This is because providers who comply with the regulations will:  

- Reduce the risk of poor nutrition and dehydration by encouraging and supporting people to 

receive adequate nutrition and hydration. 

- Provide choices of food and drink for people to meet their diverse needs making sure the food 

and drink they provide is nutritionally balanced and supports their health.”  

A specific inspection programme on nutrition and dignity has been implemented for care homes and 

hospitals.  The emphasis of both this quality standard and the nutrition and dignity programme is 

supporting the food choice and independence of individuals, and the sufficiency of food for 

                                                           
86  Foresight. (2007) Tackling obesities: future choices—project report. London: The Stationery Office. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices 
87  CQC compliance assessment tool available at: http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/provider-compliance-assessment-tool 

58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/provider-compliance-assessment-tool


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

37 
 

preventing malnutrition.  The role of food and drink consumption for preventative health is not 

captured explicitly. 

3.4.7 COST EFFECTIVENESS OF DIETARY INTERVENTIONS 

There is limited evidence with regards to the cost effectiveness of dietary approaches for the 

primary prevention of ill-health in older adults.  This may particularly reflect the fact that the 

majority of evidence around diet and nutrition is drawn from the all-adult population, rather than 

focussing specifically on those in later life.  

The NICE guidance on weight management services PH53 issued in May 2014,88 notes the cost 

effectiveness of weight management interventions modelling the benefits of a 12-week programme 

costing £100 or less (or 24-weeks at £200 or less) with at least 1kg of weight lost and where this 

weight difference is maintained for life and that this may be more cost effective in older adults:  

In relation to age, the model implies that the recommendations will generate better value for money 

for people older than 50 – even if they only maintain a lower weight trajectory for three to 10 years.  

This is because older people will gain the health benefits sooner (not because older people lose more 

weight than younger people). Trials suggest average weight loss is similar for all ages and BMI 

groups.  For people aged 20–39, weight loss may need to be maintained for up to 40 years before the 

intervention is worth undertaking.89 

 

3.5 LOCAL ACTION: WHAT ARE OUR LOCAL ASSETS? 

This list of assets offers some examples of the resources available in Peterborough to promote 

eating well to older adults.   

 Tier 2 and tier 3 weight management services are in place. Tier 1 weight management 

services are focussed on engaging individuals in group B (Figure 10), as per the NICE 

categorisation, and correlate with primary prevention approaches.  They will usually offer a 

lifestyle-focussed intervention in a community setting.  

  

                                                           
88  Available at: http://publications.nice.org.uk/managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-

services-ph53 
89  Excerpt taken from paragraph 4.20 within NICE PH53, available at: http://publications.nice.org.uk/managing-

overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-ph53 
 

59

http://publications.nice.org.uk/managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-ph53
http://publications.nice.org.uk/managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-ph53
http://publications.nice.org.uk/managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-ph53
http://publications.nice.org.uk/managing-overweight-and-obesity-in-adults-lifestyle-weight-management-services-ph53


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

38 
 

Figure 10: NICE recommendations for levels of intervention for overweight and obesity 

 

Source: NICE90  

 

 A community healthy lifestyles service, Solutions4health, is in place and lifestyle clinics are 

held across a vast array of community assets such as community centres, GP surgeries etc. 

Health Trainers are trained in motivational interviewing and provide one-to-one 

consultations to support individuals in identifying unhealthy behaviours and creating 

personal health plans with goals for lifestyle improvement.   

 

 Primary health care services, including local pharmacies, are a key means of identifying and 

supporting individuals with changes in behaviour for improvements in their health and 

wellbeing.  These services may be particularly accessed by older adults.  There may be 

further opportunities to enhance behaviour changes, through the annual programme of 

awareness raising health campaigns of conditions such as Type 2 Diabetes and through 

routine provision. 

 

 The ‘Healthy Peterborough’ website provides information about diet, healthy eating and 

public health. 

  

 AskSARA:91 is a self-help guide hosted by the Disabled Living Foundation to enable people to 

identify items of equipment that may help them in their daily lives. Information is available 

on equipment to support individuals in shopping, preparing and cooking meals, eating and 

drinking, and clearing and washing dishes. 

 

 As detailed in the chapter on malnutrition, there is a raft of interventions provided by 

statutory services and voluntary sector organisations to meet needs, support older people 

with independent living, and provide social opportunities such as luncheon clubs, which may 

have a positive impact on nutritional status, and support individuals in achieving a healthy 

and balanced diet.  These represent very significant assets for Peterborough. There may be 

                                                           
90  Figure has been adapted from the information in point 1.2.2. 11, page 37 within NICE Clinical Guidance CG43 (2006) 

‘Obesity: the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults and children, 
available at: http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG43 

91  Available at: http://asksara.dlf.org.uk/ 

60

http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG43
http://asksara.dlf.org.uk/


DRAFT OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA DIET 

39 
 

opportunities to enhance the dietary information and primary preventative messages within 

these services.  

 

 The Super Kitchen programme http://www.citycollegepeterborough.ac.uk/news-and-

events/super-kitchen-success-ccp/ focuses on providing well balanced, nutritious meals at 

low cost to people who may be affected by food poverty.  

 

3.6 LOCAL VIEWS AND FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES  

The stakeholder event did not illicit local views and future opportunities specifically focussed on diet 

and nutrition. 

61

http://www.citycollegepeterborough.ac.uk/news-and-events/super-kitchen-success-ccp/
http://www.citycollegepeterborough.ac.uk/news-and-events/super-kitchen-success-ccp/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

40 
 

4. MALNUTRITION  

4.1 KEY FINDINGS 

Malnutrition is measured as a Body Mass Index (BMI) lower than 18.5kg/m2 or unintentional 10% 

weight loss.  NICE identified malnutrition as the sixth largest source for potential NHS savings.   The 

annual health care costs associated with malnutrition are primarily due to more frequent and 

expensive hospital in-patient spells, more primary care consultations and the greater long-term care 

needs of malnourished individuals.   

About two thirds of cases of malnutrition are not recognised; the impacts are increased burden of 

disease and treatment costs.  It is estimated that 3,000 to 4,000 older residents in Peterborough are 

malnourished, many more are at risk.  Social networks have a preventive role, as interest groups and 

shopping clubs support motivation and the means for good nutrition. 

Regular screening for malnutrition is recommended by NICE; early intervention screening and 

appropriate treatment is cost-effective.  Those at risk should have a ‘food first’ approach, including 

dietary advice to optimise their intake, and support with practicalities.  NICE estimates that the 

overall resource impact of increased screening, early intervention and appropriate treatment could 

lead to a saving of £71,800 per 100,000 people.    

Awareness of malnutrition needs to be improved by both healthcare workers and the wider public.  

Efforts to prevent malnutrition should be integrated with other care to prevent ill-health, and 

between healthcare workers, carers, social workers, and the voluntary sector. A clear pathway for 

post-discharge support for those at risk, particularly for older adults who live independently could 

help to prevent or reduce malnutrition.  Community dietitians could provide training for care home 

staff to screen residents for malnutrition; care homes should use a validated screening tool and 

should audit to ensure CQC compliance.  

The majority of individuals at risk of malnutrition live in the community; preventative resources 

include home help schemes, lunch clubs, day care centres, shopping services and the support 

offered by voluntary organisations.  Lack of awareness of malnutrition and services or support 

available can hinder engagement and access to support.  This might be improved by raising 

awareness amongst older adults, their families and GPs about the services available in the 

community.  

 

4.2 CONTEXT: WHY IS MALNUTRITION IMPORTANT? 

Malnutrition is a state in which a deficiency, excess or imbalance of energy, protein and other 

nutrients causes measurable adverse effects on tissue/body form (body shape, size and 

composition), function or clinical outcome.92  For the purposes of this JSNA, malnutrition refers to a 

state of undernutrition.   

                                                           
92  Elia M, (Ed). Screening for malnutrition: a multidisciplinary responsibility. Development and use of the ‘Malnutrition 

Universal Screening Tool’ (‘MUST’) for adults. MAG, a Standing Committee of BAPEN. Redditch: BAPEN, 2003. 

62



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

41 
 

NICE defines malnutrition as:  

 Body mass index (BMI) of less than 18.5 kg/m2 

 Unintentional weight loss greater than 10% within the last 3–6 months. 

 BMI of less than 20 kg/m2 and unintentional weight loss greater than 5%, within the last three 
to six months.93 

The risk of malnutrition increases with age.  People over 75 are at highest risk of malnutrition and 

this population is projected to double in the next 30 years.94  This higher risk is due to a combination 

of physiological changes and also due to an increased burden of disease in older people. 

There are many medical, lifestyle and psychological factors which can increase the risk of 

malnutrition in the community, and which are more common in older people.  Additionally, there 

are risk factors which can occur specifically in hospital settings and further increase the likelihood of 

malnutrition.  The risk factors listed in Table 10 can act in isolation or can interplay to increase 

overall risk of malnutrition.  

Table 5: Risk Factors for Malnutrition 

Medical Lifestyle Psychological Additional In Hospital 

Poor appetite Lack of 
knowledge 
about food, 
cooking 

Confusion Food service – limited 
choice, poor presentation. 

Poor dentition Isolation Dementia Slow eating and limited 
time for meals. 

Dysphagia Loneliness Depression Missing dentures. 

Loss of taste/smell Inability to shop Bereavement  Need for 
feeding/supervision. 

Intestinal disease eg malabsorption Inability to 
prepare food 

Anxiety Inability to reach food, use 
cutlery, open packages. 

Endocrine disease eg diabetes Poverty  Unpleasant sights, sounds, 
smells. 

Neurological disease eg stroke, 
Parkinson’s 

  Increased nutrient 
requirements (because on 
infections, wound healing 
etc). 

Infections eg urinary tract 
infections, chest infections 

  Limited provision for 
religious/cultural dietary 
needs 

Respiratory disease eg COPD   Nil by mouth or missing 
meals while having tests 

Cardiac disease eg heart failure    

                                                           
93  Nutrition Support in Adults (CG32). Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. NICE, 2006. 
94  National Population Projections, 2010 Based Projections, Office for National Statistics, 2011. 

63



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

42 
 

Physical disability eg arthritis, poor 
mobility 

   

Drug interactions    

Other disease eg cancer    

Source: Modified from Hickson95 

 

Malnutrition increases the risk of disease for individuals, as well as poor psycho-social function.  The 

clinical effects of malnutrition are summarised in Table 11.  In-hospital mortality has been found to 

rise with increasing risk of malnutrition, and mortality is higher among discharged patients with 

medium or high risk of malnutrition.  Malnutrition increases burden of disease, and is associated 

with more hospital admissions, higher readmission rates, longer length of stay in hospital, higher 

treatment costs and greater healthcare needs in the community.96,97  When compared with well-

nourished people, malnourished individuals in the community saw their GP twice as often, had three 

times the number of hospital admissions and stayed in hospital more than three days longer.98 

Table 6: Clinical Effects of Malnutrition 

Effect of Malnutrition Consequence 

Impaired immune response Impaired ability to fight infection, increased need for 

antibiotics 

Reduced muscle strength and fatigue Reduced ability to work, shop, cook, self-care. 

Increased risk of falls and chest infections 

Inactivity Pressure ulcers, deep vein thrombosis (and emboli) 

Loss of temperature regulation Hypothermia 

Impaired wound healing Wound infections, longer recovery time from surgery 

Impaired ability to regulate 

electrolytes/ salt and fluid 

Increased risk of dehydration or over-hydration 

Specific nutrient deficiencies Anaemia, osteoporosis 

Impaired psycho-social function Depression, apathy, self-neglect 

Source: Modified from Malnutrition Matters99 

                                                           
95  Hickson M. (2006) ‘Malnutrition and ageing’. Postgrad Med J.; 82(963): 2–8.  
96  Stratton RJ, King CL, Stroud MA et al. (2006) 'Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool' predicts mortality and length of 

hospital stay in acutely ill elderly. Br J Nutr.;95(2):325-30. 
97  Managing Adult Malnutrition in the Community including a pathway for the appropriate use of oral nutritional 

supplements (ONS). Available from http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/  
98  J. F. Guest et al. Health economic impact of managing patients following a community-based 
 diagnosis of malnutrition in the UK. Clin Nutr. 2011 Aug;30(4):422-9 
99  Brotherton A, Simmonds N & Stroud M. Malnutrition Matters. Meeting Quality Standards in Nutritional Care. BAPEN. 

2012. 

64

http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

43 
 

Disease-related malnutrition costs in excess of £13 billion per annum based on malnutrition 

prevalence figures and the associated costs of both health care and social care.100  The annual health 

care costs associated with malnutrition are primarily due to more frequent and expensive hospital 

in-patient spells, more primary care consultations and the greater long-term care needs of 

malnourished individuals.101  NICE identified malnutrition as the sixth largest source for potential NHS 

savings.102  Early identification and treatment of malnutrition in adults could save the NHS £45.5 

million a year even after costs of training and screening.103 

4.3 DATA: WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT MALNUTRITION LOCALLY?  

It is estimated that there are around one million older people in the UK who are malnourished or at 

risk of malnutrition.104  The vast majority (93%) of people who are malnourished or at risk of 

malnutrition are living in the community, with a minority in care homes (5%) or in hospital (2%).105  It 

is estimated that 25-28% of admissions to hospital and 30-41% of admissions to care homes are at 

risk of malnutrition.106,107  

There is a paucity of local data pertaining directly to prevalence or costs of malnutrition. 

In Peterborough life expectancy at birth is significantly lower for both males and females compared 

to the national average. 14% of the population is aged 65 years and over (28,700 people), and the 

number of people over 65 is set to grow by approximately 31% by 2026.  It is estimated that 10-14% 

of the population aged 65 years and over in England is malnourished.108  Applying national estimates 

to the local population; this reflects an estimated 3,000 to 4,000 older residents of Peterborough, or 

about one in 50 people in the general population. Many more older people are likely to be at risk of 

malnutrition.  

Area-specific concerns about malnutrition should consider how different risk factors may vary in 

distribution across the county.  Health problems may cluster in particular areas.  For example, 

mortality rates from cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease and cancer are higher in 

Peterborough compared to England, and therefore older people in Peterborough may be at 

increased risk of malnutrition due to medical risk factors.109  

In terms of lifestyle and psychosocial risk factors, approximately 32% of older people live alone in 

Peterborough (8,000 people), and these people may also be at increased risk of malnutrition.    

                                                           
100  Ibid. 
101  Ibid. 
102  Benefits of Implementation: Cost saving guidance, NICE, (updated) 2013 
103  National cost impact report to accompany CG32, NICE, 2006 
104  Elia M, Smith RM. Improving nutritional care and treatment. Perspectives and Recommendations from population 

groups, patients and carers. A report from BAPEN with 18 collaborating partners from the voluntary sector. BAPEN, 
2009. http://www.bapen.org.uk/pdfs/improv_nut_care_report.pdf  

105  Ibid.   
106  Russell CA, Elia M. Nutrition screening survey in the UK in 2007. 2008. 

http://www.bapen.org.uk/pdfs/nsw/nsw07_report.pdf  
107  Russell CA, Elia M. Nutrition screening survey in the UK in 2008. 2009. 

http://www.bapen.org.uk/pdfs/nsw/nsw_report2008-09.pdf  
108  Brotherton A, Simmonds N & Stroud M. Malnutrition Matters. Meeting Quality Standards in Nutritional Care. BAPEN. 

2012. 
109  Public Health Outcomes Framework. Healthcare public health and preventing premature mortality. Public Health 

England. http://www.phoutcomes.info/  

65

http://www.bapen.org.uk/pdfs/improv_nut_care_report.pdf
http://www.bapen.org.uk/pdfs/nsw/nsw07_report.pdf
http://www.bapen.org.uk/pdfs/nsw/nsw_report2008-09.pdf
http://www.phoutcomes.info/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

44 
 

Figure 11 shows the number of one-person households with residents aged 65 and over in 

Peterborough and it’s Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) nearest 

neighbours.  Peterborough has the fourth lowest absolute number of older people living alone 

among its CIPFA nearest neighbours.  

Figure 11:  Number of one-person households with residents aged 65 and over in Peterborough and its 
CIPFA nearest neighbours. 

 

Source: Census 2011 

There are many one-person households that are occupied by adults of working age.  Within the 

population of one-person households in Peterborough and its CIPFA nearest neighbours, Figure 12 

highlights that a similar percentage of one-person households in Peterborough are occupied by an 

older person aged 65 and over.   

Figure 12:  Percentage (%) of one-person households occupied by a person aged 65+ 

        

66



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

45 
 

Source: Census 2011 

 

4.3 EVIDENCE BASE: WHAT WORKS? WHAT IS RECOMMENDED?  

4.3.1 SCREENING 

Screening for those at risk of malnutrition is a key component of primary prevention of malnutrition.  

The most common validated tool for screening is the Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool (MUST).  

This tool can be applied to bed-bound patients who cannot have weight/height measurements 

taken, whereas other tools require calculation of weight/height.110  Patients who are found to be at 

risk of malnutrition using the MUST can be commenced on pathways of intervention according to 

level of risk in order to prevent (or treat) malnutrition. 

Studies in the UK, Netherlands and USA have reported improved documentation of nutrition related 

issues in wards where screening took place, improved weight gain, fewer related hospital-acquired 

infections, reduced incidence of major complications and length of stay in frail, older 

patients.111,112,113,114  A recent Cochrane review reported a lack of high quality evidence about the 

effectiveness of nutritional screening.115  However, a number of guideline development groups have 

considered that the benefits of screening outweigh the risks of failing to detect and treat those with 

malnutrition, or those at risk of malnutrition.116  

NICE Clinical Guidelines on Nutrition Support in Adults have recommended screening at the 

following opportunities: 

 All hospital inpatients on admission and weekly when there is clinical concern.  

 All hospital outpatients at first OPD appointment and where there is clinical concern.  

 All residents of care homes on admission and repeated monthly. 

 At initial registration in GP surgeries.  

 Annually in GP surgeries for those aged over 75 where there is clinical concern.  

 At other opportunities in GP surgeries such as health checks or vaccinations.117 118 

                                                           
110  Stratton RJ, King CL, Stroud MA et al. (2006) 'Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool' predicts mortality and length of 

hospital stay in acutely ill elderly. Br J Nutr.;95(2):325-30. 
111  Jordan S, Snow D, Hayes C, Williams A. (2003) Introducing a nutrition screening tool: an exploratory study in a district 

general hospital. J Adv Nurs. 44(1):12-23. 
112  Rypkema G, Adang E, Dicke H et al. (2004). ‘Cost-effectiveness of an interdisciplinary intervention in geriatric inpatients 

to prevent malnutrition’. J Nutr Health Aging. 8(2):122-7. 
113  Kruizenga HM, Van Tulder MW, Seidell JC et al. (2005)’ Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of early screening and 

treatment of malnourished patients’. Am J Clin Nutr.2(5):1082-9. 
114  Brugler L, DiPrinzio MJ, Bernstein L. The five-year evolution of a malnutrition treatment program in a community 

hospital. Jt Comm J Qual Improv. 1999 Apr;25(4):191-206. 
115  Omidvari AH, Vali Y, Murray SM, Wonderling D, Rashidian A. Nutritional screening for improving professional practice 

for patient outcomes in hospital and primary care settings. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2013 Jun 6;6:CD005539. 
116  Mueller C, Compher C, Ellen DM. ASPEN. Clinical Guidelines Nutrition Screening, Assessment, and Intervention in 

Adults. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr. 2011 Jan;35(1):16-24. 
117  Nutrition Support in Adults (CG32). Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. NICE, 2006. 
118  Brotherton A, Simmonds N & Stroud M. Malnutrition Matters. Meeting Quality Standards in Nutritional Care. BAPEN. 

2012. 

67



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

46 
 

Regular screening and monitoring of all people in care homes has been estimated to cost half the 

amount of treating those who are malnourished.  It is estimated that the overall resource impact of 

increased screening, early intervention and appropriate treatment could lead to a saving of £71,800 

per 100,000 people.119  The National Collaborating Centre for Acute Care reported that screening of 

older inpatients was more costly than a strategy of nurses selecting patients for nutritional 

intervention, but also more effective.  It was suggested that screening was cost-effective when 

compared to a threshold of £20,000 per quality adjusted life year (QALY) gained.120  It has been 

reported that screening can improve quality of care,121 and it may be associated with a modest 

increase in costs in a hospital setting, but implementation of a screening tool and treatment may 

result in substantial savings overall by reducing length of hospital stay.122 

 

 

4.3.2 DIETARY INTERVENTION 

Expert groups have recommended that those identified as being at risk of malnutrition, using 

screening tools such as the MUST, should receive dietary advice to optimise oral intake (‘food 

first’).123   A Cochrane review compared patients receiving dietary advice with those who did not 

receive any advice and reported increased weight gain in the former group.124 However there was no 

significant difference in mortality or length of hospital stay in patients receiving dietary advice 

alone.125  This suggests a greater role for a ‘food first’ approach in people who are still in the 

community and not acutely ill.  No study reporting the cost-effectiveness of dietary advice was 

identified. 

 

Dietary modifications to reduce or prevent malnutrition as recommended by The British Association 

for parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (BAPEN) and the British Dietetic Association126 include the 

following: 

 Add everyday foods to diet to increase energy and protein content eg full fat milk, cheese. 

 Take small regular meals/snacks with high-energy and protein-rich foods/fluids.  

 Overcome potential barriers to oral intake: physical (dentition), mechanical (texture, use of 
thickened fluids etc), environmental (inability to prepare food, inability to shop etc). 

 Consider referral to dietetics, occupational therapy, speech and language therapy services. 

                                                           
119  NICE support for commissioners and others using the quality standard on nutrition support in adults, NICE, 2012. 
120  Nutrition Support in Adults (CG32). Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. NICE, 2006. 
121  Rypkema G, Adang E, Dicke H et al. (2004). ‘Cost-effectiveness of an interdisciplinary intervention in geriatric inpatients 

to prevent malnutrition’. J Nutr Health Aging. 8(2):122-7. 
122  Kruizenga HM, Van Tulder MW, Seidell JC et al. (2005)’ Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of early screening and 

treatment of malnourished patients’. Am J Clin Nutr.2(5):1082-9. 
123  Managing Adult Malnutrition in the Community including a pathway for the appropriate use of oral nutritional 

supplements (ONS). Available from http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/  
124  Baldwin C, Weekes CE. Dietary advice with or without oral nutritional supplements for disease-related malnutrition in 

adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011 Sep 7;(9):CD002008.  
125  Ibid.   
126  British Dietetic Association Factsheet on Malnutrition 2012. Available at: 

https://www.bda.uk.com/foodfacts/malnutritionfactsheet.pdf 

68

http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/
https://www.bda.uk.com/foodfacts/malnutritionfactsheet.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

47 
 

4.3.3 ORAL NUTRITIONAL SUPPLEMENTS 

Oral nutritional supplements (ONS) are typically used in addition to normal diet when a person is 

deemed to be malnourished or at high risk of malnutrition and where dietary modifications alone 

are insufficient to meet nutritional requirements.127  A Cochrane Review found that ONS produce a 

small but consistent weight gain in older people.128  Use of ONS can decrease functional limitations 

with no extra costs in those who are already malnourished.129  Meta-analyses suggest that ONS 

reduce complications (eg infections, wound breakdown) and mortality in those who are already 

malnourished.130 131 

 

The role of ONS in primary prevention of malnutrition is less clear.  Energy intake and weight gain is 

significantly greater in those receiving ONS compared to dietary advice alone.132  Milne et al. 

reported no significant difference in mortality between those who received ONS and those who did 

not receive ONS among people who were not malnourished.133  Evidence for ONS use is not 

supportive for routine supplementation for older people at home or for use in well-nourished 

patients in any setting.134  

 

NICE recommends use of a validated screening tool such as the MUST, and this tool advises the 

prescription of ONS in all patients at high risk of malnutrition.  Therefore, the supplements have a 

role in primary prevention, but further research is required to determine how people at risk of 

malnutrition, but not yet meeting the NICE criteria, to be defined as malnourished, benefit from 

ONS. 

 

The National Collaborating Centre for Acute Care suggests probable cost-effectiveness of ONS within 

the context of a screening programme in older hospital patients.135  Economic analysis of ONS use in 

the Netherlands estimated an 8.3% cost saving per patient.136  In a community setting, additional 

costs of ONS were estimated to be more than balanced by a reduction of other health care costs (eg 

re-hospitalisation).137 

4.3.4 OTHER PRIMARY PREVENTIVE MEASURES 

                                                           
127  Managing Adult Malnutrition in the Community including a pathway for the appropriate use of oral nutritional 

supplements (ONS). Available from http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/  
128  Milne AC, Potter J, Vivanti A, Avenell A. (2009) ‘Protein and energy supplementation in elderly people at risk from 

malnutrition’. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD003288 
129  Neelemaat F, Bosmans JE, Thijs A. et al. (2012). ‘Oral nutritional support in malnourished elderly decreases functional 

limitations with no extra costs’. Clin Nutr.;31(2):183-90.  
130  Brotherton A, Simmonds N & Stroud M. Malnutrition Matters. Meeting Quality Standards in Nutritional Care. BAPEN. 

2012. 
131  Milne AC, Potter J, Vivanti A, Avenell A. (2009) ‘Protein and energy supplementation in elderly people at risk from 

malnutrition’. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD003288 
132  Nutrition Support in Adults (CG32). Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. NICE, 2006. 
133  Milne AC, Avenell A, Potter J. (2006) ‘Meta-analysis: protein and energy supplementation in older people’. Ann Intern 

Med; 144(1):37-48.  
134  Ibid.  
135  Nutrition Support in Adults (CG32). Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. NICE, 2006. 
136  Freijer K, Nuijten MJ. (2010) ‘Analysis of the health economic impact of medical nutrition in the Netherlands’. Eur J Clin 

Nutr.; 64(10):1229-34. 
137  Freijer K, Nuijten MJ, Schols JM. (2012) ‘The budget impact of oral nutritional supplements for disease related 

malnutrition in elderly in the community setting’. Front Pharmacol; 3:78.  

69

http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

48 
 

Raising awareness 

About two thirds of people with malnutrition are not recognised as being malnourished,138 and this is 

in part due to a lack of public awareness of the problem.  Many people mistakenly believe that 

becoming thinner is a natural part of ageing, and therefore fail to take appropriate action when the 

signs of malnutrition are first apparent.139  Older people, their families, and healthcare staff need to 

be educated on the signs and symptoms of malnutrition, how it can be tackled, and where help can 

be sought if required.140   Figure 14 illustrates common ‘touch points’ identified by the national 

‘Malnutrition Task Force’ where contact with older people is likely in the community.  Raising 

awareness with these groups should lead to better signposting of older people at risk of malnutrition 

to where they can get help and support. 

 

Figure 13: Common contacts for older people in the community 

 

                                                           
138  Stratton RJ, King CL, Stroud MA et al. (2006) 'Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool' predicts mortality and length of 

hospital stay in acutely ill elderly. Br J Nutr.;95(2):325-30. 
139  Malnutrition among older people in the community. Policy recommendations for change. The European Nutrition for 

Health Alliance. BAPEN. International Longevity Centre UK. 
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-
%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf  

140  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 
Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

Older 
individual

Libraries
Local 

pubs and 
cafes

Faith 
groups 

and 
churches

Voluntary 
organisations

Repair 
workmen

Bereavement 
services

Supermarkets, 
convenience 

stores

Safety officers 
eg firemen, 
community 

watch

Meal 
providers

Opticians, 
dentists, 

pharmacists, 
podiatrists

70

http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

49 
 

Source: Adapted from Malnutrition Task Force141 

 

 

Table 7 provides some key recommendations of the Malnutrition Task Force to raise awareness 

which were informed by consultation with older people and carers. The importance of good 

nutrition needs to be highlighted, but this may lead to confusion with anti-obesity messages.  Any 

advice encouraging older people to eat high energy, high fat, high sugar or high calorie food needs 

clear explanation.142  The Malnutrition Task Force has highlighted the importance of promoting 

positive messages about optimal nutrition, rather than focusing on ‘malnutrition’ which, as an 

unfamiliar concept to people, may be associated with neglect or poverty and interpreted as a 

pejorative term.  

 
Table 7: Key Recommendations to improve public awareness of the risks associated with malnutrition 

Recommendations to improve public awareness 

Raising the issue Avoid the term malnutrition  

 Consider alternatives: undernourished, underweight. 

 Use phrases which are easy to understand 

Messages about 

malnutrition 

Positive messages preferable 

 May be helpful to emphasise how to maintain healthy weight and 

independence 

 Important to dispel myth that weight loss is a normal part of ageing 

Communicating with 

carers 

Many carers are looking after older people who are malnourished, or at 

risk of malnutrition, but receiving no nutritional support 

 Nutrition can be a big source of worry and frustration for carers 

Healthy eating 

messages 

Conventional messages aiming to prevent obesity are taken on board by 

older people 

 Explanation is needed on healthy eating messages for older people who 

are not overweight 

 Messages emphasising small meals with snacks/milky drinks in between 

are useful 

Channels of 

communication 

Older people prefer human sources of information about food and eating 

 Healthy weight check by GPs suggested as the best means 

 Leaflets in health centres, pharmacies, and articles in local papers may 

also be useful. 

                                                           
141  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 

Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

142  Ibid.  
 

71

http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

50 
 

Source: Adapted from Malnutrition Task Force143 

 

Access to good nutrition 

Broad barriers to better nutrition include lifestyle factors, poverty, poor mobility and functional 

limitations.144  Optimal access to good nutrition is unique to each individual’s circumstances. 

Appropriate social help may include help with shopping, transport and support with eating and 

drinking. Some people may need access to meals via home delivery or help with finances and advice 

regarding benefits.145  The restoration of social networks can provide the motivation for good 

nutrition in older age, and community models used elsewhere have included lunch clubs and 

shopping clubs.146  Many of the social interventions can be accessed through voluntary organisations, 

social care, local authorities and private food or meal providers.  

Research suggests that in hospital settings, and potentially in care homes, access to good nutrition is 

often hampered by the structuring of the wards/residences, rather than by the food itself.  There 

may be organisational barriers (eg unsuitable serving times, menus not enabling informed decision-

making about what food meets patients’ needs); physical barriers (eg not in a comfortable position 

to eat, food out of reach, utensils or packaging presenting difficulties for eating); and environmental 

factors (eg staff interrupting during mealtimes, disruptive and noisy behaviour of other patients, 

unpleasant smells).147  

Raising awareness of malnutrition amongst hospital and care home staff is a key to enabling 

improved access to meals.  The Malnutrition Task Force recommend training for staff involved in 

care of older people, including sessions on screening for malnutrition and caring for those with 

complex needs such as dementia or dysphagia.148  Initiatives used elsewhere, and which are sought 

                                                           
143  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 

Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013   
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

144  Malnutrition among older people in the community. Policy recommendations for change. The European Nutrition for 
Health Alliance. BAPEN. International Longevity Centre UK. 
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-
%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf 

145  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 
Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

146  Malnutrition among older people in the community. Policy recommendations for change. The European Nutrition for 
Health Alliance. BAPEN. International Longevity Centre UK. 
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-
%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf 

147  Naithani S, Whelan K, Thomas J, et al. (2008) Hospital inpatients' experiences of access to food: a qualitative interview 
and observational study. Health Expect. 11(3):294-303.  

148  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 
Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

72

http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf
http://www.elderabuse.org.uk/Documents/Other%20Orgs/ILC%20Report%20-%20Malnutrition%20among%20Older%20People%20in%20the%20Community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

51 
 

by Age UK, include protected mealtimes (during which ward rounds and medication rounds do not 

take place) and the use of a red tray system to identify those in need of feeding assistance.149 

Integrating care for older people 

The care of older people and prevention of malnutrition is shared between health workers, carers, 

social workers and the voluntary sector among others.  Clear channels of communication are needed 

between these sectors, as well as with food providers and retailers.  Integration of care is regarded 

as a key component to preventing ill-health in the older and has been helpful in lowering rates of 

hospital bed use in parts of England previously.150 It has been emphasised by the NICE quality 

standard as being fundamental to the delivery of high-quality care.151 

Monitoring those at risk of malnutrition  

Monitoring of those at risk of malnutrition is a component of prevention which ensures that older 

people avoid adverse effects.  The Malnutrition Task Force has outlined a number of opportunities 

for this.152  In primary care, monitoring and recording of weight and risk of malnutrition are 

recommended for people with long term conditions and at times of routine review.  Development of 

a register of older people with a BMI < 20 is to be encouraged. Care homes and hospitals should 

screen people on admission, and keep a record of the proportion of people for whom weight has 

been recorded and monitored.  Organisations may choose to implement screening initiatives 

whereby repeat screens are undertaken when required on a set day of the week (eg ‘screening 

Sundays’).  Any system should be embedded within everyday practice and demonstrate compliance 

to the CQC standard.153  

Within adult social care, staff should be trained in nutrition care in order for screening and 

monitoring of nutritional status to be carried out.  Local health and wellbeing boards should agree to 

a set of nutrition indicators in order to establish whether interventions in place are having the 

desired effect in the community. 

4.3.5 NATIONAL GUIDANCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

NICE Guidance 

                                                           
149  Still hungry to be head. The scandal of older people in later life becoming malnourished in hospital. Age Concern. Age 

UK. http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/health-and-
wellbeing/id9489_still_hungry_to_be_heard_report_28ppa4.pdf?dtrk=true  

150  Imison C, Thompson J. Older people and emergency bed use: exploring variation. King’s Fund 2012. 
151  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. Food 

and Beverage Providers. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf  

152  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 
Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf  

153  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. Food 
and Beverage Providers. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

73

http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/health-and-wellbeing/id9489_still_hungry_to_be_heard_report_28ppa4.pdf?dtrk=true
http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-professionals/health-and-wellbeing/id9489_still_hungry_to_be_heard_report_28ppa4.pdf?dtrk=true
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

52 
 

NICE produced clinical guidelines on ‘Nutrition Support in Adults’ in 2006.154  The following key 

clinical priorities for implementation were outlined: 

 Screening for malnutrition, and those at risk of malnutrition should be carried out by healthcare 
professionals with appropriate skills and training. 

 All hospital inpatients, on admission and outpatients at their first clinic appointment, should be 
screened.  Screening should be repeated weekly for inpatients and when there is clinical concern 
for outpatients.  People in care homes should be screened on admission and when there is a 
clinical concern. 

 Hospital departments who identify groups of patients with low risk of malnutrition may opt out 
of screening these groups.  

 Nutrition support should be considered in people who are malnourished and in people at risk of 
malnutrition.  Potential swallowing problems should be taken into account. 

 All healthcare professionals who are directly involved in patient care should receive education 
and training, relevant to their post, on the importance of providing adequate nutrition. 

 Healthcare professionals should ensure that all people who need nutrition support receive co-
ordinated care from a multidisciplinary team. 

 All acute hospital trusts should employ at least one specialist nutrition support nurse. 

 All hospital trusts should have a nutrition steering committee working within the clinical 
governance framework. 

NICE published ‘QS24: Quality standard for nutrition support in adults’ in 2012.  This provides 

specific, concise quality statements, measures and audience descriptors to provide the public, health 

and social care professionals, commissioners and service providers with definitions of high-quality 

care.155  NICE also published ‘NICE support for commissioners and others using the quality standard 

on nutrition support in adults’ in 2012 in order to help the implementation of recommendations 

from NICE guidance.156  Table 13 summarises these quality statements and the overarching outcomes 

they contribute towards in the NHS Outcomes Framework and Adult Social Care Outcomes 

Framework. 

The CCG Outcome Indicator Set (CCG OIS) was updated in October 2013.157  At that time a set of 

proposed indicators of nutrition support was reviewed, and the value of indicators in this area was 

recognised. It was decided not to include the indicators for nutrition support in adults in the CCG OIS 

until further development of these indicators has taken place.158  NICE is to consider the possibility of 

further developing overarching outcomes indicators for nutrition support.  

 

  

                                                           
154  Nutrition Support in Adults (CG32). Oral nutrition support, enteral tube feeding and parenteral nutrition. NICE, 2006. 
155  QS24: Quality standard for nutrition support in adult. NICE. 2012. http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-standard-for-

nutrition-support-in-adults-qs24  
156  NICE support for commissioners and others using the quality standard on nutrition support in adults. NICE. 2012. 

http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/13977/61747/61747.pdf  
157  NICE CCG OIS indicator tracking document 2013. NICE. 

http://www.nice.org.uk/aboutnice/ccgois/CCGOIS.jsp?domedia=1&mid=1BA36F2A-D22E-A7C4-AC66D21CB048092B  
158  Clinical Commissioning Group Outcomes Indicator Set Advisory Committee. Unconfirmed minutes of the meeting held 

on Wednesday 2nd October 2013. http://www.nice.org.uk/media/F02/C4/OISMinutes02Oct2013.pdf  

74

http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-standard-for-nutrition-support-in-adults-qs24
http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-standard-for-nutrition-support-in-adults-qs24
http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/13977/61747/61747.pdf
http://www.nice.org.uk/aboutnice/ccgois/CCGOIS.jsp?domedia=1&mid=1BA36F2A-D22E-A7C4-AC66D21CB048092B
http://www.nice.org.uk/media/F02/C4/OISMinutes02Oct2013.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

53 
 

Table 8: Quality standard for nutrition support in adults, and the outcomes the quality statements 
contribute towards in the NHS Outcomes Framework and Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework. 

Quality Statements 

1 People in care settings are screened for the risk of malnutrition using a validated screening tool. 

2 People who are malnourished or at risk of malnutrition have a management care plan that aims to meet 

their nutritional requirements. 

3 All people who are screened for the risk of malnutrition have their screening results and nutrition support 

goals (if applicable) documented and communicated in writing within and between settings. 

4 People managing their own artificial nutrition support and/or their carers are trained to manage their 

nutrition delivery system and monitor their wellbeing. 

5 People receiving nutrition support are offered a review of the indications, route, risks, benefits and goals 

of nutrition support at planned intervals. 

Contribution of Quality statements to NHS Outcomes Framework 

- Preventing people from dying prematurely. 

- Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions. 

- Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury. 

- Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care. 

- Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm. 

Contribution of Quality statements to Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 

- Enhancing the quality of life for people with care and support needs. 

- Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care and support. 

- Safeguarding adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable and protecting from avoidable harm. 

Source: NICE159 

 

 

  

                                                           
159  QS24: Quality standard for nutrition support in adult. NICE. 2012. http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-

standard-for-nutrition-support-in-adults-qs24  

75

http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-standard-for-nutrition-support-in-adults-qs24
http://publications.nice.org.uk/quality-standard-for-nutrition-support-in-adults-qs24


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

54 
 

Improving Nutritional Care – Action Plan 

This joint action plan from the Department of Health and Nutrition Summit Stakeholder Group 

(2007) outlined five key priorities for action on malnutrition:160 

 To raise awareness of the link between nutrition and good health and that malnutrition can be 
prevented. 

 To ensure that accessible guidance is available across all sectors and that the most relevant 
guidance is appropriate and user-friendly.  

 To encourage nutritional screening for all people using health and social care services, paying 
particular attention to those groups that are known to be vulnerable. 

 To encourage provision and access to relevant training for front-line staff and managers on the 
importance of nutrition for good health and nutritional care. 

 To clarify standards and strengthen inspection and regulation. 

A range of actions were agreed to support each of the five key priorities for action. These included: 

(1) support and promote the Council of Europe Alliance (UK)’s 10 key characteristics of good 

nutritional care in hospitals, (2) a purpose-designed online training session on nutritional care and 

assistance with eating available to all NHS and social care staff, (3) commitment from the Nursing 

and Midwifery Council (NMC) that nutrition principles will be required to be assessed in practice as 

part of student nurse training, (4) the largest study ever undertaken on malnutrition on admission to 

hospital and care homes across the UK (by BAPEN). 

 

BAPEN Toolkit 

The British Association for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition (BAPEN) has produced a Toolkit 

‘Malnutrition Matters – Meeting Quality Standards in Nutritional Care’ (2012) to help clinical 

commissioning groups and providers ensure that nutritional issues are being met within all service 

plans and that best nutritional care is embedded in all UK health and care settings.161 The toolkit is 

designed to encourage commissioners and providers to: 

 Increase awareness of malnutrition. 

 Collate evidence on nutritional care in all settings, in order to support the case for nutritional 
care, as a fundamental indicator of quality. 

 Help commissioners to draw up service specifications that embed nutritional care in all services, 
and in all health and social care settings. 

 Reduce inequalities in nutritional care. 

 Provide guidance to service providers to enable them to embed nutritional care in all business 
cases for new services and development of existing services. 

                                                           
160  Improving nutritional care.  A joint Action Plan from the Department of Health and Nutrition Summit stakeholders. 

Department of Health. 2007. 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publi
cations/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_079931  

161  Brotherton A, Simmonds N & Stroud M. Malnutrition Matters. Meeting Quality Standards in Nutritional Care. BAPEN. 
2012. 

76

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_079931
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_079931


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

55 
 

 Facilitate assessment and monitoring of nutritionally related health outcomes. 

 Demonstrate value for money for nutritional care. 

Other sources of guidance and recommendations 

A multi-professional consensus panel produced a treatment guidance pathway ‘Managing Adult 

Malnutrition in the Community’ (2012) as a practical guide to support General Practitioners and 

other healthcare professionals in the community to identify and manage individuals at risk of 

disease-related malnutrition.162  This recommends use of MUST, and so risk of malnutrition is based 

on that which is defined by the screening tool. 

The Malnutrition Task Force (MTF) is comprised of an independent group of experts across health, 

social care and local government.  They have produced a Best Practice Principles and 

Implementation Guide for ‘Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention’ from the 

approach of the local community,163 hospitals,164 care homes,165 and food and beverage providers.166 

The key principles of best practice for providing good nutrition and hydration care outlined by MTF 

are: 

 Raising awareness to prevent and treat malnutrition and dehydration through education of older 
people, their families and front line staff. 

 Working together within teams, across organisational boundaries and across communities. 

 Identifying malnutrition in the individual and prevalence within organisations and across local 
communities. 

 Personalising care, support and treatment for every individual. 

 Monitoring and evaluating the individual and the processes in place to address malnutrition. 
 

Meeting people’s nutritional and hydration needs is a legal requirement for all organisations 

registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC).167  Regulation 14 of the Health and Social Care 

Act 2008 outlines that where food and hydration are provided to service users, it must be ensured 

                                                           
162  Managing Adult Malnutrition in the Community including a pathway for the appropriate use of oral nutritional 

supplements (ONS). Available from http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/  
163  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 

Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf 

164  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. 
Hospitals. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Hospital.pdf  

165  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. Care 
homes. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Care_Home.pdf  

166  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. Food 
and Beverage Providers. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf  

167  Provider compliance assessment tool – Outcome 5 (Regulation 14): Meeting nutritional needs. Care Quality 
Commission. 

77

http://www.malnutritionpathway.co.uk/
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Hospital.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Hospital.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Care_Home.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Care_Home.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

56 
 

that service users are “protected from the risks of inadequate nutrition and dehydration, by means 

of the provision of: (a) a choice of suitable and nutritious food and hydration, in sufficient quantities 

to meet service users’ needs; (b) food and hydration that meet any reasonable requirements arising 

from a service user’s religious or cultural background; (c) support, where necessary, for the purposes 

of enabling service users to eat and drink sufficient amounts for their needs.”168 

 

4.4 LOCAL ACTION: WHAT ARE OUR LOCAL ASSETS?  

4.4.1 HOSPITAL-BASED SERVICES IN PETERBOROUGH 

There are several examples of good practice underway in Peterborough City Hospital in terms of 

prevention of malnutrition and also education of medical, nursing and allied healthcare staff. 

Protected Meal Times  

Protected meal times are considered by Age UK to be a key step in preventing malnutrition in 

hospitals.  They should ensure that disruption to patients is minimised when given meals, and should 

include offers of assistance to patients with handwashing, positioning in bed/chair, and feeding.  

Protected meal times are in operation at Peterborough City Hospital. Food is always available and 

can be ordered at any time, 24 hours a day, if meals have been missed. Meal times are sometimes 

inevitably interrupted due to urgent procedures or drug rounds.  

Mealtime support 

In Peterborough City Hospital modified menus are available for those patients requiring softer foods, 

along with special menus for those with allergies or special dietary requirements. Finger foods and 

coloured crockery are made available for patients with dementia if they prefer to eat this way. Every 

patient has an information board by their room/bed to identify those who need extra assistance 

with feeding and those who need monitoring using a food chart.   

Screening 

In-patients in Peterborough City Hospital are screened on admission using MUST and placed on the 

appropriate nutrition care plan. Patients are re-screened weekly, or after three days if identified at 

high risk of malnutrition. Screening is part of the Nursing Quality Metrics and is monitored and 

audited monthly.  Screening is not routinely done in the Out Patients Department for all services, but 

as a minimum, weight, height and BMI should be recorded on the patient’s electronic record at each 

attendance to enable any change in weight to be identified. 

 

 

                                                           
168  Malnutrition in Later Life: Prevention and Early Intervention. Best Practice Principles & Implementation Guide. A Local 

Community Approach. Malnutrition Task Force 2013. 
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutritio
n_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf  

78

http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf
http://www.malnutritiontaskforce.org.uk/downloads/other_resources/Prevention_Early_Intervention_Of_Malnutrition_in_Later_Life_Local_community.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

57 
 

Nutrition Champions 

In Peterborough City Hospital each ward has a nominated Nutrition Link Nurse. They attend regular 

update sessions with the Nutrition Nurse Specialist and Lead Nutrition Support Dietitian. Nutrition 

Link Nurses are encouraged to share examples of good practice, as well as highlighting barriers to 

optimal practice.  

Nutrition Steering Group and Mealtime Volunteers 

There is a Nutrition Steering Committee in Peterborough City Hospital which involves clinicians, 

dietitians, nutrition nurse specialists, matrons and catering. This meets on alternate months. There is 

a Meal Time Companion volunteers initiative in operation, but not on all wards. 

Nutrition Focus Week 

Peterborough City Hospital has an annual Nutrition and Hydration Week which is run by Catering in 

conjunction with the dietitians. 

Discharge from hospital 

Patients who may require ONS are discharged from Peterborough City Hospital with a one-week 

supply of this.  After this time patients are either followed up via telephone call from the dietetics 

teams or else community dietitians assess whether there is an ongoing need for the Office of 

National Statistics (ONS) or other dietary input.   

4.4.2 COMMUNITY-BASED INITIATIVES IN PETERBOROUGH 

There are a few community initiatives in Peterborough which are directly aimed at preventing 

malnutrition among older people.  However, many of the risk factors for malnutrition may be 

prevented or alleviated through general community services aimed at providing support for older 

people.  Several of these initiatives are aimed at keeping older people active, independent, and 

reducing levels of isolation. 

Training of care home staff 

Community dietitians in Peterborough have worked with care homes to train staff in the use of 

screening tools (eg MUST). Guidance is provided to care home staff on taking a food-first approach 

to preventing malnutrition, and producing home-made nutritional supplements. To support this 

approach, people living in care homes in Peterborough are no longer prescribed ONS. This is part of 

the MUST care plan in Peterborough care homes. Meal audits should be undertaken in care homes 

to assure CQC compliance and ensure that patients are fed good food in a supportive environment.  

Nutrition link workers have been trained for the majority of care homes and have bi-annual 

refresher training. Nutrition link workers should ensure good implementation of systems in care 

homes and contact the dietetic service if residents’ nutritional status deteriorates.  A new residential 

home training initiative is being piloted to train staff to better prevent, screen and manage early 

malnutrition, alongside training for pressure ulcer care, continence and foot care as a rolling 

programme that is being offered county-wide.  Community dietitians have produced posters for care 

79



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

58 
 

homes to provide nutrition support for those at medium or high risk of malnutrition, as identified by 

a MUST score of one or above. Care plans, recipes and other resources are also available. 

Advice and information on malnutrition  

In addition to their clinical roles, community dietitians in Peterborough provide materials to support 

older people living at home and their families and carers to prevent malnutrition. These materials 

include booklets on eating well with a reduced appetite, and how to make homemade supplements.  

Booklets contain simple recipes using enriched milk and high-calorie ingredients. They encourage 

fortification of foods using skimmed milk, powder, sugar, double cream, syrup, butter and other 

simple supermarket ingredients.  Recipes are presented in a visually appealing manner and are easy 

to follow.  These booklets are made available to GP surgeries and individuals who are referred to the 

community dietitians, but their reach is unclear. 

Peterborough Council for Voluntary Services (PCVS) 

Peterborough Council for Voluntary Service is an umbrella organisation for the voluntary sector in 

Peterborough169. It exists to provide membership and services to local voluntary and community 

groups and acts as an infrastructure organisation to help strengthen the local voluntary sector. It has 

a Wellbeing Service which facilitates access and information to a range of services to older people to 

optimise health, and enable independent living.  Although the focus of the services is not directly on 

the prevention of malnutrition, and their workers do not receive training to identify those at risk, 

their actions may encourage good nutrition practices. Furthermore the services have the potential to 

contribute towards the primary prevention of malnutrition by reducing risk factors such as social 

isolation, loneliness, depression, anxiety and others as the services may provide social contact and 

an opportunity for volunteers to flag concerns if an older person is at risk of malnutrition. For 

example, services such as luncheon clubs enable older people to get a hot meal during the day in a 

sociable context.  

The voluntary sector services promoted by PCVS include (not an exhaustive list): 

 Community car schemes: 
o Royal Voluntary Service (RVS)(provides a social car scheme for people living within 

the Peterborough City Council boundary)  
o Dial a Ride (a door to door minibus service which transports older people from their 

homes to shopping areas) 

 Luncheon Clubs – Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Age UK170 and Ever Green Care Trust.171 

 Friendship clubs – Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Age UK provide 10 friendship clubs 
across Peterborough and the clubs often provide a meal.172  

 Befriending services – Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Age UK provides a befriending 
service.173  

 

 

                                                           
169 http://www.pcvs.co.uk/peterborough-wellbeing-service/ 
170 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cambridgeshireandpeterborough/our-services/peterborough-services/day-care-services/ 
171 http://www.evergreencare.org.uk/services/paid-for-services 
172 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cambridgeshireandpeterborough/our-services/peterborough-services/friendship-clubs/ 
173 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cambridgeshireandpeterborough/our-services/peterborough-services/befriending-service/ 

80



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

59 
 

 Community meal delivery services (‘meals on wheels’) including: 
o CAMMS (Cambridge outlying villages),174  
o OWL (Hinxton, Ickleton, Duxford, Whittlesford, Little and Great Shelford, Stapleford, 

Pampisford and Sawston),175  
o Meals to go (Wisbech, March and surrounding villages),176  
o Wiltshire Farm Foods,177  
o And Oakhouse Foods.178   

 Day Centres:  
o Orton Day Care,179 
o Butterfield Day Centre.180 

 Help at home – Ever Green Care Trust provides a wealth of services including home support 
and care, hospital to home service, and befriending.181 

 

An extensive directory of services within Peterborough is currently being compiled. Peterborough 

CVS is currently working on a Local Information Project in conjunction with Peterborough City 

Council and Cambridgeshire County Council to bring together all of the information on the PCVS 

directory of services to a central point that can be accessed by public, the local authority and 

statutory services. The PCVS directory has been updated following a community mapping project 

which micro-mapped 34 square kilometres of central Peterborough to pinpoint community 

activities.  

4.4.3 ACADEMIC WORK AND PROFESSIONAL NETWORKS 

There is considerable academic work being done on healthy eating as part of health ageing.  Much of 

the focus of this research is around dementia, and prevention aspects of malnutrition may be only 

addressed indirectly within other research themes.  

The Centre for Diet and Activity Research (CEDAR) in Cambridge University conducts research on 

dietary influences for healthy ageing.  CEDAR has recently found associations between social 

isolation and lower consumption of fruit and vegetables in older people.182 The key findings included: 

 Partnership effects. In older adults, being single or widowed decreased the daily variety of 

fruit and vegetables eaten compared to being married or living as married.  

 Gender differences. Marital status affected the variety of vegetables eaten in men more 

than it did in women.  Single, separated and widowed men ate fewer different vegetables 

than women in similar circumstances.  

                                                           
174  CAMMS Meals on wheels. http://www.cammsltduk.org/  
175  OWL Meals-2-you. Papworth Trust. http://www.papworth.org.uk/downloads/owlinsertmealstoyou_110822120129.pdf  
176  Meals To Go in Wisbech and beyond. http://www.mealstogo-wisbech.co.uk/  
177  Wiltshire Farm Foods. Taking care of mealtimes. http://www.wiltshirefarmfoods.com/about-us  
178  Oakhouse Foods. Delicious meals and desserts direct to your door. http://www.oakhousefoods.co.uk/about-us  
179  http://www.ageuk.org.uk/cambridgeshireandpeterborough/our-services/peterborough-services/day-care-services/ 
180  http://www.thebutterfield.plus.com/daycare.html 
181  http://www.evergreencare.org.uk/ 
182  Multiple social ties and healthy eating in older people. Findings from the EPIC-Norfolk study. Evidence Brief. CEDAR. 

October 2013. http://www.cedar.iph.cam.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Evidence-Brief-older-people-social-ties-
diet-v1.0.pdf  

81

http://www.cammsltduk.org/
http://www.papworth.org.uk/downloads/owlinsertmealstoyou_110822120129.pdf
http://www.mealstogo-wisbech.co.uk/
http://www.wiltshirefarmfoods.com/about-us
http://www.oakhousefoods.co.uk/about-us
http://www.cedar.iph.cam.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Evidence-Brief-older-people-social-ties-diet-v1.0.pdf
http://www.cedar.iph.cam.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Evidence-Brief-older-people-social-ties-diet-v1.0.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

60 
 

 Effects on marital status from other social ties. The role of marital status in healthy eating 

was altered when a second social tie was considered.  Both living alone and having less 

frequent contact with friends increased the effect of widowhood on reducing vegetable 

variety.  

 Friend contact and living arrangement. There was a combined influence of friend contact 

and living arrangement on vegetable variety.  Not only did living alone reduce an older 

adult’s variety of fruits and vegetables, but also eating fewer different vegetables each day 

was worse among lone-dwellers with infrequent contact with friends. 

This makes a compelling case for the important role that social isolation may play in optimising 

nutrition in older people. 

Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) for Cambridgeshire and 

Peterborough was launched in October 2013.  One component of the research underway as part of 

this is the Eating and Drinking well in Dementia (Edwina) project.  This study aims to increase 

understanding of the problems around nutrition and hydration for people with dementia, and the 

solutions that may help them. 

The high standard of academic work being produced locally, and the emphasis on healthy ageing by 

several research groups, provides a potentially valuable resource for malnutrition in older people.  

Evidence-informed interventions should be trialled and evaluated, ideally in collaboration with 

academic colleagues, in order to advance knowledge on how malnutrition can be best prevented.  

4.4.4 LOCAL VIEWS 

The stakeholder event did not illicit local views and future opportunities specifically focussed on 

malnutrition.  

 

4.5 FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES  

There is limited data on malnutrition in older people in Peterborough, and possibilities for 

addressing that would allow determination of the areas and groups at highest risk of malnutrition in 

Peterborough for targeted prevention and early intervention services. 

The majority of those who are at risk of malnutrition are living in the community and there will be 

benefits to maintaining resources in the community for prevention of malnutrition, such as, 

community dietetic services, home help schemes, community navigators, lunch clubs, day care 

centres, and shopping support services.  Work underway to create a single point of access directory 

of services would be useful for the mapping of provision, including any gaps.  

Links could be strengthened further between those in direct contact with vulnerable older people 

and community dietitians and other health professionals in order to increase awareness of 

malnutrition and facilitate prevention efforts in the community.  There is a need to raise public 

awareness of malnutrition in older people using positive messages around healthy eating and 

information to enable families, carers and other contacts to spot signs of malnutrition.  Furthermore, 

82



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  MALNUTRITION 

61 
 

a lack of awareness of the problem and services hinders engagement and access to support.  This 

could be improved by raising awareness amongst older adults, their families and GPs about the 

service available in the community.  

Older people who are discharged from hospital, and deemed to be at risk of malnutrition would 

benefit from a clear pathway for follow-up support, particularly in the case of older people who live 

independently and are at risk and may not engage with support services.  

Care homes need to ensure that all residents are being screened using a validated screening tool.  

Older people at risk of malnutrition need to be carefully monitored for their risk using a system 

which is embedded within everyday practice in care homes and primary care or hospital settings.  

There are opportunities to integrate efforts to prevent malnutrition with other care to prevent ill-

health in the older.  There may be opportunities for greater liaison between public health services 

and clinical services to encourage exchange and dissemination of expert knowledge of nutrition 

support, including primary prevention approaches.  Evidence-informed interventions for prevention 

of malnutrition could be trialled and evaluated in collaboration with academic colleagues in 

Cambridgeshire in order to advance knowledge. 

 

83



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

62 
 

5. SMOKING 

 

5.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY - SMOKING 

Smoking is the primary cause of preventable and premature death in England, responsible for 

approximately 79,500 deaths annually between 2012 and 2014.  Nearly one in five adults in England 

aged 16 and over were smokers in 2015 (17.9%) The lowest smoking prevalence, by age group, is 

among those aged 65 and over (9.9%). 

The difference between this age group and other age groups has historically been smaller, and is the 

result of a combination of factors including death before age 60 from both smoking and other causes 

of death, and higher smoking cessation rates amongst older people. A recent systematic review of 

the evidence on smoking cessation in people aged 65 years and over concludes that smoking 

cessation significantly improves health and reduces mortality for all ages.  

In 2015, it is estimated there were nearly 26,500 smokers in Peterborough aged 18 or over (18.1%).  

Using national estimates for the older population, this suggests there were 3,700 smokers aged 60 

years or above (national estimate of 10.1%). 

There are no specific recommendations for reaching or delivering services specifically to older 

populations; smoking cessation interventions known to be effective in the general population have 

been found to be effective with older smokers across a variety of treatment methods. 

Of the smokers Peterborough Stop Smoking service sees, 11% were aged 65 and older in between 

2014/15 and 2016/17. In Peterborough the overall ‘quit rate’ in people of all ages is 77% (a high 

success rate given the national average is 50%), and this is 6% better among those aged 60 and older 

(83%). The proportion of smokers in this age group who are lost to follow-up is similar to other age 

groups.  

Increasing access to stop smoking services should be encouraged for older smokers.  Local feedback 

suggests it might be important to emphasise the continued health benefits of quitting at older ages 

and that it is ‘never too late to quit’.  There are significant opportunities to encourage referral or 

signpost older adults to stop smoking services from a broad range of settings including primary care, 

social care, community and acute health care, housing, and community interest groups. 

5.2 KEY FINDINGS 

Smoking is the primary cause of preventable and premature death in England, responsible for 

approximately 79,500 deaths annually between 2012 and 2014.  Nearly one in five adults in England 

aged 16 and over were smokers in 2015 (17.9%). The lowest smoking prevalence, by age group, is 

among those aged 65 and over (9.9%). 

The difference between this age group and other age groups has historically been smaller, and is the 

result of a combination of factors including death before age 60 from both smoking and other causes 

of death, and higher smoking cessation rates amongst older people. A recent systematic review of 

84



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

63 
 

the evidence on smoking cessation in people aged 65 years and over concludes that smoking 

cessation significantly improves health and reduces mortality for all ages.  

In 2015, it is estimated there were nearly 26,500 smokers in Peterborough aged 18 or over (18.1%).  

Using national estimates for the older population, this suggests there were 3,700 smokers aged 60 

years or above (national estimate of 10.1%). 

There are no specific recommendations for reaching or delivering services specifically to older 

populations; smoking cessation interventions known to be effective in the general population have 

been found to be effective with older smokers across a variety of treatment methods. 

Of the smokers Peterborough Stop Smoking service sees, 11% were aged 65 and older between 

2014/15 and 2016/17. In Peterborough the overall ‘quit rate’ in people of all ages is 77% (a high 

success rate given the national average is 50%), and this is 6% better among those aged 60 and older 

(83%). The proportion of smokers in this age group who are lost to follow-up is similar to other age 

groups.  

Increasing access to stop smoking services should be encouraged for older smokers.  Local feedback 

suggests it might be important to emphasise the continued health benefits of quitting at older ages 

and that it is ‘never too late to quit’.  There are significant opportunities to encourage referral or 

signpost older adults to stop smoking services from a broad range of settings including primary care, 

social care, community and acute health care, housing, and community interest groups. 

5.3 CONTEXT: WHY IS SMOKING IMPORTANT? 

Reducing tobacco use is one of the most important actions that can be taken to improve health. 

Tobacco is addictive and harms the people that use it, those around them and communities. 

Smoking remains the leading cause of preventable and premature death in England, responsible for 

approximately 79,500 deaths annually between 2012 and 2014.183   

Nearly one in five adults in England aged 16 and over were smokers in 2015 (17.9%). The lowest 

smoking prevalence, by age group, is among those aged 65 and over (9.9%). The difference between 

this older age group and other age groups has historically been smaller, and is the result of a 

combination of factors including death before age 65 from both smoking and other causes of death, 

and higher smoking cessation rates amongst older people. 

Smoking remains the leading cause of preventable death and disease in England, accounting for 

more preventable deaths than the following five preventable causes, combined.  Over 78,200 deaths 

in England each year in those aged 35 years and over are caused by smoking. That equates to 18% of 

deaths in this age group. Smoking is also one of the most significant factors that has an impact on 

health inequalities and ill-health, with an estimated 454,700 hospital admissions for people aged 35 

years and older estimated to be attributable to smoking.184  

                                                           
183   Office for National Statistics (2015). Adult smoking habits in the UK: 2016.  Available at: 

https://cy.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/datasets/adult
smokinghabitsinengland 

184  Health and Social Care Information centre. (2015). Statistics on Smoking: England, 2015. Available at: 
http://www.content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB17526/stat-smok-eng-2015-rep.pdf 

85



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

64 
 

Smoking dramatically reduces both life expectancy and quality of life and on average smokers lose 

about 10 years of life.185  Half of long-term smokers die from tobacco related illnesses, most 

prematurely whilst still in middle age (35-69 years), and many more suffer from a variety of chronic 

conditions related to smoking.3,186,187  Most smoking-related deaths are from lung cancer, chronic 

obstructive pulmonary disease (incorporating both emphysema and chronic bronchitis), and 

cardiovascular disease.  Cigarette smoking is implicated in eight of the top 14 causes of death for 

older adults.188   

Smoking causes disabling and fatal disease. It also accelerates the rate of decline of bone density 

during ageing.185 At the age of 70, smokers have less dense bones and a higher risk of fractures than 

non-smokers.  Female smokers are at greater risk for post-menopausal osteoporosis.  Continuing to 

smoke in later life is associated with the development and progression of some major chronic 

conditions, loss of mobility, and poorer physical function.189  In 2004 the US Surgeon General 

concluded that smoking is a cause of the diseases and other adverse health effects in older adults 

listed in Table 9. 

Table 9: Disease and Other Adverse Health Effects in Older Adults for which smoking is identified as 
causal by the US Surgeon General: 

 

Source: USHHS, 2004188 

Smoking kills about 255 people in Peterborough each year.190 This is an average of nearly five deaths 

every week. 

 

 

                                                           
185  US Department of Health and Human Services. (2010). How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and 

Behavioural Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA. Available from: 
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53017/  

186  Doll, R, Peto, R, Wheatley, K, Gray, R, Sutherland, I. (1994). Mortality in relation to smoking: 40 years’ observations on 
male British doctors. BMJ. 309:901-11.  

187  Doll, R, Peto, R, Boreham, J, & Sutherland, I. (2004). Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years’ observations on male 
British doctors. BMJ. Available from: http://www.bmj.com/content/328/7455/1519.pdf%2Bhtml  

188   US Department of Health and Human Services (2004). U.S. Surgeon General’s Report: The Health Consequences of 
Smoking: A Report of the Surgeon General. U. S. Department of Health and Human Services. Available at: 
http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/2004/complete_report/index.htm  

189  LaCroix, A.Z. & Omenn, O.S. (1992). Older adults and smoking. Clin Geriatr Med. 8(1): 69-87. 
190  PHE (Public Health England). (2016). Health Profiles 2016, Peterborough. Available at: 

http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e06000031.pdf 

Cancers Cardiovascular disease Respiratory disease Other

Bladder Abdominal aortic aneurysm Chronic obstructive Cataract

Cervical Atherosclerosis pulmonary disease Diminished health status/morbidity

Kidney Cerebrovascular disease Hip fractures

Laryngeal Coronary heart disease Low bone density/Osteoporosis

Lung Peptic ulcer disease

Oral

Pancreatic

Stomach

Acute respiratory 

illness, such as 

pneumonia. 

Respiratory effects 

(eg coughing, 

phlegm, wheezing 

and dyspnea)

86

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK53017/
http://www.bmj.com/content/328/7455/1519.pdf%2Bhtml
http://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/sgr/2004/complete_report/index.htm
http://fingertipsreports.phe.org.uk/health-profiles/2016/e06000031.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

65 
 

5.4  DATA: WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT SMOKING LEVELS LOCALLY? 

The Government strategy, Healthy Lives, healthy people: A Tobacco Control Plan for England191 set 

out an assessment of what could be delivered through national action, supported and associated 

with locally driven comprehensive tobacco control practice. The plan’s ambition of reducing smoking 

prevalence among adults in England to 18.5% or less by the end of 2015 has been achieved with 

2015 data showing national prevalence of 17.9%.   The 2015 ASH report Smoking Still Kills advocates 

an ambition to reduce smoking in the adult population to 13% by 2020 and 9% by 2025.192 

Nearly one in five adults in England aged 16 and over were smokers in 2015 (17.9%). The lowest 

smoking prevalence, by age group, is among those aged 65 and over (9.9%). 

In the UK, between 2010 and 2015 there have been reductions in the proportion of current smokers 

across all age groups.  Amongst people aged 65 and over smoking prevalence has reduced from 11% 

in 2010 to 9.9% in 2015  (Figure 14). 

Figure 14: Proportion (%) of current smokers 2010 to 2015 by age group, UK 

 

Source: Annual Population Survey, Office for National Statistics 

 
  

                                                           
191   https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213757/dh_124960.pdf 
192   http://www.ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH_962.pdf 

87

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213757/dh_124960.pdf
http://www.ash.org.uk/files/documents/ASH_962.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

66 
 

Nationally, in 2015, older people in Great Britain were more likely to quit smoking than younger 

people.  As people get older they are more likely to have quit – partly reflecting that they had more 

time to do so. In 2015, of those aged 60 years and above 77.9% had quit smoking whereas 23.3% of 

those aged 16 to 24 years had quit (Figure 15). 

Figure 15: Proportion of those who are current smokers or who have quit by age 

 

Source: Opinions and Lifestyle Survey 193 

 

Smoking rates in Peterborough have been declining over recent years. In 2012 one in four (20.7%) 

adults in Peterborough smoked.  In 2015 smoking prevalence amongst adults aged 18 and over is 

estimated to be 18.1%.  In terms of number of people smoking in 2015 this equates to 26,500 people 

of whom 2,500 are estimated to be over 65 years or 3,700 people aged over 60 years.  The figures 

for the older population are calculated using national data since there is no local estimate. 

Figure 16: Smoking prevalence among persons aged 18 years and over Trend 2012-2015 (%) 

 

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework indicator 2.14 www.phoutcomes.info/ prevalence estimates from Annual 
Population Survey (APS)  

                                                           
193  Adult smoking habits in the UK: 2015. Office for National Statistics. Available at: 

https://cy.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adult
smokinghabitsingreatbritain/2015 

 

88

http://www.phoutcomes.info/
https://cy.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2015
https://cy.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/adultsmokinghabitsingreatbritain/2015


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

67 
 

 

Smoking rates among routine and manual workers have also declined and in Peterborough are 

25.6% which is below the national average of 26.5%. However, in Peterborough there are still some 

key populations with particularly high smoking rates including women who smoke in pregnancy 

(around 15% against the national average of under 11%) and Eastern European communities who 

are key areas of focus for Peterborough as well as ensuring that we maintain the trend of reducing 

smoking rates across the whole Peterborough population. 

The dashboard below shows that Peterborough has a statistically worse smoking attributable 

mortality rate than the national average and the rate of smoking attributable hospital admissions is 

also worse than the national average along with emergency hospital admissions for COPD. 

 

Figure 17: Tobacco Control Indicators Dashboard, Public Health England, March 2017 

 

 

 

Source: Public Health England www.phoutcomes.info/ 

  

89

http://www.phoutcomes.info/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

68 
 

5.5 ECONOMIC COSTS OF SMOKING 

Each year in England research estimates that smoking costs society approximately £13.74 billion.194  

The estimated annual economic cost of smoking in Peterborough is £50.7 million195 (Figure 18); 

mainly as a result of lost workforce productivity, together with costs to the NHS and other public 

sector organisations.  

 
Figure 18: Estimated cost of smoking in Peterborough (£ millions) 

 

Source: Action on Smoking and Health, 2013196 

 

5.6   EVIDENCE BASE: WHAT WORKS? WHAT IS RECOMMENDED? 

Many of the negative health effects of smoking can be reversed with smoking cessation.  Doll et al 

(2004)187 reported on a 50 year cohort study examining the impact of smoking cessation on survival 

in a large cohort of British male doctors, (1951 to 2001).  The study found that quitting smoking 

beyond middle age still had a positive effect on total mortality. Overall, the study found that 

stopping smoking at age 50 halved the hazards of smoking; cessation at 30 avoided almost all of it.  

Stopping smoking at age 60, 50, 40, or 30 gains, respectively, about three, six, nine, or 10 years of 

life expectancy.  Smokers who quit at 65 to 74 years of age had age-specific mortality rates beyond 

75 years which were lower than smokers who do not quit.  The grey dotted lines in Figure 19 show 

the benefits in years gained in the men who stopped smoking in the previous decade. 

                                                           
194  Nash, R, & Featherstone, H.  (2010). Cough Up: Balancing tobacco income and costs in society. Policy Exchange.  

Available from: http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/publications/cough%20up%20-%20march%2010.pdf  
195  Ash (Action on Smoking and Health) (2013). The Local Cost of Smoking. Available from: 

http://www.ash.org.uk/localtoolkit/  
196  Ash (Action on Smoking and Health) (2013). The Local Cost of Smoking. Available from: 

http://www.ash.org.uk/localtoolkit/ 

£0.39

£0.73

£3.74

£4.51

£5.89

£13.93

£21.54

£0.0 £5.0 £10.0 £15.0 £20.0 £25.0

Passive smoking

Smoking-related fires

Lost productivity (sick days)

Smoking-related social care

Smoking-related disease (NHS)

Lost productivity (early deaths)

Lost productivity (smoking breaks)

Cost to society (£millions)

Estimated cost of smoking in Peterborough (£millions)

Peterborough UA

90

http://www.policyexchange.org.uk/images/publications/cough%20up%20-%20march%2010.pdf
http://www.ash.org.uk/localtoolkit/
http://www.ash.org.uk/localtoolkit/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

69 
 

A contemporary systematic review of the evidence for the benefits of smoking cessation in people 

aged 60 years and older, concludes smoking cessation significantly improves health and reduces 

mortality for all ages.197 

Figure 19: Effects on survival of stopping smoking in the previous decade 

a.  Former smoker, stopped aged 35-44 

 

 
  

                                                           
197  Gellert C, Schöttker B, Brenner H (2012) Smoking and all-cause mortality in older people: Systematic review and meta-

analysis. Arch Intern. Med 172 (11):837-844.  

91



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

70 
 

b. Former smoker, stopped aged 45-54 

 

 

c. Former smoker, stopped smoking aged 55-64 

 
  

92



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

71 
 

d. Former smoker, stopped smoking aged 65-74 

 

Source: (Adapted from Doll et al, 1994; pp 901-11).186 

In summary, by successfully stopping smoking, people can avoid smoking-related diseases and live 
longer, whatever their age.198 The table below demonstrates the benefits in terms of life expectancy 
and associated overall health associated with stopping smoking: 

Figure 20: Benefits in terms of life expectancy and associated overall health associated with smoking 

Age at which stopped smoking Years of life gained 

30 10 

40 9 

50 6 

60 3 

Source: HM Government ‘Healthy Lives, Healthy People: A Tobacco Control Plan for England’ 

 

                                                           
198 UK Govt: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213757/dh_124960.pdf 

93



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

72 
 

Although smoking cessation services were provided sporadically beforehand, the 1998 White Paper 

Smoking Kills199 made them comprehensive and more widespread throughout Britain by 2000.  Since 

then the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) and the Department of Health 

(DoH) have produced, and regularly update, best practice guidance on smoking cessation service 

delivery and monitoring (Table 10).  A systematic review by Bauld and colleagues200 has shown that 

Stop Smoking Services (SSS) in the UK and treatments for smoking cessation are effective in helping 

smokers to quit.  When the effectiveness of the stop smoking services in England was assessed it 

found that 15% of those smokers making a quit attempt through a SSS, had quit at one year.196 In 

comparison, the 12-month quit rate among people who attempt to quit unaided is estimated to be 

about 4%.201 

Within the guidance there are no specific recommendations for reaching or delivering stop smoking 

services specifically to older populations, but there is no evidence to suggest that general smoking 

cessation services are not appropriate for delivering, or reaching, this population group.  An 

investigation as to whether treatments are equally effective for smokers over the age of 50 found 

that smoking cessation interventions that have been shown to be effective in the general population 

have also been shown to be effective with older smokers across a variety of treatment methods.202  

These include counselling interventions, physician advice, buddy-support programmes, age-tailored 

self-help materials, and proactive telephone counselling (which are important as mobility may be an 

issue for some older people).  The success rate of giving up smoking generally increases with age, 

and in England (April 2015 – March 2016) this increased from 43% for those aged under 18, to 57% 

of those aged 60 and over.203 

Table 10: Guidance on smoking cessation204 

NICE smoking and tobacco guidance 

PH1 – Brief interventions and referral for smoking cessation 

PH5 – Workplace interventions to promote smoking cessation 

PH6 – Behaviour change – the principles for effective interventions 

PH9 – Community engagement 

PH10 – Smoking cessation services 

PH14 – Preventing the uptake of smoking by children and young people 

PH15 - Identifying and supporting people most at risk of dying prematurely 

                                                           
199 DoH (Department of Health). (1998). Smoking Kills; A white paper on tobacco. HM Government. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-white-paper-on-tobacco  
200 Bauld, L (2010). The effectiveness of NHS smoking cessation services: a systematic review. Journal of Public Health. 

32(1): 71-82. Available from: http://intl-jpubhealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/32/1/71.full  
201 Hughes JR, Keely J, Naud S. (2004). Shape of the relapse curve and long-term abstinence among untreated smokers. 

Addiction.  99(1):29-38. Available from: 
http://content.digital.nhs.uk/searchcatalogue?productid=21374&q=Statistics+on+NHS+Stop+Smoking+Services&sort=
Relevance&size=10&page=1#top 

202  Fiore, M.C. (2000). US public health service clinical practice guidelines: treating tobacco use and dependence. 
Respiratory Care. 45 (10): 1200-62.  

203  Health and Social Care Information Centre (2016). NHS Stop Smoking Services: England, April 2015-March 2016. Office 
for National Statistics. Available from: http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB11454  

204  NICE guidance, technical appraisals, and quality standards all accessible from the NICE website, available at: 
http://www.nice.org.uk 

 

94

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-white-paper-on-tobacco
http://intl-jpubhealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/32/1/71.full
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB11454
http://www.nice.org.uk/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

73 
 

PH23 – School based interventions to prevent smoking 

PH26 – Quitting smoking in pregnancy and following childbirth 

PH39 – Smokeless tobacco cessation: South Asian communities 

PH45 – Tobacco Harm reduction 

PH48 – Smoking cessation in secondary care and 

Technical appraisals (NICE) 

TA123 – Smoking cessation – varenicline 

TA39 replaced by PH10 – smoking cessation – buproprion and nicotine replacement therapy 

Quality standards (NICE) 

QS43 – Smoking cessation - supporting people to stop smoking 

QS10 – Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) quality standard 

Department of Health  

Local stop smoking services – service delivery and monitoring guidance 2011/12  

Local stop smoking services – Key updates to the 2011/12 service delivery and monitoring guidance for 2012/13 tobacco 
ance 

Source: http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/lifestyle-and-wellbeing/smoking-and-tobacco 

 

The Health Improvement domain of the Public Health Outcomes Framework (2013-2016) has the 

objective that people are helped to live healthy lifestyles, make healthy choices and reduce health 

inequalities.  This is supported by a set of indicators for tracking progress including three smoking 

specific indicators; smoking status at time of delivery, smoking prevalence (15 year olds), and 

smoking prevalence adult (over 18 years of age).205  

5.7 LOCAL ACTION: WHAT ARE OUR LOCAL ASSETS?   

Since 1 April 2017, a new Healthy Lifestyles Delivery Service has been in place in Peterborough led by 

Solutions4Health who are the largest independent provider of Smoking Cessation Services in 

England.  The service will provide interventions which support individuals to modify their behaviour 

and to reduce the risk factors that contribute to early death and reduce quality of life.  

The new service is based in the heart of the community with access points to smoking cessation (and 

other integrated lifestyle) services developed across Peterborough in GP practices, pharmacies, 

schools and community settings.206   The service will target harder to reach communities and those 

populations with higher smoking prevalence to improve both uptake and outcomes.  Services will be 

delivered alongside a range of innovative campaigns which will be taken directly into communities 

raising awareness and providing specialist advice on quitting smoking.   

                                                           
205  Data on smoking in Peterborough for the Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF) indicators is available at: 

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework 
206  http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/Aug-2016/stop-smoking/local-stop-smoking-support 

95

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/lifestyle-and-wellbeing/smoking-and-tobacco
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework
http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/Aug-2016/stop-smoking/local-stop-smoking-support


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

74 
 

Other assets locally are all those individuals and services that refer individual smokers into the 

Peterborough service, including health providers, voluntary and community organisations, and 

individuals.  

Alongside this, Peterborough City Council is committed to delivering a strategy of Tobacco Control, 

including measures such as increasing the provision of smoke free environments to ensure we offer 

the best possible chance for Peterborough residents to improve their health and wellbeing.   

Information on the benefits of quitting smoking207 can be accessed via the link 

www.healthypeterborough.org.uk 

Of the smokers seen by Peterborough stop smoking service, 11% were aged 65 and older with on 

average over 100 people accessing the service annually (Figure 21).  

 

Figure 21: Proportion of Peterborough stop smoking service users who set a quite date April 2014 – 
March 2017 by age group 

 

Source: Peterborough Stop Smoking Service 

In Peterborough the overall ‘quit rate’ in people of all ages is 77% (a high success rate compared to 
the national average of 50%), and this is 6% better among those aged 60 and older (83%). The 
proportion of smokers in this age group who are lost to follow-up is similar to other age groups.  

 
  

                                                           
207 http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/march-april-2017/stop-smoking/5-benefits-of-quitting-smoking 
 
 

3%

9%

23% 23%

19%

14%

11%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Under 16 16-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56-64 65 +

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 (

%
)

Proportion of Peterborough stop smoking services users 
who set a quit date  April 2014 - March 2017 by age 

group

96

http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/
http://www.healthypeterborough.org.uk/march-april-2017/stop-smoking/5-benefits-of-quitting-smoking


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

75 
 

Figure 22: Number of smoking quits by age of quitter.  People aged 60 and over 

 

Source: DH Quarterly Returns 

Between 2013/14 and 2015/16 there has been an overall drop of 47% of smokers accessing the 

Peterborough Stop Smoking service and a decline amongst people aged 60 and over of 42%.  Those 

aged 65 and over are more likely to access the stop smoking service via their GP (55%), and less 

likely to access support via core (23%) or pharmacy (21%) services. 

Breathe Easy Peterborough208 is a support group for people affected by lung conditions, and is 
supported by the British Lung Foundation.  An example of the type of advertisement used is shown 
in   

                                                           
208  Breathe Easy Peterborough. British Lung Foundation. Available at:  https://www.blf.org.uk/support-in-your-

area/breathe-easy-peterborough-support-group 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

H
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

p
e

o
p

le

Number of smoking quits by age of quitter 
People aged 60 and over

Total number setting quit
date

Number who successfully
quit

97

https://www.blf.org.uk/support-in-your-area/breathe-easy-peterborough-support-group
https://www.blf.org.uk/support-in-your-area/breathe-easy-peterborough-support-group


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

76 
 

Figure 23 below.   

  

98



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

77 
 

Figure 23: Example of advertising for older populations 

 

 

5.8 LOCAL VIEWS AND FUTURE OPPORTUNITIES 

As the proportion of older people that make up the Peterborough population increases, it is likely 

that there will be an increase in the number of older smokers.  The service that the Peterborough 

stop smoking advisors offer, when older smokers present to them for help to stop smoking appears 

to be appropriate and effective, but more could be done to increase the number of people accessing 

the service.   

Stop smoking services should continue to be offered to older people by GPs and other health 

professionals.  Additionally, pharmacies are usually well located and easily accessible in the heart of 

local communities, which could be appealing to older adults especially for those older adults with 

reduced mobility as a venue for promoting stop smoking services.209 There are significant 

opportunities to encourage referral or signpost older adults to stop smoking services from a broad 

range of settings including primary care, social care, community and acute health care, housing, and 

community interest groups. 

                                                           
209   Further up-to-date information on the needs for  pharmaceutical services in Peterborough is published in the 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment, available at: https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-
health/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/  

 

99

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  SMOKING 

78 
 

A key theme is the need to promote the message “it’s never too late to quit smoking” and the 

supporting evidence of the associated health gains. The message is relevant to health professionals 

frequently in contact with older adults as well as directly to older adults themselves.  GPs and 

pharmacists and other health professionals are well placed to promote smoking cessation to this age 

group who are presenting at these services for other reasons.   

In addition to health professionals, these types of messages could be delivered by non-professionals 

and voluntary organisations as motivators or champions.  There might be opportunities to tie 

messages in with wider family focused tobacco control approaches, such as Smoke Free Homes and 

Cars, or alongside other healthy behaviour messages.  A further key time to promote messages of 

smoking cessation was in the workplace through retirement packages offered to employees.  

It is recognised that many older people who access the stop smoking services have needs in addition 

to smoking cessation, and loneliness and social isolation.  Stop smoking advisors are ideally placed to 

refer these older people on to other community services, such as existing community provision, 

community navigators, who have a focus on reducing social isolation, and there may be 

opportunities to strengthen referrals and signposting routes.  

Furthermore, there is a proportion of older adults who are ‘well’ and who are not accessing health 

services for other reasons, and the resultant question of how this group of older adults could be 

targeted with stop smoking messages.   

 

100



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

79 
 

6. ALCOHOL 

 

6.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

There is an increasing quantity of information which suggests that the misuse of alcohol is an issue 

for older age groups. This includes those who are long term misusers but also those who start 

misusing later in life, which is associated with life changes especially isolation and loneliness.   

6.2 NATIONAL  

 Despite drinking comparatively little, older drinkers consume alcohol far more often than 

other age groups and the cumulative effect of this regular or frequent drinking may be 

problematic.  

 Despite lower levels of alcohol consumption, more older people are admitted to hospital 

with an alcohol-related condition than younger age groups.  

Alcohol related death rates are highest among those aged 55-74 years of age. 

Brief interventions are an early intervention for the identification and prevention of any escalation 

of alcohol misuse. This has been found to be most effective and cost effective in Accident and 

Emergency settings and primary care. In addition, a Hospital Liaison Service also has strong evidence 

base and has been found to be cost–effective and a cost saving intervention.  

Figure 24: Alcohol in older people 

 

  

101



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

80 
 

6.3 CONTEXT – WHY IS ALCOHOL IMPORTANT? 

There is an increasing awareness that substance misuse, especially alcohol, is more prevalent in the 

older population (greater than 65 years) than previously thought.  Many of those who misuse 

alcohol may have started earlier in life but some commence in response to traumatic life events such 

as loss of a partner.  Key factors are loneliness and life changes.  In addition professionals often find 

it difficult to ask ‘embarrassing’ questions of older people but there are warning signs. 

Older adults are not a homogenous group, and appropriate responses require recognition of the vast 

range of cultural differences, preferences and perspectives on what healthy ageing means to 

individuals and their communities.  

Chronic pain and polypharmacy are important cross-cutting themes, and particularly pertinent for 

older people who have more long term conditions and painful conditions which may result in the use 

of pain-relief medication and multiple other medications.  

Risk factors for Substance Misuse in older people  

There is a range of life experiences that are described as risk factors for drug and alcohol misuse 

across the population; notably many of these circumstances may be particularly experienced in later 

life – such as retirement and bereavement. Researcher Sarah Wadd from the Substance Misuse and 

Ageing Research Team, University of Bedfordshire has described the following circumstances as 

potentially leading to increased use or misuse:  

 Bereavement 

 More time and opportunity to drink 

 Loneliness and boredom 

 Loss of friends and social status 

 Being a carer 

 Chronic pain 

Sociocultural issues may also have a bearing on risk, for example ethnicity or sexual orientation.210  

Why is alcohol important? 

At a generalised level, there is a trend that alcohol consumption declines with age. However this 

statement masks important details on consumption, hospital admissions, and mortality: 

Despite drinking comparatively little, older drinkers consume alcohol far more often than other age 

groups and the cumulative effect of this regular or frequent drinking may be problematic.211  

Despite lower levels of alcohol consumption, more older people are admitted to hospital with an 

alcohol-related condition than younger age groups 

Alcohol related death rates are highest among those aged 55-74 years of age. 

                                                           
210 Wadd S, Galvani S. The Forgotten People : Drug Problems in Later Life.; 2014 
211  Demographic information including population estimates and forecasts are available on Cambridgeshire Insight 

website at: http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/populationanddemographics 

102

http://www.cambridgeshireinsight.org.uk/populationanddemographics


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

81 
 

Older people experience high and increasing levels of alcohol-related harm; in light of an ageing 

population this has an important bearing on the need for health and social care services.  

One of the key explanatory factors is that due to physiological changes in later life, smaller levels of 

alcohol and drugs may produce greater intoxication effects in older people.212 

Therefore, many researchers and commentators believe that the current description of ‘misuse’ is 

not sufficiently sensitive for the older population: “One could define alcohol misuse in the elderly as 

any alcohol use, not necessarily heavy use or meeting criteria for alcohol abuse or dependence, that 

leads to either subjective distress, discrete adverse events, or functional decline” Trevisan, 2014.213 

Researchers214 have described three different trajectories of problematic alcohol consumption in 

older people: 

 Early-onset drinkers (Survivors): those who have a continuing problem with alcohol which 

developed in earlier life.  

 Late-onset drinkers (Reactors): they begin problematic drinking later in life, often in 

response to traumatic life events such as the death of a loved one, loneliness, pain, 

insomnia, retirement, etc. 

 Intermittent (Binge drinkers): they use alcohol occasionally and sometimes drink to excess 

which may cause them problems. 

The patterns of alcohol consumption within the older population are complex with variation by 

gender, marital status, ethnicity, socioeconomic group.215 As per the general population, there is the 

‘alcohol harm paradox’ that although more affluent groups consume more alcohol, less affluent 

groups are more susceptible to the harms associated with alcohol consumption.  

6.4 DATA – WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT ALCOHOL LOCALLY? 

Figure 25 shows the number of units of alcohol consumed in a given day by people in England, 

separated by age group and gender. For both men and women, the age group with the highest 

proportion drinking at all is those aged 55-64. In addition, nearly of third of men aged 65-74 

consume more than the daily recommended limit, whilst around 20% of women aged 65-74 do so. 

  

                                                           
212  Holdsworth C, Mendonca M, Frisher M, Shelton N, Pikhart H, Oliveira C De. Alcohol Consumption, Life Course 

Transitions and Health in Later Life. 2014;(c):1-8. 
http://www.drugs.ie/resourcesfiles/ResearchDocs/Europe/Research/2014/alcoholconsumption_laterlifepaper_keele-
ucl-2014.pdf. 

213  Quoted in ´Problematic Substance Use in Older People’ Presentation by Sarah Wadd, University of Bedfordshire, June 
2015. Available at: http://www.beds.ac.uk/research-ref/iasr/mrc/archive/26-june-2015 

214  Institute of Alcohol Studies. Older People and Alcohol. London; 2013. 
215  Holdsworth C, Mendonca M, Frisher M, Shelton N, Pikhart H, Oliveira C De. Alcohol Consumption, Life Course Transitions and Health 

in Later Life. 2014;(c):1-8. 
http://www.drugs.ie/resourcesfiles/ResearchDocs/Europe/Research/2014/alcoholconsumption_laterlifepaper_keele-ucl-2014.pdf. 

103

http://www.beds.ac.uk/research-ref/iasr/mrc/archive/26-june-2015


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

82 
 

 

Figure 25: Daily alcohol consumption (England) number of units (by age group) 

 

Source: Health Survey for England 2013 

 

  

104



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

83 
 

Findings from the first report from the Drink Wise, Age Well programme216: 

 

 

                                                           
216 Drink Wise, Age Well: Alcohol Use and the over 50s in the UK (January 2016)  www.drinkwiseagewell.org.uk 
 

105

http://www.drinkwiseagewell.org.uk/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

84 
 

6.5 EVIDENCE BASE – WHAT IS RECOMMENDED? 

Overall there is limited published evidence on preventative measures for alcohol misuse in older 

adults. A recent pan-European study of grey literature on initiatives to prevent the harmful effects of 

alcohol for older people found a lack of information on initiatives, and indications that alcohol use in 

older people is not perceived as a major issue for prevention.217  

Effective prevention strategies may need to recognise the social determinants of health and 

wellbeing in older people, for example the detrimental impacts of isolation and loneliness on health. 

These protective factors are identified in the figure below.  

 

Figure 26: Potential risk and protective factors for alcohol use in older people. Source - The 

Forgotten People218 

 

 

Source: http://slideplayer.com/slide/3102557/ 

 

                                                           
217  Palacio-Vieira J, Segura L, Gual A, et al. Good practices for the prevention of alcohol harmful use amongst the elderly in 

Europe, the VINTAGE project. Ann Ist Super Sanità. 2012;48(3):248-255. 
218  ´Problematic Substance Use in Older People’ Presentation by Sarah Wadd, University of Bedfordshire, June 2015. 

Available at: http://www.beds.ac.uk/research-ref/iasr/mrc/archive/26-june-2015 
 

106

http://slideplayer.com/slide/3102557/
http://www.beds.ac.uk/research-ref/iasr/mrc/archive/26-june-2015


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

85 
 

 

Education and Information 

There may be gaps in knowledge about the risks of substance misuse in older people among 

both the general public, and health and care staff. For example, a large-scale (16,710 

respondents) survey within a Big Lottery Fund study on the relationship between older 

adults and alcohol, found 74% respondents were unable to correctly identify the 

recommended drink limits.212 The report noted: there are many stages where individuals or 

organisations can identify alcohol-related harm in older adults. However, we have found 

that these stages often lack an appreciation of the role age can have on alcohol-related 

harm. Government strategies and public health initiatives often focus on younger people; 

networks of family members, colleagues and friends who often identify problem drinking in 

older adults can decline in later life; both primary and acute care services often do not 

appreciate the relationship between alcohol-related harm and age; and treatment and 

service provision are often not designed with the needs of older adults in mind. 

Guidelines 

There is a wider national question on whether guidelines on alcohol consumption for the 

population should be separately described for older people, an approach championed in 

other countries. While there are not general recommendations of lower levels in the UK, the 

recent CMO review of guidelines216 does highlight older people as a group in their advice on 

short term effects of alcohol: ‘some groups of people are likely to be affected more by 

alcohol and should be more careful of their drinking on any one occasion’. 

Other approaches – harm reduction and brief advice  

In recognition that older people may not respond to campaigns and promotional materials with the 

same reaction as working age adults, work for an alcohol campaign (alcohol effects) in older people 

identified that drinking behaviour reconsideration among over 55s might be most impacted by the 

idea of alcohol exacerbating any existing health conditions, with a focus particularly on stroke, 

localised cancer and heart disease.219 This learning can be applied to Identification and Brief Advice 

(IBA) interventions with older people.   

One of the key explanatory factors is that due to physiological changes in later life, smaller 

levels of alcohol and drugs may produce greater intoxication effects in older people.210  

http://www.ias.org.uk/Alcohol-knowledge-centre/Alcohol-and-older-people/Factsheets/Older-

peoples-drinking-habits-Very-little-very-often.aspx 

  

                                                           

219 Identification and Brief Advice: A recommended approach for older people. Presentation by George Ames, Forsters/DH. March 2010. 
Available at: http://www.alcohollearningcentre.org.uk/Topics/Latest/Resource/?cid=5995 

107

http://www.ias.org.uk/Alcohol-knowledge-centre/Alcohol-and-older-people/Factsheets/Older-peoples-drinking-habits-Very-little-very-often.aspx
http://www.ias.org.uk/Alcohol-knowledge-centre/Alcohol-and-older-people/Factsheets/Older-peoples-drinking-habits-Very-little-very-often.aspx
http://www.alcohollearningcentre.org.uk/Topics/Latest/Resource/?cid=5995


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ALCOHOL 

86 
 

Motivators for Older People (from presentation by Joe Keegan, Cambridgeshire County Council) 

 Staying healthy and independent. 

 Sleeping better. 

 More energy to go out and socialise. 

 Improved memory. 

 Save money. 

 Less likely to fall. 

 

Professional barriers 

 Lack of awareness that alcohol misuse is a potentially important problem for older people. 

 Reluctance to ask embarrassing questions of older people. 

 Attitude that older people are too old to change their behaviour. 

 Belief that it is wrong to ‘deprive’ older people of their ‘last pleasure in life’. 

 Inability to identify signs and symptoms of alcohol problems in older people. 

108



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

87 
 

7. ENVIRONMENT 

7.1  KEY FINDINGS 

The built environment can have a clear effect on both physical and mental ageing and is one of the 

modifiable risk factors affecting health ageing. Peterborough meets many of the criteria of an 

'obesogenic environment'; one that lends itself poorly to physical exercise in everyday life, such as 

walking/cycling as a primary method of transportation. Compared to other areas of the UK, 

Peterborough has relatively poor options for residents to effectively utilise non-motorised 

transportation for commuting/pleasure, with analysis suggesting the city has below average 

cycling/walking routes, relatively poor public transport options and therefore high levels of driving 

and car use. The most deprived electoral wards in the urban centre of Peterborough also have 

particularly poor cycling/walking routes and high prevalence of fast food restaurants.  

 

The percentage of physically inactive adults in Peterborough is statistically significantly worse than 

England (34.3% compared to 28.7%). 

 

Levels of use of motorised transport are slightly higher in Peterborough's least deprived areas than 

in the most deprived, perhaps as a result of a need to commute longer distances in rural areas, a less 

well developed public transport network or simply greater affluence affording opportunities for the 

choosing of private transportation. 

 

Peterborough has been ranked as the most 'car dependent' city in the UK and the resultant effects 

on public health can be seen in Peterborough have a statistically significantly high percentage of 

adults with excess weight compared to England (68.9% compared to 64.6%). Prevalence in 

Peterborough of conditions associated with low levels of physical activity, such as coronary heart 

disease and stroke, are currently similar to national averages but this may be partly due to 

Peterborough's disproportionately young population. Without intervention and careful 

consideration of public health measures within the design of expanding areas of Peterborough, 

prevalence of these conditions and others, such as dementia, that are affected by these modifiable 

risk factors is likely to increase in future. 

 

It is estimated by NHS England that in April 2016, there were 1,734 people with dementia registered 

with one of Peterborough’s 29 General Practices. However, nationally it is estimated that only 66.4% 

of people with dementia have received an appropriate diagnosis; the true number of people in 

Peterborough with dementia may therefore be closer to 2,600, a difference of approximately 870 

people.  The number of over 65s in Peterborough with dementia is expected to increase 60% over 

the next 15 years, from around 1,660 people to 2,660. Assuming a 66.4% diagnosis rate, the actual 

number of people aged 65+ with dementia in Peterborough in 2015 is more likely to be 

approximately 2,500 people, rising to approximately 4,000 by 2030. Consideration may, therefore, 

be given to further incorporation of ‘dementia friendly’ principles in to the design to the built 

environment in Peterborough as the city continues to grow and expand.  

 

109



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

88 
 

7.2 CONTEXT – WHY IS THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT IMPORTANT TO OLDER PEOPLE’S 

PRIMARY PREVENTION? 

The quality and accessibility of the environment in which a person lives can have a significant impact 

on how active they are in society, with associated benefits or costs to their physical and mental 

health, particularly among relatively older portions of the population.220  

 

Environmental exposure is one of the modifiable risk factors affecting healthy ageing, in relation to 

elements such as cardiovascular health (affected by ‘walking/cycling friendly environments’ and local 

facilities to exercise as part of a community) and exposure to environmental pollutants and 

chemicals that adversely affect the ageing process and can result in the development of some 

diseases at an earlier age than expected (Environmental Health Perspectives, 2013). Generally, the 

more accessible and age-friendly an environment is, the more active older people may be.221 

However, it is recognised that individual actions to improve lifestyle and/or health status are likely to 

be influenced by the environmental and socioeconomic context in which they take place. The built 

environment includes several material determinants of health, including housing, neighbourhood 

conditions and transport routes, all of which shape the local social, economic and environmental 

conditions for which good health is dependent.222  

Figure 27: The Determinants of Health & Wellbeing in Our Neighbourhoods 

 

 

Source: Barton, H. & Grant, M., ‘A Health Map for the local Human Habitat’, Journal of the Royal Society for the 
Promotion of Public Health, 2006; 126(6): 252-261 

 

Good health is associated with access to green space and time spent outdoors and good quality 

green spaces, such as parks, are noted to have both a positive impact on health and increase local 

resident ‘neighbourhood satisfaction’.223 Conversely, environments that indirectly encourage 

motorised transport as a primary means of transportation and/or otherwise present barriers to 

                                                           
220 http://www.healthyageing.eu/steps/environment-and-accessibility 
221 ‘Ageing Society and Environmental Health Challenges’, Environ Health Perspect 121:a68–a69 (2013). 

http://dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206334 [Online 1 March 2013]  https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1206334/  
222 http://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/4174/BP_11_-_Built_environment_and_health_-_updated.pdf 
223 https://www.noo.org.uk/LA/tackling/greenspace 
 

110

http://www.healthyageing.eu/steps/environment-and-accessibility
https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1206334/
http://www.gcph.co.uk/assets/0000/4174/BP_11_-_Built_environment_and_health_-_updated.pdf
https://www.noo.org.uk/LA/tackling/greenspace


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

89 
 

going outside can have adverse long term consequences on the physical and mental health of local 

residents.224  

 

7.3 DATA – WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT THE LOCAL ENVIRONMENT? 

The term ‘obesogenic environment’ refers to the role environmental factors may play in determining 

both nutrition and physical activity.225 An obesogenic environment is one that, directly or 

inadvertently, promotes sedentary behaviour and poor quality food choices and Peterborough 

displays many of the aspects of an obesogenic environment, which potentially affects healthy ageing 

and future prevalence of conditions including cardiovascular disease, stroke and hypertension.  

Figure 28: Car Dependency Analysis, Campaign for Better Transport, 2014 

 

Source: Campaign for Better Transport, 2014 

 

Peterborough was ranked by the Campaign for Better Transport’s 2014 ‘Car Dependency Scorecard 

2014’ (the most recent such analysis) as the most car-dependent city in the UK.226 As noted in Figure 

28, above, Peterborough scored poorly for all four assessed criteria: accessibility and planning 

                                                           
224  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28134006 
225  ‘Foresight – Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Obesogenic Environments – Evidence Review’, Government Offices for 

Science, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/295681/07-735-obesogenic-
environments-review.pdf 

226  ‘Car Dependency Scorecard 2014’, Campaign for Better Transport, 
http://www.bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdfs/Car_Dep_Scorecard_2014_LOW_RES.pdf 

111

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28134006
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/295681/07-735-obesogenic-environments-review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/295681/07-735-obesogenic-environments-review.pdf
http://www.bettertransport.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdfs/Car_Dep_Scorecard_2014_LOW_RES.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

90 
 

(ranked 27th/29), cycling and walking as alternatives to driving (28th/29), bus/train quality and 

uptake (28th/29) and driving and car use (28th/29). 

At present Peterborough only has one ‘Air Quality Management Area’ (AQMA) order, a requirement 

from the Air Quality Standards Regulator that air quality within an area be improved. This order is as 

a result of emissions from brickworks located in an area administered by Fenland District Council; 

Peterborough City Council and Fenland District Council are in continued liaison with regards to 

enacting an appropriate action plan to resolve this issue. There is only one other area in 

Peterborough, Taverner’s Road in the Central electoral ward, that is noted as approaching 

declaration as an AQMA, as a result of excessive traffic and properties located close to the kerb line, 

meaning residents are exposed to high levels of pollutants.227 

However, an environment that is notably ‘car dependent’ provides wider public health challenges in 

addition to those related to air quality, including the risk to health of lack of exercise, being 

overweight/obese and resultant poor overall cardiovascular conditioning. It is noted by the 

Department of Health that the easiest way for most people to stay physically active is by 

incorporating physical activity, such as walking or cycling, in to their daily lives, particularly as part of 

commuting for work.228 Figure 29, below, shows that the percentage of people undertaking the 

recommended 150 minutes per week of exercise through travel to work alone decreases from 35% 

for households without a car to only 18% for houses with two or more cars.  

Figure 29: Percentage of the population meeting the recommended 150 minutes per week of physical 
activity requirement via active travel, by household car ownership, 2013/14 

 

Source: ‘Health Impacts of Cars in London’, Greater London Authority, 2015, URL: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/health_impact_of_cars_in_london-sept_2015_final.pdf 

 

  

                                                           
227  Peterborough City Council Local Sustainable Transport Fund Data Monitoring Report 2016. 
228  ‘Start active, stay active: a report on physical activity from the four home countries’, Chief Medical Officers (2011), 

Department of Health.  

112



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

91 
 

Studies and analysis of the effects of different methods of transport on health conclude that: 

 Each additional hour spent travelling in a car per day is associated within a 6% increase in 

the likelihood of becoming obese.229 

 Each additional kilometre walked per day is associated with a 4.8% reduction in the 

likelihood of becoming obese.230 

 Switching from private motor transport to active travel or public transport is associated with 

a significant reduction in body mass index (BMI).231 

Figure 30: Summary of Key Public Health Indicators Affected by Levels of Physical Activity/Transport 
Infrastructure, Peterborough & Nearest CIPFA Comparators 

 

Source: Public Health England ‘Fingertips’ Tool, https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-
activity/data#page/0/gid/1938133001/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11601/age/164/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031 

  

                                                           
229  ‘Start active, stay active: a report on physical activity from the four home countries’, Chief Medical Officers (2011), 

Department of Health. 
230  Frank LD, Andresen MA, Schmid TL Obesity relationships with community design, physical activity, and time spent in 

cars. (2004) Am J Prev Med 27(2):87–96 
231  Martin A, et al. Impact of changes in mode of travel to work on changes in body mass index: evidence from the British 

Household Panel Survey. (2015) J Epidemiol Community Health 0:1–9. doi:10.1136/jech-2014-205211 

113

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity/data#page/0/gid/1938133001/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11601/age/164/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity/data#page/0/gid/1938133001/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11601/age/164/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

92 
 

Data show that 68.9% of Peterborough residence have excess weight, defined as having a body mass 

index greater than or equal to 25kg/m2. Prevalence of hypertension, coronary heart disease and 

stroke are all lower than England in Peterborough but, as these data are not age-standardised, this 

may be attributable, at least in part, to Peterborough’s relatively young population compared to 

England. 24.5% of Peterborough’s population is aged under 18 compared to 21.3% in England, 

whereas only 14.3% of Peterborough’s population is over 65, compared to 17.6% in England. 

Figure 31: Percentage of Peterborough Residents Aged 16-74 in Employment Travelling to Work by Car, 
Van, Taxi, Motorcycle, Scooter or Moped by Deprivation Quintile, 2011 

Deprivation Quintile 

Number of 
Employed 

Residents 16-74 
Travelling to 

Work via Taxi, 
Motorcycle, 

Scooter, Moped, 
Car or Van 

Number of 
Employed 

Residents 16-
74 Travelling 
to Work via 
Bicycle, On 
Foot, Public 
Transport or 
Other Means 

Total residents 
16-74 in 

employment 

% of 
Employed 

Residents 16-
74 Travelling 
to Work via 

Taxi, 
Motorcycle, 

Scooter, 
Moped, Car 

or Van 

% of Employed 
Residents 16-

74 Travelling to 
Work via 

Bicycle, On 
Foot, Public 
Transport or 
Other Means 

5 = Least Deprived (Barnack, Fletton & 
Woodston, Glinton & Castor, Gunthorpe, 

Wittering) 
9,810 3,756 13,566 72.3% 27.7% 

4 (Hampton Vale, Hargate & Hempsted, 
Orton Waterville, Werrington) 

13,952 4,383 18,335 76.1% 23.9% 

3 (East, Eye, Thorney & Newborough, 
Fletton & Stanground, Park) 

14,360 6,251 20,611 69.7% 30.3% 

2 (Central, North, Paston & Walton, 
Ravensthorpe, Stanground South) 

13,142 6,886 20,028 65.6% 34.4% 

1 = Most Deprived (Bretton, Dogsthorpe, 
Orton Longueville, West) 

10,677 4,827 15,504 68.9% 31.1% 

Total 61,941 26,103 88,044 70.4% 29.6% 

Source: Census 2011 ‘QS701EW’ – Method of Travel to Work 

As per the 2011 Census, 70.4% of residents aged 16-74 in employment stated that they primarily 

journeyed to work via car, van, taxi, motorcycle, scooter or moped, compared to 29.6% who 

journeyed via bicycle, on foot or via other means. This percentage is relatively consistent between 

deprivation quintiles although marginally higher in the least deprived areas of Peterborough, 

perhaps as a result of a need to commute longer distances in rural areas, a less well developed 

public transport network or simply greater affluence affording opportunities for the choosing of 

private transportation.  

  

114



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

93 
 

Figure 32: ‘Walkfriendly Mapping Output’, Central Peterborough 

 

Source: Peterborough City Council LSTF Monitoring Report 2016 

Peterborough City Council has a stated vision for Peterborough to be ‘the UK’s Environment Capital’, 

with a vision that by 2050, 90% of journeys in the city will be zero-emission and walking, cycling and 

public transport will be the preferred methods of transportation for most residents.232 

The above map illustrates the quality of walking routes in Peterborough as assessed by 

Peterborough City Council’s ‘Walkfriendly/Cyclefriendly’ project. This project looked at barriers to 

walking in the centre of Peterborough including restriction of walking by geographical features 

including busy roads, air quality, local environmental features etc. and assessed that approximately 

one third of walking routes in the area were ‘poor’.  

  

                                                           
232 https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/campaigns/environment-capital/ 

115

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/council/campaigns/environment-capital/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

94 
 

Figure 33: ‘Cyclefriendly Mapping Output’, Peterborough 

 

Source: Peterborough City Council LSTF Monitoring Report 2016 

Peterborough City Council’s ‘Cyclefriendly’ analysis shows that the centre of Peterborough has 

relatively poor cycle routes at present, with only one area (London Road, between Fletton Parkway 

and Cooke Avenue’ assessed as ‘excellent’. Analysis suggests that the cycle network in the centre of 

Peterborough is disjointed and it is difficult to plan cycle journeys across significant areas of the city 

without taking inconveniently divergent routes at many junctures, which may encourage people to 

drive instead of cycling leading to an increase in congestion and pollution within the centre of the 

city. 

Another factor of obesogenic environments is availability of unhealthy, relatively inexpensive foods. 

The British Nutrition Society notes that a healthy, balanced diet can protect against chronic diseases, 

aid recovery from illness, improve mental health and general wellbeing and preserve immune 

function, digestive health and bone and oral health.233 A healthy diet includes the consumption of at 

least five vegetables per day, relatively low amounts of fat and sugar and high amounts of beans, 

fish, eggs, meat and other proteins.234  

 

  

                                                           
233https://www.nutrition.org.uk/attachments/131_7.%20Prof%20Judy%20Buttriss%20A%20public%20health%20approac%

20to%20healthy%20ageing%20-%20conclusions%20of%20the%20Task%20Force.pdf 
234  http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Goodfood/Pages/Healthyeating.aspx#5aday 

116

https://www.nutrition.org.uk/attachments/131_7.%20Prof%20Judy%20Buttriss%20A%20public%20health%20approac%20to%20healthy%20ageing%20-%20conclusions%20of%20the%20Task%20Force.pdf
https://www.nutrition.org.uk/attachments/131_7.%20Prof%20Judy%20Buttriss%20A%20public%20health%20approac%20to%20healthy%20ageing%20-%20conclusions%20of%20the%20Task%20Force.pdf
http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/Goodfood/Pages/Healthyeating.aspx#5aday


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

95 
 

Figure 34: Fast Food Outlets in Peterborough, 2015 

Area 
Count of Fast Food 

Outlets in Area (2015)* 

Estimated 
Population 

(2015)** 

Rate per 100,000 
Population  

IMD 
2015*** 

IMD Rank (1 = Most 
Deprived, 5 = Least 

Deprived) 

Central 54 13,074 413.0 45.8 1 

Walton 9 5,960 151.0 25.9 3 

East 10 12,215 81.9 37.6 2 

Stanground 
Central 

8 10,830 73.9 24 3 

Newborough 2 2,745 72.9 17.2 4 

Park 8 10,992 72.8 26 2 

Fletton and 
Woodston 

9 12,515 71.9 23.5 3 

Bretton North 7 9,886 70.8 39 2 

Orton with 
Hampton 

10 15,658 63.9 14.5 5 

Orton 
Waterville 

5 8,323 60.1 17.9 4 

Paston 5 8,946 55.9 36.9 2 

Werrington 
North 

4 7,581 52.8 17.4 4 

Dogsthorpe 5 9,846 50.8 40.7 1 

Werrington 
South 

3 6,132 48.9 10.6 5 

Eye and 
Thorney 

3 6,318 47.5 20.8 4 

Glinton and 
Wittering 

3 6,943 43.2 10.1 5 

Orton 
Longueville 

4 10,267 39.0 40.5 1 

Stanground 
East 

1 3,010 33.2 25.4 3 

Bretton South 1 3,013 33.2 27.7 2 

North 2 6,348 31.5 42.4 1 

Ravensthorpe 2 8,479 23.6 42.2 1 

West 2 9,171 21.8 15.3 4 

Barnack 0 3,098 0.0 9.8 5 

Northborough 0 2,630 0.0 10.1 5 

Peterborough 157 193,980 80.9 27.7 - 

* Source: Public Health England 'Fast Food Outlets by Local Authority' http://www.noo.org.uk/visualisation 

** Source: Office for National Statistics, 'Population Estimates for UK, England and Wales, Scotland & Northern Ireland', mid-2015, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpop
ulationestimates/latest 

*** Source: Department for Communities & Local Government, 'English Indices of Deprivation 2015', 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015 

Figure 34, above, shows that the majority of fast food outlets in Peterborough are located within 

some of Peterborough’s most relatively deprived areas, with one third (54/157) within the Central 

117

http://www.noo.org.uk/visualisation
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/latest
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/latest


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

96 
 

ward, which was among Peterborough’s most deprived 20% of electoral wards prior to the 

redrawing of electoral ward boundaries in 2016. Although this is partly due to the number of 

takeaway restaurants located within Peterborough’s city centre, designed to capitalise on the night 

life within the city, this high prevalence in a deprived area may be a contributory factor in relation to 

a number of poor healthcare outcomes observed within the area. However, Peterborough’s overall 

rate of 80.9 fast food outlets per 100,000 population compares favourably with the national rate of 

88.0/100,000 as illustrated in the map below.  

Figure 35: Density of Fast Food Outlets, England, 2014 

 

Source: PointX Data 2014, Thomson Directories Ltd, Copyright Link Interchange Network Ltd, Copyright 
Database/Copyright & Ordnance Survey, Crown Copyright and/or Database Right 2006. All Rights Reserved, Licence 
Number 10034829 

 

 

 

Dementia & the Built Environment 

What is dementia, who is affected and how much does it cost? 

Dementia describes different brain disorders that trigger a loss of brain function. These conditions 

are usually progressive and eventually severe. Alzheimer's disease is the most common type of 

dementia, affecting 62% of those diagnosed. Symptoms of dementia include memory loss, confusion 

and problems with language. Dementia is one of the main causes of disability later in life, ahead of 

cancer, cardiovascular disease and stroke. However, as a country, we spend much less on dementia 

than on these other conditions. 

118



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

97 
 

There are 850,000 people with dementia in the UK, with numbers set to rise 17.6% to one million by 

2025. One in six people over the age of 80 have dementia and 70% of people in care homes have 

dementia or severe memory problems. However, dementia is not exclusively a disorder that affects 

the elderly; there are over 40,000 people under 65 with dementia in the UK. There is no cure for any 

type of dementia. Delaying the onset of dementia by five years would halve the number of deaths 

from the condition, saving 30,000 lives per year. 

For every person living with dementia, the annual cost to the UK economy is over £30,000. Two 

thirds of the cost of dementia is paid by people with the condition and their families and unpaid 

carers supporting someone with dementia save the economy £11 billion per year. 

Data Source for above information: Alzheimer’s Society, https://www.alzheimers.org.uk 

 

It is estimated by NHS England that in April 2016, there were 1,734 people with dementia registered 

with one of Peterborough’s 29 General Practices. However, nationally it is estimated that only 66.4% 

of people with dementia have received an appropriate diagnosis; the true number of people in 

Peterborough with dementia may therefore be closer to 2,600, a difference of approximately 870 

people.  As shown by Figure 36 below, the number of over 65s in Peterborough with dementia is 

expected to increase 60% over the next 15 years, from around 1,660 people to 2,660. Assuming a 

66.4% diagnosis rate, the actual number of people aged 65+ with dementia in Peterborough in 2015 

is more likely to be approximately 2,500 people, rising to approximately 4,000 by 2030.  

 
Figure 36: Estimates of number of people aged 65+ in Peterborough with dementia 2015-30 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

119

https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

98 
 

Figure 37: Dementia in Peterborough – ‘Pathway on a Page’ Spine Chart 

 

Source: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data 

Peterborough has a younger population than England, with 85.8% of residents under the age of 65 

compared to 82.7% in England and only 14.2% over the age of 65, compared to 17.3% in England. 

This is reflected in relatively low recorded dementia prevalence for all ages; however, recorded 

prevalence in people aged 65+ is significantly higher than England. It is also of note that 

Peterborough has a significantly high ratio of inpatient service use to recorded diagnoses (meaning 

that a relatively high number of people are admitted to hospital with a mention of dementia on 

inpatient hospital services in comparison to the number of people with a recorded diagnosis of 

dementia on primary care practice registers). The number of physically inactive adults in 

Peterborough is also significantly higher than England.  

Figure 38: Dementia in Peterborough – ‘Pathway on a Page’, Comparison to Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) Nearest Socio-Economic Neighbours 

 

Source: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data 

120

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

99 
 

The table above compares Peterborough to its 15 nearest socio-economic neighbours in relation to 

key dementia indicators. Peterborough’s profile is relatively similar to the majority of CIPFA 

neighbours, although it is of note that levels of physical inactivity in adults (defined as adults 

undertaking fewer than 30 minutes of at least moderate intensity physical activity per week) are 

among the highest within the group. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 

publication ‘Disability, Dementia and Frailty in Later Life – Mid-Life Approaches to Prevention’ states 

that people who increase physical activity reduce the risk of developing dementia.235 The report 

recommends that national organisations and local government departments that influence public 

health should continue to develop and support population-level initiatives to reduce the risk of 

dementia by making it easier for people to be more physically active.  

Figure 39: Dementia Mortality Data – Peterborough & England 

 

Source: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data 

The directly age-standardised rate of mortality among people with dementia in Peterborough is 

higher than, but statistically similar to, England for persons aged 20+ and 65+. 71.1% of people with 

dementia in Peterborough die either at home or in a care home, compared to 67.5% in England. 

27.1% of people with dementia in Peterborough die in hospital compared to 31.4% in England.  

  

                                                           
235  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-

health/profile/dementia/data#page/6/gid/1938133052/pat/6/par/nn-1-
E06000031/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90277/age/164/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031 

121

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

100 
 

Figure 40: Preventative Measures Relating to Dementia in Peterborough 

Indicator Peterborough England Peterborough Status Rationale 

Smoking Prevalence in 
Adults (%, 2015) 

17.7% 16.9% 
Statistically similar to 

England 

Tobacco consumption is noted as a risk factor in the 
development of dementia due to evidence that there may 

be a vascular component to many dementias 

Percentage of Physically 
Inactive Adults (%, 2015) 

34.3% 28.7% 
Statistically 

significantly worse 

Physical inactivity is noted as a risk factor in the 
development of dementia due to evidence that there may 

be a vascular component to many dementias 

Excess Weight in Adults 
(%, 2012) 

65.5% 63.8% 
Statistically similar to 

England 

Obesity is noted as a risk factor in the development of 
dementia due to evidence that there may be a vascular 

component to many dementias 

Admission Episodes for 
Alcohol-Related 

Conditions - 40-64 Years 
(Directly Standardised 

Rate per 100,000, 
2014/15) 

324.1 299.6 
Statistically similar to 

England 
People who drink above NHS recommended limits of 

alcohol are at increased risk of dementia 

People Receiving an NHS 
Health Check (%, 

2015/16) 
10.3% 9.0% 

Statistically 
significantly higher 

NHS Health Checks provide an opportunity for the 
promotion of positive health behaviours and raising 

personal awareness of vascular risk factors which increase 
the risk of dementia 

Recorded Hypertension 
Prevalence (%, 2015/16) 

11.8% 13.8% 

Statistically 
significantly lower 

(may be attributable 
to Peterborough's 
relatively young 

population and/or 
issues with recording) 

High blood pressure is a known risk factor for dementia, as 
it can cause damage to blood vessels in the brain and cause 

cells in the brain to decay 

Recorded Stroke 
Prevalence (%, 2015/16) 

1.3% 1.7% 

Statistically 
significantly lower 

(may be attributable 
to Peterborough's 
relatively young 

population and/or 
issues with recording) 

Evidence shows that vascular dementia has the same risk 
factors as cardiovascular disease and stroke and so the 

same preventive measures are likely to reduce risk 

Recorded Diabetes 
Prevalence (%, 2015/16) 

6.5% 6.5% 
Statistically similar to 

England 

The mechanisms behind the development of diabetes can 
also damage small blood vessels in the brain, contributing 
towards both Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia 

Source: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data 

As noted above, Peterborough has a statistically significantly percentage of inactive adults. Numbers 

of smokers, adults with excess weight and admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions are all 

higher than England, although not significantly so, and these factors are noted as potentially 

increasing the risk of dementia.  

1. Evidence – what works? What is recommended? 

NHS guidelines suggest adults aged 19-64 should try to be active daily and should do at least 150 

minutes of moderate aerobic activity (eg cycling or fasting walking), 75 minutes of vigorous aerobic 

activity (such as running or hiking) or a mix of the two eg two 30 minute runs plus 30 minutes of fast 

walking per week. Strength exercises on two more days a week that work all the major muscles 

(legs, hips, back, abdomen, chest, shoulders and arms) should also be undertaken.236 

                                                           
236 http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/fitness/Pages/physical-activity-guidelines-for-adults.aspx 

122

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data
http://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/fitness/Pages/physical-activity-guidelines-for-adults.aspx


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

101 
 

 

The 2009 Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer summarised the impact of becoming more 

active on several key diseases, as shown below. 

 

Figure 41: Summary of Impact of Physical Activity on the Risk of Common Disease 

 

Source: Department of Health, ‘On the State of Public Health: Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer’, 2009 

 

Evidence summarised in the 2012 British Heart Foundation Briefing ‘Factors Influencing Physical 

Activity in Older Adults’237 notes that physical activity is a complex behaviour in older adults which is 

influenced by a wide range of factors. Older adults face a number of internal and environmental 

barriers to becoming and remaining active, including: 

 

Biological and demographic Factors: 

 

 Men tend to be more physically active than women. 

 As age increases, physical activity participation decreases. 

 The decline in physical activity participation with age is highest among minority ethnic 

groups, those from lower socio-economic backgrounds and those who have lower levels of 

educational attainment. 

 People living alone are more likely to have lower physical activity levels than their married 

peers. 

Psychological Factors: 

 Physical activity participation is positively affected by an older adult’s belief in their ability to 

be active, confidence in their own physical abilities, perceptions of risk and general beliefs, 

attitudes and values. 

 Physical activity participation is negatively affected by fear of falling over, exertion or not 

reaching fitness goals, as well as concern for personal safety during the activity. 

                                                           
237 http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/files/1174/Factors%20Older%20Adults%20AW.pdf 

123

http://www.bhfactive.org.uk/files/1174/Factors%20Older%20Adults%20AW.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

102 
 

Social Factors: 

 Mutual trust, shared values and feelings of community among neighbours are linked to 

increased physical activity levels. 

 Physical activity participation is influenced by ‘significant others’ such as health 

professionals, physical activity instructors, care givers, family and friends. Opinions and 

support given from these significant others can have both a positive and negative affect on 

physical activity participation. 

Environmental Factors: 

 Older adults are more likely than other age groups to not go out or participate in an activity, 

eg walking to the shops, for fear of crime. 

 Pedestrians are most likely to be victims of a road traffic accident and many older adults are 

unable to cross a road within the allotted time of a traffic light controlled crossing. 

 A lack of transport is frequently cited by older adults as a reason they are unable to take part 

in activities. 

 Older adults have reported that having somewhere interesting to go motivates them to walk 

more. 

 A lack of suitable opportunities and settings for physical activity is often reported by this age 

group. 

 

Figure 42: Walking Trips per year, Age & Gender Breakdown, 2013 

 

 

Source: National Travel Survey, Department of Transport, 2013 

 

 

124



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

103 
 

Data show that walking levels are highest in younger age groups and tend to fall with age, 

particularly among people aged over 40. Increased activity among this age group has the most 

immediate benefits in terms of health and wellbeing, as well as aiding healthy ageing, lessening the 

risk of trips and falls and increasing the likelihood of independent living.238 

 

Travel choice is known to be influenced by both individual behaviour and environmental factors and, 

as noted above, Peterborough's status as an usually 'car-dependent' city creates an issue with 

regards to promoting and improving public health. Systematic review that has found that decisions 

taken by adults on whether to walk/cycle or drive as method of transportation are affected by 

infrastructural aspects such as easy access to shops and services and good quality walking/cycle 

routes. As shown above, Peterborough has a relatively poor infrastructure in this regard, particularly 

in the relatively deprived, urban centre of the city.239 

 

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) provides healthcare guidance aimed at 

preventing disease, ensuring clinical excellent and improving the health of the population. NICE 

briefing LGB8240 summaries NICE recommendations for local authorities and partner organisations in 

relation to walking and cycling and its findings include: 

 

 Ensuring there is a network of paths for walking and cycling between places locally. 

 Reducing road danger and perception of danger. 

 Ensuring other policies support walking and cycling. 

 Using local data, communication and evaluation to develop programmes. 

 Including practical support, information about options (including public transport links to 

support longer journeys), routes, cycle parking and individual support. 

 Focus on key settings. 

 

NICE’s public health guideline PH8241 summarises NICE guidance on the promotion and creation 

of physical environments that support increased levels of physical activity, including the below 

key recommendations: 

 

 Involve all local communities and experts at all stages of the development to ensure the 

potential for physical activity is maximised. 

 Ensure pedestrians, cyclists and users of other modes of transport that involve physical 

activity are given the highest priority when developing or maintaining streets and roads. 

 Plan and provide a comprehensive network of routes for walking, cycling and using other 

modes of transport involving physical activity. 

                                                           
238  Hamer M., et al, Taking Up Physical Activity in Later Life and Healthy Ageing: the English Longitudinal study of Ageing’. 

British Journal of Sports Medicine, 2013; 48:239-243 doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092993 
239  T Sugiyama, E Leslie, B Giles-Corti, N Owen, Associations of neighbourhood greenness with physical and mental health: 

do walking, social coherence and local social interaction explain the relationships? J Epidemiol Community Health, 
2008;62:e9 doi:10.1136/jech.2007.064287 

240  https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb8/chapter/introduction 
241  https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph8 

125

https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb8/chapter/introduction
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph8


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

104 
 

 Ensure public open spaces and public paths can be reached on foot, by bicycle and using 

other modes of transport involving physical activity; they should also be accessible by public 

transport. 

 Ensure public open spaces and public paths are maintained to a high standard. They should 

be safe, attractive and welcoming to everyone. 

 Those involved with campus sites, including hospitals and universities, should ensure 

different parts of the site are linked by appropriate walking and cycling routes. 

 Ensure new workplaces are linked to walking and cycling networks. 

 

Healthy environment  

In 2016, NHS England, in conjunction with Public Health England, named 10 sites in England for the 

development of new healthy towns as part of the Healthy Towns Programme, an initiative designed 

to pool and implement academic research and evidence of best practice to ambitiously demonstrate 

the possible improvement of health through the built environment.242 One of the chosen sites was 

Northstowe in Cambridgeshire, which undertook an initial consultation and evidence review on the 

concept of an ‘age-friendly town’ from which the below feedback and evidence was sourced, which 

may be of use as part of the development of future areas of Peterborough as the city continues to 

expand: 

 Remaining in one’s own home, as part of the local community, for as long as possible is 

considered greatly preferable to have to ‘downsize’ to a different area or otherwise vacate 

property (eg accept a placement in a care home).243 

 Maintaining outdoor activity and mobility man contribute to a greater sense of well-being 

and greater quality of life among older people.244 

 Time spent outdoors offers greater opportunities to be physically active. 

 Spending time outdoors offers greater opportunities to be physically active. 

 There is a positive relationship between the number of ‘outdoor personal projects’ older 

people participate in and measures indicative of their quality of life.245 

 Contributing to, as well as receiving from one’s community were both seen to be of equal 

importance and age-friendly communities should seek to promote active and continual 

engagement in community life.246 

 

 

                                                           
242  https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/innovation/healthy-new-towns/ 
243  Wiles, J.L., et al., The Meaning of “Ageing in Place” to Older People. The Gerontologist, 2011 
244  van den Berg, P., et al., Ageing and loneliness: The role of mobility and the built environment. Travel Behaviour and 

Society, 2016. 5: p. 48-55. 
245  Curl, A., et al., Outdoor Environmental Supportiveness and Older People's Quality of Life: A Personal Projects Approach. 

Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 2016. 30(1): p. 1-17. 
246  Emlet, C.A. and J.T. Moceri, The importance of social connectedness in building age-friendly communities. Journal of 

Ageing Research, 2011 

126

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/innovation/healthy-new-towns/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

105 
 

 There are a number of barriers and facilitators to going outdoors and spending time there 

that older people face, including the below comments expressed as part of the Northstowe 

consultation: 

- Local shopping and services provide older adults with places to walk, to meet 

others and to stay without a car. 

- Concerns about traffic and inadequate pedestrian infrastructure limit walking 

and other activities in neighbourhoods by making older adults feel unsafe. 

- A neighbourhood’s overall sense of attractiveness, including gardens, buildings 

and streets, encourages walking for exercise and pleasure. 

- Adequate public transportation is essential to remaining active in the larger 

community and independent in one’s neighbourhood. 

- Being able to drive may be important, but access to public transport is also 

considered an important resource in enabling independent mobility. 

- The design of the physical environment can influence the decision on where to 

go/which location or whether to go at all. 

 

 Falling and the fear of falling threaten the ability to go outdoors and the quality of life of 

older adults. 

 Falls occur in different contexts and locations and there are a number of risk factors 

associated with falling.247 Much of the research carried out on falls has focused on falls in the 

home and in institutions, with relatively little examining the problem of falls outdoors.248  

Factors associated with falling outdoors are different from those indoors and include trip 

hazards such as uneven pavements, steps and obstacles in urban settings.249 

 Outdoor falls usually occur on the street and of these, 73% of these are caused by factors 

like uneven surfaces or tripping over objects, pavements and kerbs.250 

The Age-friendly Cities Project251 carried out by Universities of Liverpool and Cambridge as part of 

the National Institute for Health Research’s Ageing Well Programme interviewed older people within 

focus group settings to solicit their views on the concept of age-friendly cities and found that 

outdoor hazards and the risk of falls were a key worry for older people. Fear of falling leads to a lack 

of confidence in going outdoors which in turn can lead to a less active lifestyle and greater social 

isolation.252 

 

                                                           
247  Deandrea, S., et al., Risk factors for falls in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. 

Epidemiology, 2010. 21(5): p. 658-68 
248  Li, W., et al., Outdoor falls among middle-aged and older adults: a neglected public health problem. American Journal 

of Public Health, 2006. 96(7): p. 1192-200 
249  Curl, A., et al., Developing an audit checklist to assess outdoor falls risk. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers 

- Urban Design and Planning, 2016. 169(3): p. 138-153 
250  Li, W., et al., Outdoor falls among middle-aged and older adults: a neglected public health problem. American Journal 

of Public Health, 2006. 96(7): p. 1192-200 
251  http://sphr.nihr.ac.uk/ageing-well/projects/developing-age-friendly-towns-and-cities/ 
252  Scheffer, A.C., et al., Fear of falling: measurement strategy, prevalence, risk factors and consequences among older 

persons. Age and Ageing, 2008. 37(1): p. 19-24 

127

http://sphr.nihr.ac.uk/ageing-well/projects/developing-age-friendly-towns-and-cities/


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

106 
 

Other points noted within the Northstowe design code that specifically incorporate healthy ageing 

principles include: 

- Prominence given to public green spaces and the connecting of walkways and cycleways. 

- Where steps or kerbs are used, edges should be clearly marked with a contrasting material so 

that they can be seen. 

- Consideration is given to the importance of adequate lighting for older people who may have 

vision impairments. 

- Adequate and regular seating is provided in the design code. 

Regarding falls specifically, the table below shows that Peterborough has statistically significantly 

high directly age-standardised rates of injuries due to falls in people aged 65+ (persons and males) 

and injuries due to falls in people aged 65-79. Of Peterborough’s nearest CIPFA comparators, only 

Coventry has any statistically significant indicators for injuries due to falls. 

 
Figure 43: Falls Data, Peterborough & Nearest CIPFA Comparators 

 

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework 

 

 

 

128



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

107 
 

The economic burden of falls in old age is substantial – only motor vehicle accidents contribute more 

to lifetime costs of injuries, with wrist and hip fractures contributing the most as a result of falls in 

elderly people.253 NHS guidance254 suggests a number of steps that may be taken with regards to 

mitigating the risk of falls in the home, including: 

 Maintaining a ‘safe’ house – mopping up spillages, removing clutter, using high-wattage light 

bulbs and organising the home so that climbing, stretching and bending are kept to a minimum. 

 Requesting a home hazard assessment, which involves the identification of potential hazards by 

a trained healthcare professional.  

 Undertaking strength and balance straining. 

 A regular (at least annual) review of medication to ensure it is still appropriate and side effects 

are not contributing to the risk of a fall. 

 Regular sight tests, particularly if an individual is concerned about poor vision. 

 Avoiding or reducing alcohol intake. 

 

Dementia  

Substantial research has been undertaken into the notion of ‘dementia friendly physical 

environments’. A Dementia Friendly Physical Environments Checklist has been compiled by 

Dementia Action UK and includes the following points to be noted regarding dementia and physical 

environments:255 

 

Quiet Spaces: 

- Are there quiet spaces available for people who might be feeling anxious or confused? 

 

Signage: 

- Are signs clear, in bold face with good contrast between text and background?  

- Is there contrast between the sign and the surface it is mounted on?  

- Are signs fixed to the doors to which they refer?  

- Are signs at eye level and well-lit?  

- Do signs use simple images/icons where possible?  

- Are glass doors clearly marked?  

- Are signs for toilets and exits clear? 

 

Lighting: 

- Are entrances well-lit, making use of natural light were possible? Are pools of bright light or 

deep shadows avoided? 

 

Flooring: 

- Are highly reflective or slippery floor surfaces avoided?  

- Are bold patterns avoided in favour of plain flooring?  

- Are changes in floor finish flush rather than stepped? 

                                                           
253 http://www.bmj.com/content/345/bmj.e4919 
254 http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Falls/Pages/Prevention.aspx 
255 http://www.dementiaaction.org.uk/assets/0000/4336/dementia_friendly_environments_checklist.pdf 

129

http://www.bmj.com/content/345/bmj.e4919
http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Falls/Pages/Prevention.aspx
http://www.dementiaaction.org.uk/assets/0000/4336/dementia_friendly_environments_checklist.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENVIRONMENT 
  

108 
 

 

Changing Rooms and Toilets:  

- Are changing rooms available where an opposite sex carer or partner can help out if the person 

needs help with their clothes? If not, are staff briefed in how to meet this need sensitively?  

- Do you have a unisex toilet or other facility which would allow someone to have assistance 

without causing them or other user’s embarrassment?  

- Toilet seats that are of a contrasting colour to the walls and rest of the toilets are easier to see if 

someone has visual problems. 

 

Seating: 

- In larger premises – do you have seating areas, especially in areas where people are waiting?  

- Does seating actually look like seating, in a way that will be easily understandable to a person 

with dementia. 

 

Navigation: 

- Research shows that people with dementia use ‘landmarks’ to navigate their way around, both 

inside and outside. The more attractive and interesting the landmark, the easier it is to use as a 

landmark.  

 

 

 
 

130



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

109 
 

 

8. ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

8.1 KEY FINDINGS 

 Peterborough’s population is heterogenous and while it comprises many groups, careful 

consideration of the needs of individuals within groups is important. 

 There is a significant burden of preventable disease and opportunities for primary 

prevention but many barriers to positive behaviour change. 

 Understanding of risk behaviours can be gained by consideration of the broad determinants 

of health. These include age, sex, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, education level access, 

culture and environment.  

 Although some services are already available, adaptations must be made to target and tailor 

interventions for successful outreach.  

 Experienced facilitators can reap large benefits in ensuring reach of routine campaigns to 

vulnerable groups. Messaging and risk communication needs careful design and should be 

accompanied by signposting to readily accessible local services. 

 Existing local ambassadors should be mobilised, harnessing assets and enthusiasm. Seed 

funding and projects demonstrate this potential. 

8.2 CONTEXT – WHY IS CONSIDERATION OF THE ENABLERS AND BARRIERS TO PRIMARY 

PREVENTION IMPORTANT? 

Primary prevention of disease is complex:  several lifestyle modifications are well-documented. 

There are personal, social, cultural, neighbourhood and socioeconomic determinants that affect 

personal ability and motivation to make lifestyle modifications.  Facilitating behaviour change is 

challenging, particularly in diverse vulnerable communities, therefore, it is vital to consider the 

enablers and barriers to primary prevention specific to a population.  

8.3 DATA: THE POPULATION OF PETERBOROUGH BY AGE, SEX, 

DEPRIVATION/INEQUALITY AND ETHNICITY 

Personal, social, environmental and societal factors create different enablers and barriers for 

primary prevention.  A report by Public Health England256 focuses on changing risk behaviours and 

promoting cognitive health in older adults.  Four themes run throughout this document to form the 

basis for enablers and barriers to healthy ageing: 

1. Age 

2. Sex 

3. Deprivation/ inequality 

4. Ethnicity 

                                                           
256 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changing-risk-behaviours-and-promoting-cognitive-health-in-older-

adults. 

131

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changing-risk-behaviours-and-promoting-cognitive-health-in-older-adults
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changing-risk-behaviours-and-promoting-cognitive-health-in-older-adults


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

110 
 

The population of Peterborough is young and rapidly expanding. As one of the fastest growing cities 

in the UK, its population is predicted to grow by 34.9% between 2010 and 2031.257 It is an ethnically 

diverse city, with 29.1% of residents not self-identifying as White English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern 

Irish or British. The next most common ethnicities declared in the 2011 census258 were Asian/Asian 

British: Pakistani or British Pakistani (6.6%), White Polish (3.1%) and Asian/Asian British: Indian or 

British Indian (2.5%). 

In 2014, economic migration was most common from Poland (1,100 migrant national insurance 

registrations), Republic of Lithuania (974), Portugal (504), Romania (427) and Latvia (397).258  

Peterborough has the second highest percentage of people who cannot speak English in the East of 

England (4.86% of the population compared to 1.12% in the East of England).258 

Information on the length of time the non-UK born population has resided in a location indicates 

how settled they are. The figure below shows the length of residence in non-UK born migrants in 

Peterborough and for each area in Cambridgeshire at the time of the 2011 Census258. 

 

Figure 44: Length of Residence in Non-UK Born Migrants in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire, 2011 

 

Source: Census 2011 

                                                           
257  https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PeterboroughJSNA-

CoreDataset-2016.pdf?inline=true 
258  Census, 2011, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/qs601ew 

132

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PeterboroughJSNA-CoreDataset-2016.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PeterboroughJSNA-CoreDataset-2016.pdf?inline=true
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/qs601ew


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

111 
 

Economic inequalities are found when Peterborough is compared to other cities and within the 

population itself.  In Peterborough Unitary Authority, 37.5% of residents are in the most deprived 

quintile compared to 20.2% in England. Deprivation is more significant in central Peterborough. 

8.4 DATA: WHAT IS KNOWN ABOUT RISK BEHAVIOURS? 

The risk behaviours thought to be of most importance in primary prevention of disease have already 

been discussed in the previous chapters of this JSNA: physical activity, alcohol, smoking, 

diet/malnutrition and environment.   

In addition, social isolation will be considered in this chapter. The importance of social isolation was 

outlined in a recent report by Public Health England. This states that the quality and quantity of 

social relationships affect health behaviours, physical and mental health, and risk of mortality.259  

Therefore, social isolation can demonstrate vulnerability to risk factors and poor health. 

Now, the proportion of the population affected by risk behaviours will be considered by age, sex, 

inequality and ethnicity followed by the potential impacts of these risk behaviours in terms of the 

burden of disease in Peterborough. 

8.5 DIFFERENCES IN RISK BEHAVIOURS  

Data is available for the proportion of these five groups of the population affected by risk factors.  

Little data is available for Peterborough; the majority is on a national level.   The data shows the 

sections of the population in which risk behaviours are more prevalent.  Later sections will go on to 

discuss why the risk factors may be more prevalent and therefore can help to elucidate the barriers 

and enablers to prevention of these risk factors. 

1. Age 

The Public Health England report mentioned above256 highlights that consideration should be given 

to the best ways to engage older adults in changing health behaviour, as behaviours can be more 

entrenched.    

Physical activity: Data from PHE shows that those over 65 do least physical activity.260  The 

percentage of people over 65 that do more than 30 minutes of exercise each week is only 52.1% in 

people over 65 years old.   This suggests that 47.9% of this age group lead a very sedentary lifestyle 

and compares to 69.7% in 55-65 year olds. 

Alcohol: Younger people tend to drink more heavily (exceeding eight units for men and six units for 

women) on a single occasion than older people 6% of men aged 65 and over had drunk heavily on at 

least one day in the previous week, compared with 19% of men aged 45-64.261  However the Health 

                                                           
259  Local action on health inequalities: Reducing social isolation across the life course. Public Health England 2015 
260  Public Health England. Public Health Profiles. https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/ 
261  https://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/alcohol-statistics 

133

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/alcohol-statistics


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

112 
 

Survey for England 2016262 found that the proportion of adults who drank alcohol on more than five 

days in the last week prior to being surveyed increased up to age 65- 74 before levelling off. 

Smoking: When considering prevalence of smoking, the age group with the highest prevalence is 25-29 

with 24.1%.  Lowest is over 90 with a prevalence of 2.3% with prevalence in general decreasing as age 

increases.260  

Social isolation: Figure 45 produced using the Public Health Profiles from Public Health England 

shows the percentages of social care users who have as much social contact as they would like.  The 

benchmark being used throughout this report is the average for England, a value that should be 

achievable.  In the figures green indicated better, orange similar and red worse than the benchmark. 

 
Figure 45: Social Isolation Adult Social Care Users who have as much social contact as they would like, 
England 2015/16 – Data partitioned by Age 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

 

Notably, this chart shows that in England only 42.4% of 75-84 year olds have as much social contact 
as they would like, a figure that is below the UK’s national average. 

 
2. Sex 

Physical activity: In 2015 25.0% of males and 32.2% of females only manage less than 30 minutes of 

physical activity per week.260 

Alcohol: This is a risk factor that affects males more than females: in 2013 alcohol-rated mortality 

was 15.9 per 100 000 in males compared to 7.3 in females.260  Furthermore, male admissions for 

alcohol-related reasons in 2014/15 were double that of females (2,947 compared to 1,450).260 

Smoking: Similarly smoking is more prevalent: in 2015 the percentage of the population who were 

current smokers was 19.1 in males and 14.9 in females.260 

                                                           
262  http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB20999/alc-eng-2016-rep.pdf 

134

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB20999/alc-eng-2016-rep.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

113 
 

Social Isolation: Over 2015/16, 46.4% of males had as much social contact as they would like 

compared to 44.7% of females.260 

 

3. Deprivation/inequality 

When comparing the most-deprived to the least-deprived deciles of the population of England, the 

trend is one of increasing prevalence of risk behaviours with increasing deprivation.  This can be 

seen in the table below: 

Table 11: Measure of risk factor in least and most deprived decile 

Source: Public Health England260 

 

4. Ethnicity 

Physical activity: Participation in physical activity has been shown to differ between ethnic groups, 

for example, Indian, Pakistani, Bangladeshi and Chinese women are all less likely than white women 

to meet recommended guidelines for physical activity.263  

This is consistent with Public Health England data for physical activity in ethnic groups as shown in 

the graph below.260 

                                                           
263  https://www.ukdataservice.ac.uk/use-data/data-in-use/case-study/?id=97 

Measure of risk factor Least deprived 

decile 

Most deprived 

decile 

Alcohol related mortality 8.0 per 100,000 17.5 per 100,000 

Alcohol related admissions 1,687 per 100,000 2,829 per 100,000 

Smoking prevalence 14.3% 20.4% 

Less than 30 minutes of physical activity achieved 23.6% 35.0% 

135

https://www.ukdataservice.ac.uk/use-data/data-in-use/case-study/?id=97


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

114 
 

Figure 46: Percentage of adults achieving less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week – England 
2015 – Data partitioned by Ethnic groups 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

Lack of physical activity and unhealthy diets can lead to a difference in disease burden and all-cause 
mortality in different ethnic groups.  Some black and Asian populations increased risk for obesity and 
related disease compared with white British groups.264  

Research has shown that south Asian and black ethnicity is a predictor of obesity-related behaviours 

among children in the UK and this cannot be explained by deprivation.265  

Smoking: Smoking, however, is recorded to be less prevalent in some ethnic groups with Asian, Black 

and Chinese groups having significantly less than the average for England, however all forms of 

tobacco consumption may not be captured.  This can be seen in the chart below. 

  

                                                           
264  http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB13219 
265  http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/1/e003949.full 

136

http://content.digital.nhs.uk/catalogue/PUB13219
http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/1/e003949.full


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

115 
 

Figure 47: Smoking Prevalence in adults – current smokers (APS) – England, 2015 – Data partitioned by 
Ethnic groups 

 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

Alcohol: There is evidence from World Health Organisation (WHO) showing that rates of alcohol 

consumption per capita in Lithuania, Latvia and Poland is higher than the UK.266  Although this does 

not represent the behaviour of people from these countries in the UK, it is likely to give some 

indication of potential risk behaviours in those who have immigrated. 

Social isolation: The graph below shows the most socially isolated groups to be Hindus, Muslims and 

Sikhs.260   

 

 

  

                                                           
266  http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/msb_gsr_2014_2.pdf?ua=1 

137

http://www.who.int/substance_abuse/publications/global_alcohol_report/msb_gsr_2014_2.pdf?ua=1


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

116 
 

Figure 48: Social isolation: adult social care users who have as much social contact as they would like – 
England, 2015/16 – Data partioned by Religion – eight categories 

 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

 

Burden of risk factors and disease in Peterborough: the evidence 

Statistics regarding the burden of individual risk factors in Peterborough are not available, however 

the potential consequences can be extrapolated in morbidity and mortality data.   

Peterborough has a lower life expectancy, disability-free life expectancy and higher premature 

mortality rate - deaths under the age of 75.267 

The graph below shows the life expectancy and how it has varied from 2000 to 2014.  Life 

expectancy is defined as that average number of years a person may expect to live given 

contemporary mortality rates.268   

  

  

                                                           
267  https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/topic/mortality 
268  https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PeterboroughJSNA-

CoreDataset-2016.pdf?inline=true 

 

138

https://healthierlives.phe.org.uk/topic/mortality


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

117 
 

Figure 49: Life Expectancy at birth, 2000/02 – 2012/2014261 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

Disability-free life expectancy was 60.3 over the period 2009-2011, whereas for England it was 63.9.  

The prevalence of conditions which can greatly effect quality of life and life expectancy in 

Peterborough can be compared to the other local authorities in England: 

 There were 253 premature deaths due to lung cancer in 2013-15 in Peterborough.  This ranked 

73rd of 150 local authorities. 

 Mortality attributable to smoking in over 35 year olds in 2012-14 was higher in Peterborough 

than the average in England (298.2 per 100,000 in Peterborough compared to 274.8 per 100,000 

in England).   

 Heart disease caused 205 premature deaths in Peterborough in the same time frame, equating 

to 64.4 per 100,000 compared to a regional average of 43.5/100,000 and a national average of 

49.2/100,000.  This ranks poorly at 121st of the 150 local authorities. 

 

The burden of disease can be considered in terms of the four stratifications of the population: age, 

sex, inequality and ethnicity.  This offers insight into the enablers and barriers to primary prevention. 

1. Age 

The burden of disease is known to increase with age. It is important to consider the enablers and 

barriers of how a group accesses healthcare. 

Data from over 65 year olds shows that 21.72% of attenders to accident and emergency were 

discharged with no follow up and 5.09% were discharged with follow up by their GP.  This suggests 

there may be a significant percentage of people who are attending accident and emergency, who 

could be seen by their GP instead so there may be changes that could be made in signposting 

services. 

139



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

118 
 

2. Sex 

The graph above (Figure 49) highlights that the increase in life expectancy in recent years was slower 

than that observed nationally for women whilst the life expectancy for men remained below the 

national average despite a similar increase of around 3.5 years.  Male life expectancy at birth is 

currently 78.6 and for females it is 82.4 years. 

The graph below shows data for premature mortality Peterborough. Premature mortality is defined 

as deaths below the age of 75.  These rates for Peterborough are significantly worse than England 

(England data: premature mortality rate for males is 410 per 100,000 and for females is 268 per 

100,000). 

Figure 50: Premature mortality from all causes (Female) – Peterborough 2013 – 14 – Data partitioned by 
Sex 

 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

 

3. Deprivation/inequality 

The increased prevalence of risk factors in the more deprived sections of the population to 

contribute to increased mortality from preventable causes.  Deaths are considered preventable if, in 

light of the understanding of the determinants of health at the time of death, all or most deaths 

from the underlying cause (subject to age limits if appropriate) could potentially be avoided by 

public health interventions in the broadest sense.  

The graph below is compares mortality rate from causes considered preventable in England and 

shows that higher levels of deprivation is associated with an increased rate.260 

140



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

119 
 

Figure 51: Mortality rate from causes considered preventable – England, 2013 – 15 – Data partitioned 
by County and UA deprivation deciles in England (IMD2015) 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

 

Premature mortality related to inequalities is known for both England and Peterborough.  Below 

there are charts to show the most deprived and least deprived quintiles in Peterborough for females 

followed by the deprivation deciles in England. 

Figure 52: Premature mortality from all causes (Female) – Peterborough, 2012 – 14 – Data partitioned 
by LSOA11 Deprivation quantiles within area (IMD2010) 

 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

 

  

141



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

120 
 

Figure 53: Premature mortality from all causes (Female) – England 2012 – 14 – Data partitioned by 
District and UA Deprivation Deciles in England (IMD2010) 

 

Source: Public Health Profiles, Public Health England 

Strikingly the least deprived areas in Peterborough have a better premature mortality rate compared 

to the most deprived that have a worse mortality rate than England’s average.  This implies a wider 

inequality gap in Peterborough than England in terms of premature mortality.  Peterborough 

exhibits a similar trend in statistics when males are considered. 

Looking at the differences within Peterborough by electoral ward there is an 11.1 year difference 

between the ward with the highest female life expectancy and that with the lowest: 78.4 years in 

Orton Longueville compared to 89.5 years in Werrington North.  The wards with greater proportions 

of BME groups generally have higher rates of mortality. 

The hospital standardised admission rate (SAR) highlights the differences between the number of 

hospital admissions that occurred within a population and the number that would have been 

statistically expected within the population, adjusted for variance in age and sex of the population.  

High standardised admission ratios for all-causes and for CHD in particular are associated closely 

with the electoral wards in Peterborough which also have high levels of income deprivation. 

Furthermore, the three most deprived GP practices in Peterborough have statistically significantly 

higher rates of accident and emergency attendances by the over 65s in the period 2016-17 than 

other practices in the Peterborough area over all three years.  In the practices with the lowest IMD 

scores, three practices have statistically significantly lower rates than the Peterborough area average 

over the three years.  Reasons for this could include poorer health in these populations or 

inappropriate accessing of healthcare. 

 

 

 

142



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

121 
 

4. Ethnicity 

There is a higher prevalence of some diseases in ethnic minority groups in England including: 

 The prevalence of diabetes is greater than twice that of the general population in people 

who are black Caribbean, Indian and Pakistani.  

 The incidence of stroke is higher in black ethnic groups. 

 There are increasing indications that the prevalence of dementia in Black African, Caribbean 

and South Asian UK populations is greater than in the white UK population.  Additionally the 

age of onset is lower for Black African-Caribbean groups than the white UK population. 

A group that is not highlighted in the previous data is gypsies and travellers. In 2011, 14.1% of 

Gypsies and Irish Travellers in England and Wales rated their health as bad or very bad, compared 

with 5.9% of White British and 9.2% of White Irish people.269 

While the variability in general health among different ethnic groups can sometimes be explained by 

an older age profile, this is not the case for Gypsies and Irish Travellers, of whom only 6% were aged 

65 and above in 2011 and who had a low median age of 26.270  These groups are known to have a 

high prevalence of diabetes, cardiovascular disease, premature myocardial infarction, obesity, 

asthma and mental health issues such as stress, anxiety and depression.271 

The way different BME groups access healthcare is different.  Although there is no local data, 

literature suggests that the uptake rates for cancer screening nationally is lower in some ethnic 

groups including South Asian in which it is 50% less.   

Unfortunately there is little data available on the use of the services for primary prevention but 

focus groups of ethnic minorities in Peterborough report knowing few services available for them to 

access eg no exercise groups. 

  

                                                           
269  Office for National Statistics (2013) Ethnic Variations in General Health and Unpaid Care Provision, 2011. 
270  Office for National Statistics (2014) What does the 2011 Census tell us about the Characteristics of Gypsy or Irish 

Travellers in England and Wales? 
271  https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/ief_chapter_9.pdf 

143

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/ief_chapter_9.pdf


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

122 
 

8.6 EVIDENCE: WHAT ARE THE ENABLERS AND BARRIERS TO PRIMARY PREVENTION? 

 
The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) publication ‘Improving Access to Health 
and Social Care Services for People Who Do Not Routinely Use Them’272

 states that key barriers to 
the access of services fall in to two broad categories:  
 

 Structural and service characteristics, such as the structure, organisation and delivery of services 
and elements of delivery such as location and opening times.  

 Population characteristics, including country of origin and cultural/attitudinal and lifestyle 
characteristics.  

 
Looking more closely at the population stratified in to age, sex, deprivation and ethnicity can show 

differences in enablers and barriers.  

1. Age 

Some enablers come with age like the time available for an activity however there are many barriers 
that can apply to any person when accessing services can increase with age.  These include safety 
fears, disability and chronic disease, lack of suitable transport, lack of ease of access to green spaces, 
fixed perceptions and expectations of ill-health.273 

A literature synthesis looking into encouraging physical activity in older people274 considered 
personal characteristics, societal influences and environmental factors as barriers and enablers to 
physical activity. 

The personal characteristics that formed barriers included perceptions concerning personality types 
for example laziness and beliefs about the unavoidable nature of ageing.   
 
Social influences can provide enablers for individuals such as encouragement or support from family, 
peers, or health professionals.   Similarly, environmental factors can provide enablers for physical 
activity: safe environments, free from crime and traffic, can have a positive influence upon 
neighbourhood physical activity. 
 
Another large barrier at both an individual and population level is ageism.  This is discussed in a 
report on the barriers and enablers to positive ageing and older people.275 

Barnes et al276 used data from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA) to explore access to 
services throughout life.  They found that the older population are subject to multiple exclusions 
from society. At the local level, a co-ordinated policy involving all the relevant agencies can help link 
the support that older people need to reduce exclusion and improve their quality of life.  

 

 
 

                                                           
272  https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb14/chapter/introduction 
273  http://www.wiley.com/legacy/Australia/PageProofs/c10PhysicalActivityAndSedentaryBehaviour_web.pdf 
274  http://www.move.org.au/VAAP/Literature-synthesis-July-2016.aspx 
275  ttps://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/handle/10871/18103/AbramsSwiftLamontDrury%282015%29-

Foresight%20report.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y 
276 Barnes, M. et al (2006) The social exclusion of older people: evidence from the first wave of the English Longitudinal 

Study of Ageing (ELSA) - final report. London, HSMO 

144

https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/lgb14/chapter/introduction
http://www.wiley.com/legacy/Australia/PageProofs/c10PhysicalActivityAndSedentaryBehaviour_web.pdf
http://www.move.org.au/VAAP/Literature-synthesis-July-2016.aspx


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

123 
 

2. Sex 

Older women may face ageism together with sexism.276  Negative outcomes for older women are 

often reported in connection with the workplace, education, health care, media representation, 

pension provision, sexuality and physical appearance.  These attitudes present large barriers for 

women in many aspects of life including healthy ageing. 

Additionally, time constraints can be large issue for women:277 women more often have burdens of 

work and home, which can involve caring for children, older relatives and husbands.  

With regards to alcohol, a review in to gender differences when seeking help concluded that while 

women with alcohol use disorders are more likely to seek help, they are less likely to be identified by 

their physicians.278  

When considering service provision for example activity groups, the membership of the group is 

important to encourage participants to continue engaging: groups of the same gender, age and level 

of activity.274 

3. Deprivation/inequality 

There is an ongoing debate around whether poverty itself or inequality is the larger problem.279  This 

is a complex issue and both appear to impact on the health of individuals in a population. 

Low economic status is known to present large barriers to accessing healthcare.  One systematic 

review considered the barriers and facilitators to healthy behaviours in mid-life280 which have 

impacts on later life.  It found several barriers associated with low economic status.  Media 

campaigns to promote smoking cessation are often less effective in low SES groups.  It also found 

that men on low incomes, low economic status, and unemployed or less well educated were less 

likely than others to attend health check-ups. 

Another review281 found that the barriers to people with low incomes receiving high quality health 

care that is responsive to their social circumstances included lack of transportation and difficulty 

making and keeping appointments. 

4. Ethnicity 

A review of the barriers to engaging Black and Minority Ethnic groups in physical activity in the UK282 

found 20 barriers which could be clustered in to three broad themes shown in the table below. 

 

 

                                                           
277  http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17430437.2014.919261 
278  Brienza RS, Stein MD (2002) Alcohol use disorders in primary care: do gender-specific differences exist? J Gen Intern 

Medicine 17: 387–397 
279  http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/21/2/31.full 
280 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4731386/ 
281  https://bmcfampract.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2296-12-62 
282  Koshoedo, SA; Simkhada, P; van Teijlingen, ER. Review of Barriers to Engaging Black and Minority Ethnic Groups in 

Physical activity in the United Kingdom.  Global Journal of Health Science 2009: 1(2) 

145

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17430437.2014.919261
http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/21/2/31.full
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4731386/
https://bmcfampract.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2296-12-62


OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

124 
 

 

Personal and cultural Socio-economic and cultural Environmental 

Age 

Lack of motivation, low priority 

 

Safety and fear eg avoidance 

of crime/sexual abuse 

 

Health concerns eg fear of 

injury 

 

Lack of women only sessions 

No accomplice, partner or 

group exercise 

 

Family obligation eg no 

childcare support 

 

Lack of women only sessions 

 

Cultural sensitive facilities eg 

videos, music 

 

Religion 

Negative perception as lay 

concept of exercise 

Dress code 

Language barrier 

Weather conditions 

Lack of knowledge 

 

No referral by GP 

 

Uncertainty on source of 

information 

 

Commitment to work eg 

unusual working hours 

 

Lack of time 

 

 

The Irish Traveller Movement in Britain provided numerous examples of bias, racism and 

stereotyping in the media in relation to the reporting of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller (GRT) issues 

which was hindering integration of these communities.283 

Poor familiarity with healthcare provisions and language barriers may make it difficult for GRT and 

other minority ethnic communities to access health services.284 285 

Barriers caused by language and cultural differences are considered a primary factor in the observed 

inequality regarding access to healthcare for some non-UK born populations in comparison to the 

wider population and resultant issues are likely to be exacerbated by any physical and/or mental 

health issues suffered by individuals. The East of England Regional Assembly Migrant Health Scoping 

Report286 notes that many migrants fail to register with General Practices as a result of 

                                                           
283  Irish Traveller movement in Britain (2012) Submission from the Irish Traveller Movement in Britain for the Police and 

press relationship phase of the Leveson Inquiry. 
284  Lane, P., Spencer, S. and Jones, A. (2014) Gypsy, Traveller and Roma: Experts by experience. Reviewing UK Progress on 

the European Union Framework for National Roma Integration Strategies. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. 
285  European Commission [EC] (2014) Roma Health Report. Health status of the Roma population. Data collection in the 

Member States of the European Union. 
286 http://www.eelga.gov.uk/documents/publications/smp_migrant_health_issues_scoping_report_updated_jan_2010.pdf 

146



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

125 
 

misunderstandings about how health services work and because of barriers faced when trying to do 

so, such as difficulty communicating without translation/interpreting. 

Studies have also revealed that migrants who received accessible information were more likely to 

have registered with a GP.287 In addition, migrant groups with the highest health needs are often the 

ones with the lowest proportion registered with primary care.288 

There is some evidence regarding specific risk factors.  For example, the increased risk of obesity-

related disease in some ethnic groups is acknowledged in NICE guidance289 which recommend 

reducing the definition of obesity and the threshold for obesity services for people with a black, 

black Caribbean or south Asian ethnicity from BMI of 30 to 27.5. This would have an impact on 

weight management services in areas of Peterborough with higher proportions of people from these 

ethnic backgrounds. It will be important to ensure access to relevant and appropriate services for 

people from Asian and black ethnicities in general practices with higher proportions of people from 

these backgrounds. 

 

There are many examples of good practice to enable ethnic groups to access healthcare. 

1. Good practice: primary care  

There are some examples of good practice to encourage GP engagement with non-UK born 

residents:  

 GP services having weekly drop-in sessions with interpreters available was found to be cost 

saving and effective. Improved access to community-based GPs and delivery of more 

appropriate care may lessen the impact on acute services.290  

 Marginalised and vulnerable adults service – Ipswich – provides initial GP appointments of 

double the standard length.  

 

2. Good practice: Peterborough Health check pilot 

A local pilot in Peterborough targeted the low uptake of NHS health checks in people from minority 

ethnic communities.  These checks were introduced to identify early signs of stroke, kidney disease, 

heart disease, Type-2 diabetes and dementia.  Three surgeries were chosen due to their high 

proportions of ethnic minorities.  The study identified the barriers to increasing the number of 

health checks.  The first were issues with staffing and capacity.  The second concerned engaging 

people who had not responded to previous requests (an annual invitation to book an appointment).  

The factors that were deemed to play in to this were: 

 Language barriers 

 Not having the awareness of the importance of health checks 

                                                           
287  Humphries, L. (2015) Migrant Workers Accessing Healthcare in Norfolk, Healthwatch Norfolk (2) 
288  Stagg, H. et al (2012) Poor uptake of primary healthcare registration among recent entrants to the UK: a retrospective 

cohort study, BMJ Open 2012, 2: e001453, doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001453 
289  Obesity in children, young people and adults, 201420 & NICE guideline PH46, 201321 
290  Hargreaves, S. et al (2006) Impact on and use of health services by international migrants: questionnaire survey of 

inner city London A&E attenders. 

147



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

126 
 

The experience of time and priorities being different across different cultures. To tackle these issues, 

appointments would be made and followed up in a short period of time eg appointments made on a 

Monday for a Thursday.  A follow-up telephone call made by an interpreter to remind the person of 

the appointment increased the importance of the appointment.  

This pilot was very successful and increased the uptake of health checks considerably to 191 health 

checks for people of Indian, Pakistani, African or Caribbean, Bangladeshi, other Asian background or 

Eastern European which would likely not have happened otherwise.  Unfortunately the baseline 

number of health checks was not recorded but staff reported that this was a vastly increased uptake.  

This resulted in 32 referrals to weight management programmes, 33 referrals to smoking cessation 

services, four people being started treatment for hypertension and six for diabetes. 

8.7 LOCAL DISCUSSION: WHAT ARE THE ENABLERS AND BARRIERS TO PRIMARY 

PREVENTION IN PETERBOROUGH? 

Given the diversity of the population of Peterborough, enablers and barriers to primary prevention 

of long term conditions must be carefully considered.  Local views were sought in order to inform 

further action.  This included hosting a stakeholder event in March 2017 which included older 

people’s representatives, service providers and policy makers. Discussion at the event highlighted 

the enablers and barriers in the following table: 

Barriers Enablers/Local assets 

Resistance to chance – ‘Peterborough works 

the way they work!’ 

Some engagement 

New communities Efforts to integrate 

Unhelpful language “Asian communities” and 

associated assumptions 

It is flat – can get out and walk small distances 

Negative perceptions of ageing - eg ‘physical 

activity is not for older people’ 

Can get to the countryside easily 

Apathy on behalf of providers and service users 

–  

expectation that people won’t engage 

City centre is small 

Urban layout – encourages driving Active voluntary sector & diverse range of 

activities eg Muslim women’s deaf groups, 

walking groups 

Poor public transport Desire for growth 

Poor work-life balance Leisure Trust – Independent 

148



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

127 
 

Available services not appropriate or accessible 

to diverse ethnic communities  

Strong disability awareness and services 

available 

Isolation and lack of integration -Scattered 

communities 

Some local examples of outreach eg smoking 

cessation in local community centres 

Smoking and drinking as a way of coping, 

socialising 

Luncheon clubs as a platform for activities to 

encourage healthy ageing 

Fear eg of public perceptions, not being able to, 

fear of falling 

Community connectors and health trainers 

Low incomes – cannot afford transport or gym 

membership 

Independent leisure trust 

Disabilities and chronic disease  

 

Lessons from this stakeholder event and various focus groups (for full information, please see 

appendices), began to address the barriers to primary prevention. 

Framing of message 

A suggested solution to this problem is wider use of ‘frailty’ rather than a reliance on age. Certain 

communities consider ageing a social construct.  It may be linked to milestones eg becoming elderly 

occurs when becoming a grandparent (regardless of whether this happens at 45 or 70).  With this 

may come an expectation of illness and the idea that illnesses like diabetes are a normal part of 

ageing. It is important to challenge these fixed perceptions and encourage healthy ageing. 

Moreover, certain health beliefs may be attached to illnesses.  Some may adopt a patient persona 

therefore for example consider themselves unable to do exercise because they are ill with a long 

term condition.  In this way illness can become a binary issue of either ill or well.  If these personal 

barriers are to be challenged it must be done in a sensitive way. 

Training 

Tackling the issues surrounding this begins with an awareness of how to define groups of people, for 

example, the term ‘Asian Community’ can be a large barrier.  It naively groups people of different 

religions, from various countries and people that have moved to the UK at different times.  Second 

generation people who have grown up and worked in the country in general will have a different 

approach to healthy living than an elderly person who moved to the country with their family and 

have had little integration into the wider UK society.   

Negative expectations and prejudices of professionals can include: 

149



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

128 
 

 Expectations that people will engage if given the information.  Once the factors that have 

previously been discussed here are considered, this can be seen to be a rather simplistic 

view.   

 Considering people above a certain age unable to do exercise classes.  

 Admitting all people over the age of 65 to a healthcare of the elderly ward in hospital. 

Training in cultural competence can alleviate these issues. 

Outreach and tailoring of services 

The importance of consideration of culture and ethnicity in the context of the socioeconomic 

situation is highlighted by the following examples: Pakistani women are traditionally the central hub 

of the family and are incredibly busy so have very little time to think about their health. The food a 

woman cooks reflects the woman’s worth and curries as the traditional food tend to have a high fat 

content.  It is, therefore, important to give people different options for food.  Coming from a country 

where food may be scare leads to the thought ‘it is here so I should eat it’.  Moreover, beauty is seen 

in a different light than in Western society, for example if a person is slim some may ask: what is 

wrong?  Awareness and understanding of these complex factors can allow barriers to be broken 

down. 

In the immigrant population, as with the elderly population in general, isolation can be a problem.  

People who live in isolated communities live, work, shop and socialise within a certain area that is 

comfortable for them.  Accessing services away from this comfort zone can be alien and frightening 

therefore offering services in close proximity to where they are geographically and personally can 

increase uptake. 

Furthermore, in the elderly, services may be more suitable for a white British service users which 

compounds inequalities for example ‘Singing for the Brain’ which are groups for people with 

Dementia and they often sing old British war songs. 

It has be shown that subtle changes these can allow people to engage more easily.  Health checks, 

for example, can be done tailored to the needs of a community: 

 Mobile health checks vehicles are being taken to mosques in London removing a variety of 

issues including transportation and time constraints.  

 Adapting the way in which people are invited to appointments was piloted in Peterborough.  

Cultural differences in how time is viewed mean that a generic ‘please make an 

appointment’ invitation letter is much less effective than an allotted appointment time. 

Another example of how knowledge can enable access to services: Physical activity classes must take 

into account the diverse population who may struggle to attend in ‘normal’ hours, eg Muslim 

women may not be able to attend women’s only swimming from 8 pm until 9 pm.  Therefore these 

services must be flexible and tailored to the community. 

Services may be accessed indirectly through family members or carers. It is therefore important to 

make use of family and community networks.   

  

150



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  ENABLERS AND BARRIERS 

129 
 

Coordination and collaboration between services 

Lack of coordination between services after years of re-organisation and change provides a large 

barrier to accessing services.  This is compounded by the fact that services often change names.   

Signposting 

Signposting was seen as vital. The example of giving hairdressers and barbers information to help 

was offered.  Care coordinators are enablers of primary prevention.  Examples include admiral 

nurses in dementia care and care service navigators for motor neurone disease. 

A further step suggested was use of a single ‘package’ for services as service users may be 

discouraged by bureaucracy or having to deal with multiple different services.  Multiple services also 

lead to logistical issues with information sharing. 

Use local leaders and stakeholders 

One enabler for this change lies in Peterborough’s strong communities and their leaders: religious 

groups form places where groups regularly meet for example with luncheon clubs providing a target 

audience for health promotion.   

Language can present an impenetrable barrier.  Religious groups can help with language barriers in 

addition to Community connectors and health trainers. These existing links to hard-to-reach 

communities that should be utilised.  Information about health should be carried in different 

languages on apps, on work phones and ipads etc, however this “positive social change can have a 

negative effect on older people, eg digital by default and reliance on digital media” and the 

importance of providing different ways to access information was highlighted. 

Opportunistic engagement 

Opportunistic engagement can work well, for example, eastern European immigrants (Polish, 

Latvian, Lithuanian) have Saturday school for their children to teach traditional values.  Mothers 

waiting for their children can provide an opportunity for engagement.   

 

 

151



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA SUMMARY OF KEY ACTIONS/OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
  THE FUTURE 

130 
 

9. SUMMARY OF KEY ACTIONS/OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE FUTURE  

The approach to prevention and healthy ageing within this JSNA is in alignment with emerging 

approaches which take into account the specific needs of older people and opportunities across the 

lifecourse. This approach is in keeping and responds to demographic change and current pressures 

on health and social care resources. The JSNA focusses on older people and highlights the specific 

opportunities that exist in Peterborough particularly around a growing mid-life population (during 

which many preventative interventions are known to have the greatest impact on later life). The 

JSNA also presents a description of those at higher risk of poor health in later life and, in response, 

potential interventions and health promoting approaches that can be adapted and targeted to meet 

the needs of the most vulnerable groups locally. 

Overarching opportunities for action include: 

● Co-production of succinct, easily understood and consistent key messages appropriately 

responsive to key groups. 

● Development of tailored and targeted preventative interventions for groups who may be at 

increased risk of poorer health outcomes and experience greater barriers to access and 

adoption of preventative approaches. 

● Commissioning of robust and targeted research and evaluation to better understand local 

levels access, engagement and adoption of primary preventative approaches, needs and 

barriers of local older populations and monitoring of what works. 

● Maintain active involvement with older people and ensure co-design of approaches to 

ensure effectiveness and retain person-centred focus. 

● Promotion of intergenerational approaches – what’s often good for older people is good for 

all – enhancing intergenerational relationships and cohesion across communities. 

● Promotion of sustainable approaches to ensure continuity and effective impact. 

● Commitment, leadership and advocacy of an “Ageing Well” approach, embedded across 

sectors and agencies to champion and drive strategy and action on health across the 

lifecourse at the highest level. 

This JSNA focussed on the most powerful determinants of health in later life and local partners from 

across sectors, utilising this work as a foundation, together produced a summary of key actions and 

practical steps to take going forward to preserve health in later life for each determinant. Each focus 

area took relevant enablers and barriers into account. Proposed actions and opportunities are 

presented below. 

 

Physical Activity 

 Commission robust and targeted research and evaluation to better understanding the levels 

of physical activity, needs and barriers of our local older population and monitoring of what 

works e.g. drop out rates, self-referral from GPs, community based health and wellbeing 

hubs 

 Include health promotion messaging specifically reaches carers – not only to promote 

physical activity to those they are caring for but also to engage themselves 

 Work creatively to co-produce and disseminate targeted and market-segmented messages 

promoting physical activity and access to services 

152



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA SUMMARY OF KEY ACTIONS/OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
  THE FUTURE 

131 
 

 Ensure sustainability of services and messages 

 Utilise existing assets e.g. Health Checks and Community Serve assets as an opportunity to 

better target 50+ population and pass on knowledge about available services and general 

lifestyle  

 Generate and disseminate messages on physical activity at schools (relevant for younger 

people and across the life course).  

 

Diet and Malnutrition 

 Gain understanding of key/target risk groups  and how best to identify and stratify risk and 

target those in need   

 Review and develop appropriate community pathways  

 Develop Community Outreach – including peer learning and education links, utilising 

creative channels e.g. supermarket links  

 Consider promoting messaging regarding diet and available support through winter warmth 

packs 

 Explore hospital and community meals outsourcing, including monitoring of outcomes 

 Include metrics addressing diet and malnutrition in older people within an outcomes 

framework: what does good look like, clear targets, evaluation and what works 

 Consider expansion of Cambridgeshire Safe & Well visits to include focus on malnutrition. 

 

Smoking and alcohol 

 Commission local research to better understand efficacy of targeted messages and then 

target to appropriate key groups  

 Give parity to mental health – as mandated by national NHS guidance but also due to higher 

prevalence of tobacco and alcohol use in people with mental illness 

 Co-produce messages that are succinct, easily understood and consistent – ‘one version of 

the truth’ that responds to key groups appropriately 

 Consider delivery of face-to-face messages to specific community groups and at places of 

work where appropriate 

 Explore options of promote alternative ways of social engagement that  do not involve 

alcohol 

 Explore relevant social prescribing best practice evidence.  

 

Environments 

 Accept that Peterborough is a car dependent city and that interventions need to be framed 

taking this into account 

 Focus in developing solutions for rural transport links with local partners to avoid social 

isolation in these areas 

 Advocate and drive promotion of dementia-friendly environments 

 Utilise opportunities through housing sectors to understand safety and appropriateness of 

homes for older people eg house condition survey – circa £30 million to address category 1 

hazards 

 Commission greater levels of research to understand needs, particularly in rural areas and 

utilise local opportunities. 

 

153



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA SUMMARY OF KEY ACTIONS/OPPORTUNITIES FOR 
  THE FUTURE 

132 
 

 

Preventing ill health in later life and promoting healthy ageing is a complex consideration that 

cannot be addressed by a narrow view of health in older age as a state defined by the absence of 

disease. Health needs to be considered as a fundamental and holistic attribute that enables older 

people to achieve the things that are important to them. Ageing is a dynamic process - where subtle 

shifts in capacity or environment can have significant long-term consequences. To strengthen an 

older person’s ability to navigate and adapt to these dynamics and the losses they are likely to 

experience, local sectors and partners are well placed to support and foster resilience at a number of 

levels.  

Fundamentally, ageing well is relevant to everybody and the elements required to achieve good 

health in life are relevant across the lifecourse. Many sectors and partners have joint roles to play in 

achieving healthy ageing for local communities, for which a commitment to building an age-friendly 

culture and communities is essential. A system-wide healthy ageing approach requires a 

transformation of health and care systems away from disease-based curative models and towards 

the provision of preventative and holistic integrated care that is centred on the needs of local older 

people. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

154



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

133 
 

10. APPENDICES 

APPENDIX 1 

Accident and Emergency Attendances for patients aged 65+ registered with a  Practice in Peterborough 
LCG by Practice, Directly Age Standardised rate per 100,000 

                

    Number 
Age Standardised rate per 

100,000 

GP Code IMD 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17* 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17* 

D81624 39.81 168 204 138 51,852 64,968 44,805 

D81073 38.20 206 193 206 38,941 34,964 36,268 

D81631 38.13 274 273 273 46,758 47,150 47,979 

D81065 36.79 135 153 155 44,118 51,689 49,051 

D81625 36.07 290 322 309 33,030 33,094 29,513 

D81053 35.80 520 601 535 32,663 37,237 32,229 

D81063 35.48 422 454 433 36,161 37,960 36,204 

D81020 31.71 538 602 483 33,625 35,000 26,938 

D81629 31.49 269 294 264 39,852 42,424 37,288 

D81605 30.46 148 149 142 33,110 33,864 33,412 

D81007 30.26 537 513 510 39,140 36,853 35,590 

D81026 30.01 1850 2072 1810 35,488 40,054 35,125 

D81019 29.55 277 280 261 34,843 34,146 31,752 

D81024 29.25 496 523 455 37,462 39,711 33,854 

D81620 28.99 36 53 36 28,346 37,589 21,951 

D81023 28.89 478 567 520 29,894 34,322 30,145 

D81645 25.47 131 125 118 39,222 37,538 36,646 

D81029 24.43 765 719 684 35,648 33,256 31,247 

D81615 21.26 177 218 167 25,802 28,874 20,541 

D81022 20.60 475 502 456 30,488 31,632 28,411 

Y00486 20.20 216 171 153 39,488 31,492 27,667 

D81046 19.67 987 1041 1006 32,446 32,329 30,329 

155



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

134 
 

D81039 18.64 575 520 510 30,881 27,778 26,956 

D81616 15.77 166 156 159 33,068 28,889 26,238 

D81630 14.95 229 273 296 52,523 57,474 57,476 

D81618 13.50 125 132 137 30,562 30,000 29,718 

K83017 13.09 387 410 398 25,065 25,000 23,357 

D81031 11.95 714 629 630 28,989 24,911 24,027 

K83023 9.78 628 582 549 26,387 23,736 21,631 

PETERBOROUGH 
AREA LCG 

- 
12,219 12,735 11,793 

34,027 34,027 34,027 

CCG - 46,817 48,320 44,715 32,200 32,200 32,200 

 

156



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

135 
 

APPENDIX 2 - Barriers 

Conversations with the community 

When describing healthy ageing there was an emphasis on physical health.  Many of the Pakistani 

older men’s group described going for walks to get exercise.  Similarly the president of the Hindu 

temple 

They said that weight loss was important.   

“People need opportunities for exercise that are free or more accessible.  The climate here is a 

problem because it forces you to stay at home more.  It’s boring, there is a lack of socialising 

between people compared to Pakistan where there is a ‘tea’ culture (people just meet up to drink 

tea).  Groups like (Pakistani older men’s group) this are good but we need to make them more 

sustainable.” 

 

Health beliefs 

They spoke of medicalisation.  Many will go to the GP for example to recheck their blood pressure 

but the GP will say to continue taking medications and that there is no need to have it rechecked. 

One gentleman spoke of getting headaches before his diagnosis of hypertension and he drank milk 

as a remedy for this. 

 

Preventative medicine 

Preventative medicine happens from family and the community.  For example one gentleman 

described that when he had been diagnosed with hypertension the GP did not give advice – only 

medications – and he found out dietary modifications from the community. 

Services in the community 

They were aware of very few in the community, particularly they felt none were available for older 

people.  Gyms were mentioned but quickly dismissed due to cost. 

Daily morning walk at the Hindu temple – set up by one of the committee members – provides an 

opportunity to both socialise and exercise. 

Barriers and enablers 

There was a belief that people in the community are not consciously aware of the need to live a 

healthy lifestyle.  

Luncheon clubs provide a time that members of the community come together and these have been 

used to provide talks about healthy age and there are plans for a health trainer to come and do 

some chair exercises prior to the food. 

157



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

136 
 

 

Culture was a barrier to any change to diet or exercise and how irrelevant local services were. He 

used the example of how ridiculous it was to even suggest that a Muslim woman could use a 

communal pool in Peterborough! 

The problem with the Hindu community (compared to the Muslim one) is that it is spread out in 

Peterborough making it more difficult to have community events.  It was noted though that free bus 

passes for the elderly did alleviate this problem somewhat. 

Opportunities – simple things like any leaflets we have can be translated at the Hindu temple. 

Spoke of a concession facility being required. 

The Hindu temple received a lottery grant which put in place a project officer for the elderly.  This 

meant that the community gained more of an awareness of healthy living through presentations on 

for example weight management and a professional would monitor blood pressure, glucose levels… 

Initially there was some caution engaging with the project in the community.  However once trust 

had been built up. 

Sometimes pilot schemes can lead to more sustainable working for example a Pakistani Older Men’s 

luncheon group was given a discrete amount of funding.  When the funding came to an end the 

group continued with each of the men agreeing to pay £3 for food. 

Often location is quoted as a barrier to ethnic groups accessing services.  However the barrier is 

more of a subtle one.  To give an example to make this point, in Peterborough there is a dementia 

resource centre across the road from a Hindu temple, yet the feeling from the community was that 

they would not go to the resource centre.  Factors playing in to this could include the feeling that the 

resource centre is a ‘white person’s place’, a wariness of new places, particularly those dominated 

by ‘white people’ and the fact that dementia is seen as a curse or embarrassment.   

The dementia resource centre was taking small steps which could have a large impact on breaking 

down these barriers.  Their plan was to initially hold groups at the temple so that trust could be built 

up and then invite people for a coffee morning so that they could see the resource centre without 

the added pressure of a group to go to.  

Asian culture 

In Asian culture the tradition is to ‘look after your own’.  However this creates problems with 

isolation.  The culture is born from a traditional Asian lifestyle were extended family would life in 

close proximity and children would look after their parents as they got more elderly.   

Transposing this culture on to a life in the UK leads to growing isolation in the elderly as families live 

in discrete houses, are less likely to go outside because of the weather and experience language 

barriers which make them less likely to interact.  Additionally the pressures of a westernised life 

mean that the children have much less time to look after their parents.  

158



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

137 
 

Furthermore, employment in the country they originated from was very likely to involve physical 

work so therefore it was not necessary to think of exercise.  More unhealthy lifestyles are thought to 

be due to a combination of climate, geographic and physical factors. 

  

159



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

138 
 

APPENDIX 3 – Feedback from the Dissemination Event 

 

Diet & Malnutrition  

Key Issues Captured: 

 Identification of malnutrition often via home visits for alternative purposes, eg carers, Fire 

Service safe and well visits, rather than specifically for malnutrition. 

 Reasons for malnutrition issues: dementia, mental health, education, physical issues, loss of 

interest in maintaining health/addressing root causes of health issues 

 Screening tool for malnutrition – can it be extended to not just health professionals? 

 What groups are most at risk? – Dementia sufferers, people living alone, people living with 

mental health issues, alcoholics, those with mobility problems 

 Cost of dietary requirements can be considered excessive in some cases? 

 Food banks can be a source of ‘shame’ and don’t always cover dietary requirements 

 Lack of understanding of some conditions that can lead to malnutrition eg Lactose 

intolerance 

 Accessibility of shops 

 Expand Cambridgeshire Safe & Well visits to Peterborough 

 

Recommendations: 

 

 Stratification and identification of key/target risk groups.  

 Universal screening tool 

 Appropriate community pathways to be implemented/reviewed 

 Community Outreach – including peer learning and education links. Supermarket links where 

appropriate 

 Winter warm packs 

 Hospital and community meals outsourcing, including monitoring of outcomes 

 Inclusion within an outcomes framework: what does good look like, clear targets, evaluation 

and what works, PlanDoStudyAct approach to developing working models 

 

Alcohol & Tobacco 

Key Issues Captured: 

 Current health checks don’t appear to be hitting target groups in respect of driving 
behaviour change - more data on which groups we should target - given changing 
demographics.    

 Mental Health not adequately considered - either in relation to tackling smoking and 
alcohol or impact on mental health. 

 Air pollution not poor despite the car usage - so not necessarily a factor for poorer 
outcomes but worth considering. 

 Face to face messages work best with older people - targeted appropriately to their 
demographic - via PCVS experience. 

160



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

139 
 

 Alcohol is associated strongly with social contact and socialising with white British older 
population how can we find alternatives – eg weight watchers / slimmer’s world? 

Recommendations: 

 

 Research efficacy of targeted messages and then target to appropriate key groups (based on 

ethnicity, age, gender etc) 

 Give parity to mental health – as mandated by national NHS guidance but also due to higher 

prevalence of tobacco and alcohol use in people with mental illness 

 Keep messages short, easily understood and consistent – ‘one version of the truth’ 

 Deliver face to face messages to community groups and at places of work 

 Promote alternative ways of socialising that do not involve alcohol 

 Utilise established social prescribing best practice evidence 

 

 

Built Environment 

Key Issues Captured/Recommendations (captured as one by this group?) 

 Accept that Peterborough is a car dependent city and frame interventions with this in mind 

 Poor rural transport links lead to social isolation 

 Promote dementia-friendly environments 

 House condition survey – circa £30 million to address category 1 hazards 

 Peterborough is a ‘new town’ with much housing built in 1970s and 1980s so all housing is 

ageing at once. 

 Commission greater levels of research in to need, particularly in rural areas 

 

Physical Activity 

Key Issues Captured: 

 Better local data required eg exercise rates by age, gender. National surveys not sufficient as 

need to know electoral ward differences as well 

 Do we have enough capacity to meet demand if demand were to be increased by 

intervention? 

 How do we ensure carers can get sufficient physical activity 

 Long Term Conditions to be captured by a separate JSNA? 

 Lack of clarity over whether messages actually reach intended audiences 

 

Recommendations: 

 

 Commission research in to better understanding of our local population 

 Target carers – around 17,000 but estimated to huge unpaid workforce 

 Market-segmented messages  

 Improve sustainability via monitoring of what works eg drop-out rates, self-referral from 

GPs, 

161



OLDER PEOPLE’S PRIMARY PREVENTION JSNA  APPENDICES 

140 
 

 Community based health and wellbeing hubs. 

 Use Health Checks as an opportunity to pass on knowledge about available services and 

general lifestyle  

 Schools – messages applicable to both children and older people can be disseminated via 

schools 

 Utilise Community Serve assets to better target 50+ population. 

 

 

 

162



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No.  5

12 JUNE 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Greater Peterborough Network (GP Federation) 
Contact 
Officer(s):

Mustafa Malik Tel. 07801
393230

INCREASED 7 DAY GP ACCESS

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Greater Peterborough Network Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. Note the Greater Peterborough Network’s service in offering Primary Care extended access, seven 
days a week, to all residents of Greater Peterborough. 

2. Note that patients can access seven day Primary Care services both in the weekday evenings and 
all day at weekends and bank holidays. 

3. Note that Greater Peterborough Network’s Hub now hosts Solutions for Health Peterborough 
offering advice and coaching on diet, smoking cessation, alcohol reduction and weight 
management, providing patients with holistic care. 

4. Note that the Greater Peterborough Network is in discussions with a range of partners about 
hosting evening and weekend appointments at the Hub for matters such as debt and legal advice. 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Board from Mustafa Malik, Chief Executive Officer of Greater 
Peterborough Network.  
 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the committee of the seven day extended primary care 
service as well as a background more broadly into Greater Peterborough Network. 

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 3.9:

To keep under consideration, the financial and organisational implications of joint and integrated 
working across health and social care services, and to make recommendations for ensuring that 
performance and quality standards for health and social care services to children, families and 
adults are met and represent value for money across the whole system.

3. TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

163



4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 Background 

Who is Greater Peterborough Network? 
Greater Peterborough Network Limited (GPN) was set up in late 2015, with the initial purpose of 
being a vehicle for delivery of the Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund (PMCF) bid which the 
Peterborough System had been awarded earlier that year. 
This funding was for local GPs to develop and trial different ways of working within primary care 
to improve access and patient care; looking at how primary care can support patients and other 
services at weekday evenings and weekends; providing online access to primary care advice; 
and increasing capacity within primary care.
Effective delivery of the bid required an organisation to hold the contract with NHS England, 
manage and oversee the funds, and to co-ordinate with local Practices for service delivery.  It 
also allowed for the development of an appropriate set of governance processes for oversight of 
the funds and associated work to be put in place. 
The organisation is made up of 28 individual Practices involved in trailing new ways of working 
within primary care. Greater Peterborough Network is governed by a Board of Directors 
comprising of 6 GPs from across Greater Peterborough along with a Non-Executive Director and 
an appointed Chief Executive Officer.

Accessing The Service
Greater Peterborough Network provides extended primary care access Monday – Friday 6.30pm-
8pm and 9am-5pm at Weekends and bank holidays.

The service is delivered 7 days a week from a central location (Boroughbury Medical Centre, 
Craig Street, PE1 2EJ) for all patients registered with a GP Surgery across Greater Peterborough. 

Patients can telephone their own Practice, and be offered the opportunity to book an available 
appointment either at their Practice where available or at the Hub irrespective of which local 
surgery you are registered within Greater Peterborough. 

Patients can also contact 111 and where appropriate, will be offered same day appointments 
within the Greater Peterborough Network Hub. 

Service Model 
The service is delivered by a range of Clinicians ensuring that patients are treated by the most 
appropriate clinician ranging from a GP to a Specialist Nurse to a Phlebotomist.

The service delivers a range of services that patients can be treated for, from routine and general 
illnesses to specialist nursing services such as cervical smear. 

Also for patients requiring blood to be taken, a Phlebotomy service is also offered. This is 
popular with patients at the weekend who require to fast prior to testing.  

Please see below diagram for an overview of services offered as well as how to access them. 

164



*Please note that work on video consultations requires further work 

5. CONSULTATION OR ENGAGEMENT

5.1 The service was initially commissioned jointly by NHS England and Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CAPCCG) but recently with primary care 
commissioning responsibility delegated to CAPCCG they are sole commissioner. 
The service has been defined by the commissioners, we have developed the services and clinics 
available to patients within the extended period jointly with commissioners and patients, meeting 
with local surgery Practice Participation Groups (PPGs) throughout November 2016 to January 
2017. 

We also have feedback forms available at the reception desk where we actively encourage 
patients to feedback their experiences and suggestions for  where the service can be improved. 
With the recent launch of a Facebook page, feedback can also be captured online where others 
can see any feedback left as well as how we have responded. 

Please refer to Appendix A : Leaflet explaining the service and how to access it 
                         Appendix B: Poster increasing awareness of the service 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 We now deliver more than 500 appointments per week for all patients registered with a local GP 
surgery and anticipate the number of weekly appointments offered to increase as awareness of 
the service increases. 

With increased awareness, it is anticipated that patients who attend the local Emergency 
Department with conditions suitable for primary care may not do so as they can access a GP 
appointment on the same day, seven days a week. 

Also, with the 111 service able to book patients into same day appointments, it is anticipated that 
this will also reduce the number of patients who attend the Emergency Department as they will 
be offered a same day GP appointment. 

165



7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note Greater Peterborough Network’s 
service in offering primary care extended access, seven days a week, to all residents of Greater 
Peterborough. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 NONE

11. APPENDICES

11.1 A : Leaflet explaining the service and how to access it 
B:  Poster increasing awareness of the service 

166



Can’t get to your 
GP surgery during 

opening hours?

Ask for an  
appointment  

at the GP Hub

Weekends & 
Bank Holidays  
09:00 til 17:00

Monday to 
Friday  

18:30 til 20:30 

Greater 
Peterborough
GP Hub

167



What is the GP Hub?
The GP Hub is a new GP led evening and weekend service 
where local GPs and practice nurses offer a range of 
services for patients registered with a GP surgery in Greater 
Peterborough. 

The GP Hub is run by a group of GP surgeries in Greater 
Peterborough called the Greater Peterborough Network. 

If you would like to find out more about the Greater 
Peterborough Network, please go to: 
www.greaterpeterboroughgps.nhs.uk   

Where is the GP Hub based?
The GP Hub provides services from:

Boroughbury Medical Centre 
Craig Street 
Peterborough  
PE1 2EJ.

What are the opening times for the GP 
Hub?
Appointments are available to registered patients between 
18:30 and 20:30 Monday to Friday and from 09:00 til 17:00 at 
weekends and Bank Holidays. 

If you can’t make it to your GP surgery during normal 
opening hours, ask your GP surgery reception for an 

appointment at the GP Hub.

Who are our partner organisations and 
how are we working together?
Greater Peterborough Network and its member practices 
are working in partnership with Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group to deliver 
extended access to Primary Care in Greater Peterborough. 

168



How does the GP Hub keep my 
information safe?
In order to support your care, healthcare staff maintain 
records about you. Staff working in the Hub are fully 
trained to understand their legal and professional 
obligations to protect your information and maintain 
patient confidentiality; we take great care to ensure your 
information is kept securely and confidentially, and used 
appropriately. 

What do you do with my personal 
information?
With your consent, details of your interaction with the 
service will be recorded on your patient record. Your 
registered GP will be notified of the contact with the service. 

What choices do I have?
You can object to your information being shared with 
Greater Peterborough Network. This will mean you cannot 
be seen by the GP Hub team and will have to seek medical 
treatment elsewhere. 

How can I find out more?
If you would like to find out how your information is used, 
raise an objection, request access or ask who has accessed 
it you can contact the Greater Peterborough Network by 
writing to:

The Manager 
Greater Peterborough Network  
Allia Future Business Centre 
London Rd, 
Peterborough  
PE2 8AL

Tel: 01733 666670

169



If you would like to find out more about  
Greater Peterborough Network visit:

www.greaterpeterboroughgps.nhs.uk   

To learn more about how the NHS safeguards patient 
information and your rights to object to your  

information being shared please go to: 

www.hscic.gov.uk/media/12823/ 
Confidentiality-guide-References/pdf/ 
confidentiality-guide-references.pdf

170



Can’t get to your 
GP surgery during 

opening hours?

Available to all registered patients 
of Greater Peterborough 

7 days a week

Monday to Friday 18:30-20:30 
Weekends & Bank holidays 09:00-17:00

Ask your GP reception 
for an appointment  

at the GP Hub

Greater 
Peterborough
GP Hub

Boroughbury Medical Centre   Craig Street   Peterborough   PE1 2EJ

This NHS Service is provided by Greater Peterborough Network Ltd,  
a company owned and run by local GPs.

171



This page is intentionally left blank

172



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 6

12 JUNE 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Health & Care Executive 
(Report produced by the System Delivery Unit)

Contact Officer(s): Aidan Fallon, Senior Communications and Engagement 
Manager, Sustainability and Transformation Programme – 
System Delivery Unit

Tel.
07970 195351 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE & PETERBOROUGH SUSTAINABILITY AND 
TRANSFORMATION PLAN (STP) UPDATE REPORT

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Health & Care 
Executive

Deadline date:  N/A

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board comment upon and note this update 
report.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Board from the System Delivery Unit of the Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough STP.
  

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress relating to 
the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough STP.

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 3.9:

To keep under consideration, the financial and organisational implications of joint and integrated 
working across health and social care services, and to make recommendations for ensuring that 
performance and quality standards for health and social care services to children, families and 
adults are met and represent value for money across the whole system.

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough health system faces significant challenges due to:

• the health and care needs of our rapidly growing, increasingly elderly population;
• significant health inequalities, including the health and wellbeing challenges of diverse 

ethnic communities;
• workforce shortages including recruitment and retention in general practice;

173



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

• quality shortcomings and inconsistent operational performance; and
• financial challenges which exceed those of any other STP area in England on a per capita 

basis, such that by 2021 we expect our collective NHS deficit, if we do nothing, to be £504m.

In order to address these challenges, the NHS (including general practice) and local government 
came together in 2016 to develop a five-year Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) to 
improve the health and care of our local population and bring the system back into financial 
balance.  The STP can be found at Cambridgeshire & Peterborough STP and, in essence, seeks 
to do the following:

 deliver a shift from reactive to proactive care, with a holistic approach to care planning, 
coordination, and delivery that empowers people to take as much control of their care as 
possible.  This approach aims to manage the growth in demand for services through better 
prevention, self-management, re-enablement and intensive management of rising risk and 
high risk people;

 deliver care pathway changes, standardised care and reduced variation to maximise quality 
and minimise unit costs through, for example, improved clinical networks, reduced Length of 
Stay in hospital and staff skill mix;

 deliver knowledge sharing, breaking down organisational and setting boundaries; 
 close the under-funding gap as quickly as possible and maximising income growth;
 reduce overheads within and across the health and care system by, for example, managing 

our Estate more effectively, maximising joint procurement across health and other public 
sector organisations, and integrating organisations and functions;

 use technology to improve modes of interaction/intervention; and
 mobilise collective efforts across the County’s NHS and public sector bodies to leverage the 

‘Cambridge research’ brand and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough-wide education and 
business offer to attract investment and make new partnerships, in line with on-going 
devolution.

To enable us to deliver the best care we can, we have agreed a unifying ambition for health and 
care in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. This is to develop the beneficial behaviours of an 
‘Accountable Care System’ by acting as one system, jointly accountable for improving our 
population’s health and wellbeing, outcomes, and experience, within a defined financial envelope.

Through discussion with our staff, patients, carers, and partners, we have articulated four 
priorities for change and we have also developed a 10-point plan to deliver these priorities, as 
set out below and illustrated at Annex 1.

Priorities for change 10-point plan

At home is best 1. People powered health and wellbeing
2. Neighbourhood care hubs

Safe and effective 
hospital care, when 
needed

3. Responsive urgent and expert emergency care
4. Systematic and standardised care
5. Continued world-famous research and services

We’re only sustainable 
together 6. Partnership working

Supported delivery

7. A culture of learning as a system
8. Workforce: growing our own
9. Using our land and buildings better
10.Using technology to modernise health

The STP also addresses the system-wide financial challenge of £504m over the next four years. 
It estimates the need to invest £43m to improve services over these four years, which increases 
the total system-wide financial challenge to £547m.

174

http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/documents/cambridgeshire-peterborough-sustainability-transformation-plan-october-2016/


5.

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

STP DELIVERY PROGRAMME

We have transitioned from STP development to delivery. We have put in place Fit for the Future 
(STP) programme arrangements, with a delivery governance structure to ensure effective 
implementation and this is illustrated at Annex 2, with an explanation of the purpose of each 
Group provided at Annex 3.  At its core are seven Delivery Groups, each one responsible to 
Accountable Officers who are Chief Executive Officers from across the health and social care 
system, as set out below.

 
The Delivery Groups cover clinical services, workforce and support services and are designed to 
encourage system-wide working and to allow for patient-led care to be at the forefront of 
everything we do.  Membership includes clinicians from organisations across the system as well 
as patient and public representation.

Improvement Project Groups have been established within each Delivery Group to take forward 
specific aspects of work and, again, these groups include/will include clinical membership and 
patient and public representation.  

We have established a clear and consistent structure to frame the various processes across the 
STP to ensure appropriate accountability across the ‘lifecycle’ of each STP Improvement Project, 
as set out below.  Over 30 projects are currently ‘live’ across one or other of the four stages of 
the STP programme cycle.

Urgent & Emergency Care Delivery Group

Planned Care Delivery 
Group

Children, Young People & Maternity 
Delivery Group

Primary Care & Integrated Neighbourhoods 
Delivery Group

Shared Services Delivery Group

Local Workforce Advisory Board Digital Delivery Group 

Enabling groups

The Delivery Groups are expected to set up 
project groups to deliver their workstreams 

Fit for the Future (STP) Delivery Groups

175



5.5

6.

6.1

6.2

6.2.1

It is important to bear in mind that STP delivery will take place over several years and we are 
seeking to ensure a good balance of pace that will deliver real changes for people as quickly as 
possible but without overwhelming the health and care system’s ability to process the changes.

CURRENT DELIVERY PRIORITIES 

This section summarises the current focus for implementation across the seven Delivery Groups 
within Fit for the Future.

Primary Care and Integrated Neighbourhoods

The purpose of this Delivery Group is to implement integrated health and care neighbourhood 
teams providing proactive care stratified by different levels of need, as determined by peoples 
medical and psychosocial conditions, and as illustrated in the diagram below.  We have brought 
together previously disparate work on healthy ageing, long-term conditions management, and 
mental health for the first time in this delivery programme.

176



6.2.2

6.2.3

6.3

6.3.1

6.3.2

Current priority Implementation Projects are:

• Community Heart Failure: Enhancement of the existing community heart failure service 
enabling equitable provision of high quality, NICE compliant, nurse led services for the 
population with chronic heart failure resulting in fewer hospital admissions, optimised 
medication management and shorter lengths of stay.

• Community Respiratory services: The development of community respiratory clinics run by 
Community Respiratory Consultant and follow-up clinics run by dedicated community 
respiratory nurse.

• Falls prevention:

1. Developing and implementing a falls prevention mass media campaign
2. Enhancement and expansion of strength and balance exercise provision
3. Enhancement of the existing specialist Falls Prevention Health Trainer Service across 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
4. Strengthening Falls Prevention Delivery and Integration in the Community
5. Development and implementation of Fracture Liaison Services (FLS) across all acute Trust 

areas
6. Employment of Public Health Falls Prevention Coordinator to ensure activities are 

coordinated

• Community Diabetes: Establishing a transformational community based diabetes model 
bringing care out of the acute setting and providing a holistic local offering to diabetic patients;

Other Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Primary care and 
Integrated 
Neighbourhoods

• Case Management Pilot
• End of Life Care 
• Locally commissioned services for long

term conditions 
• Social Prescribing
• AF - Stroke Prevention
• Dementia Management
• Suicide Prevention

Urgent and Emergency Care

This Delivery Group is seeking to manage demand for urgent and emergency care services which 
have seen significant increases over recent years resulting in clinical and financial challenges for 
the system.  The increase in demand in Cambridgeshire & Peterborough is driven mainly by 
population growth and, in particular, by growth in the older frail population, as well as a lack of 
community based services to support vulnerable people.

Current priority Implementation Projects are:

• Extended Joint Emergency Team (JET): The Health & Care Executive (HCE) (see diagram at 
Annex 2) has agreed to provide additional investment to recurrently fund an expansion of and 
enhancement to the current JET service to enable it to care for an increased cohort of 
vulnerable patients.  This increased funding will be used mainly to recruit additional staffing; 

• Stroke Early Supported Discharge (ESD): Funding has been approved by the HCE to allow 
the commissioning of an Integrated Community Neurorehabilitation and Early Supported 
Discharge Service. This will combine therapy and associated staff to support all patients on 

177



6.3.3

6.4

6.4.1

6.4.2

6.5

6.5.1

the neuro and stroke pathways ensuring equity of provision and economies of scale. The 
service will provide both intensive stroke discharge support for six weeks and home based 
neuro rehabilitation; and

Other Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Urgent and 
emergency care 

• Discharge to Assess
• Develop and deliver a mental health first response

service to enable 24/7 access to mental health
• Ambulances: dispatch on disposition, hear and treat,

divert to community services
• Extent and enhance ambulatory care services as

alternatives to admissions

Planned Care

The focus for Planned Care is to define, design and implement shorter, faster, better and more 
cost-effective pathways of care for patients needing planned (or sometimes known as ‘elective’) 
care.  This involves looking at every stage of the patient ‘journey’ from GP referral, outpatient 
appointment, procedure to follow up, ensuring that we are making the most effective use of 
clinical and financial resources.

Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Planned care • Demand Management 
• Standardise high volume elective treatment

pathways (orthopaedics, ophthalmology, ENT, 
cardiology)

• Reduced variation in diagnostic testing 
• Improved cancer services 

Children, Young People & Maternity Delivery Group

The Children, Young People and Maternity Services STP Delivery Group is leading seven 
projects over the next five years to improve services and outcomes for women and children.

178



6.5.2

6.6

6.6.1

6.6.2

6.6.3

6.7

6.7.1

Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Women and 
children 

• Introducing 7-day-a-week paediatric community nursing 
(for children who would otherwise require emergency/urgent
 care in the hospital setting) 

• Maternity developments such as the ‘saving babies lives’ care 
bundle 

• Improving the care models for children with asthma and 
children’s continence services

• Developing an integrated children and family health and 
wellbeing service for 0-19 year olds

• Improve the mental health support for children and young
people

Shared Services

This Delivery Group is focussed on ensuring that we optimise the use of our resources, assets 
and potential.  This includes, for example, making best use of NHS buildings and land, sharing 
‘back office’ functions such as Human Resources, and streamlining our procurement and 
purchasing processes.

The establishment of North West Anglia Foundation Trust in April of this year, through the merger 
of Hinchingbrooke Healthcare NHS Trust and Peterborough & Stamford Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, will ultimately make a significant contribution to shared service savings.

Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Shared 
services

• Merger of Hinchingbrooke and Peterborough to 
enable shared service savings

• Explore back office consolidation across primary care
• Implement a single approach to procurement 
• Develop and sign off strategic estate plans

Local Workforce Advisory Board

In order to maximise the impact of new care models, the Local Workforce Advisory Board is 
working closely with clinical leads to ensure that workforce requirements can be met. Care models 
must take into account current workforce capacity and capability, and consider the change 
required to develop a workforce which is capable, competent, motivated, and supported to 
provide the best care for the population in future.

179



6.7.2

6.8

6.8.1

6.8.2

6.8.3

Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Local 
Workforce 
Advisory Board

• System-wide long-term workforce plan
• System-wide Organisational Development Plan
• Develop a system-wide Workforce Investment Plan,

in which all providers commit to investment priorities in 
relation to Apprenticeships (via LEVY), Pre-Registration,
CPD and wider workforce transformation

• Link to supply improvement programme and design a
tailored programme for primary care, linking to case load 
management trailblazers

Digital Delivery

This Delivery Group is concerned with how best we can meet the opportunities and challenges 
of providing healthcare in a digital world where making the best use of technology is fundamental 
to supporting good care in areas such as tele-medicine, tele-monitoring, remote monitoring and 
paper free care delivery.

A key component of this work is the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Local Digital Roadmap 
which was published in January 2017 and which supports the delivery of the STP given the central 
role of digital technology.

Implementation Projects in development are:

Service area Improvement projects

Digital delivery • Plan to deliver the Local Digital Roadmap 
• Digital opportunities: tele-medicine, tele-monitoring,

GS1, remote monitoring, internet of things, Paper-free
care delivery

7. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

7.1

7.2

7.3

If NHS system partners deliver all aspects of the STP, this will achieve the savings and efficiency 
target and produce a small NHS surplus by 2020/21.

Due to the high levels of acute hospital activity, and resulting deteriorating financial position in 
our system, we have accelerated the pace of change and focussed early investment on the areas 
that will have greatest impact on reducing hospital activity levels.

Our priorities are to increase the amount of care delivered closer to home and to keep people 
well in their communities.

180



8. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

8.1 Source Documents Location

 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan

 Sustainability and Transformation Plan summary 
document

 Frequently Asked Questions

 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Digital 
Roadmap

All available at 
www.fitforfuture.org.uk/
what-were-
doing/publications/

http://dev.speed.agency/
fitforfuture/wp-
content/uploads/2017/0
1/0064-PH-STP-DRM-
Public.pdf

9. APPENDICES

9.1 ANNEX 1: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Fit for the Future Priorities
ANNEX 2: Fit for the Future Delivery Governance Structure
ANNEX 3: Purpose of each Group within the Fit for the Future Delivery Governance structure

181

http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/what-were-doing/publications/
http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/what-were-doing/publications/
http://www.fitforfuture.org.uk/what-were-doing/publications/
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/0064-PH-STP-DRM-Public.pdf
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/0064-PH-STP-DRM-Public.pdf
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/0064-PH-STP-DRM-Public.pdf
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/0064-PH-STP-DRM-Public.pdf
http://dev.speed.agency/fitforfuture/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/0064-PH-STP-DRM-Public.pdf


ANNEX 1: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Fit for the Future Priorities

182



ANNEX 2: Fit for the Future Delivery Governance Structure

183



ANNEX 3: Purpose of each Group within the Fit for the Future Delivery Governance 
structure

1. Health and Care Executive (HCE)

Organisations from across the system have agreed to work together, taking joint responsibility 
for improving the population’s health and wellbeing within a defined financial envelope. The 
Health and Care Executive (HCE) exists to provide strong, visible and collective leadership 
to this process.

The HCE’s main purpose is to commission and oversee a programme of work that will deliver 
the Fit for the Future priorities:

Priorities for change 10 point plan

At home is best 
11. People powered health and wellbeing
12. Neighbourhood care hubs

Safe and effective hospital care, when needed
13. Responsive urgent and expert emergency care
14. Systematic and standardised care
15. Continued world-famous research and services

We’re only sustainable together 16. Partnership working

Supported delivery

17. A culture of learning as a system
18. Workforce: growing our own
19. Using our land and buildings better
20. Using technology to modernise health

2. Care Advisory Group (CAG)

The main purpose of the Care Advisory Group (CAG) is to contribute to the overall delivery 
of Fit for the Future objectives by reviewing care model design proposals, horizon scan for 
innovations, ensure that there is a robust evidence base behind decisions, and making 
recommendations to the HCE. Expertise and opinion will be represented and sought from the 
public, from health and care providers and from clinical experts. The CAG will prioritise clinical 
issues to be considered by HCE and make recommendations for their consideration.

3. Financial Performance and Planning Group (FPPG)

The main purpose of the FPPG is to contribute to the overall delivery of Fit for the Future 
objectives by promoting financial sustainability of health and care provision within the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough footprint.

The responsibilities of the FPPG are as follows:

• To ensure that proposals are affordable, efficient, and represent value for money;
• To ensure that investments reduce health inequalities;
• To ensure that financial incentives are aligned around minimising system costs; and
• To ensure that patient benefit is maximised.

184



4. Investment Committee (IC)

Organisations from across the system have agreed to work together, taking joint responsibility 
for improving the population’s health and wellbeing within a defined financial envelope. In 
order to deliver this aim, a number of organisations in the system have committed to the 
creation and funding of an investment pot to fund some of the initiatives necessary to deliver 
the required change. The main purpose of the Investment Committee is to assess and 
evaluate Business Cases submitted for funding from this investment pot and, where 
supported, to recommend to the HCE for approval.

5. Delivery Groups

The structure includes the following Delivery Groups:

• Primary Care & Integrated Neighbourhoods;
• Urgent and Emergency Care;
• Planned Care;
• Children, Young People’s and Maternity;
• Shared Services;
• Digital; and 
• Local Workforce Advisory Board

The role of the Delivery Groups is to contribute to the overall delivery of Fit for the Future 
objectives by ensuring that the quality improvements and financial opportunities identified are 
realised. In particular, the delivery groups will be responsible for ensuring implementation 
(including savings realisation) of design projects, and delivery projects where implementation 
needs to happen consistently across the system.

6. Local Workforce Advisory Board (LWAB)

Critical to the successful delivery of Fit for the Future is the creation of an enabling workforce 
strategy for health and care.  The Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Workforce 
Advisory Board (LWAB) has been established to create this strategy which will align and 
develop the local workforce to meet the priorities set out in Fit for the Future. The LWAB 
brings together health and care organisations and key stakeholders across a broad range of 
workforce issues, current and future, and its purpose is to ensure that the people elements 
of the 5 year service strategy can be identified and delivered. 

7. Area Executive Partnerships (AEP)

Three Area Executive Partnerships were established around the following areas: (1) 
Cambridge and Ely, (2) Huntingdon and Fenland and (3) Greater Peterborough. Their role is 
to contribute to the overall delivery of Fit for the Future objectives by providing strategic advice 
and local knowledge and expertise to the Delivery Groups within the structure. They have a 
key role to play in ensuring that the local context is factored into project design as well as a 
role to assist delivery by providing links to local groups, unblocking any issues related to the 
local context and helping the Delivery Groups to address local barriers to change. [It should 
be noted that the role of AEPs and how they relate to District Council Local Health 
Partnerships is being reviewed to ensure that work is aligned and not duplicated]

185



Each Area Executive Partnership: 

• works with local communities (residents, patient groups, voluntary sector) and staff 
(primary care, NHS and local authorities) and develops an understanding of how to build 
capacity for proactively keeping people independent, well, and at home;

• provides a vehicle for strong and visible front-line clinical leadership and resident/ patient 
involvement; and

• promotes a culture of continuous quality improvement.

8. A&E Delivery Boards

Each A&E Delivery Board’s main purpose is to: 

• ensure urgent care needs are dealt with in the most appropriate setting by the most 
appropriate services (which in many cases should not be in A&E departments or acute 
hospital beds);

• provide a vehicle for strong and visible front-line clinical leadership and resident/ patient 
involvement; and

• promote a culture of continuous quality improvement

The A&E Delivery Boards are expected to oversee improvement projects that require locality 
tailoring for successful implementation. The over-arching guiding principle is that ‘the same 
things are done differently’ rather than ‘different things are done’ across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough.

186



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No. 7

12 JUNE 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
Contact Officer(s): CCG Engagement Team; capccg.contact@nhs.net Tel. 01223 

725304

 Motor Neurone Disease (MND) Charter -  Focus Group Update 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Catherine Mitchell

Director of Community Services & 
Integration, CCG/CCC/PCC

Deadline date:  N/A

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board note that there has been an initial meeting 
of the Focus Group, held with Daniel Emery and all relevant stakeholders to address areas of 
improvement locally.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Board to provide an update on the Action agreed at the   
Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Board of 23 March 2017.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the work being undertaken by the MND 
focus group

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 2.2 To actively promote
partnership working across health and social care in order to further improve health and wellbeing
of residents.

3. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

3.1 Daniel Emery (DE), representing the Motor Neurone Disease (MND) Association as their 
volunteer Campaign Coordinator for Cambridgeshire, previously outlined the context of current 
MND services and the MND Charter to the Board. The MND Charter was adopted by 
Peterborough City Council (PCC) on 08 March 2017.  DE requested that the Board consider ways 
in which support services would be able to work better together, to improve the lives of those 
living with MND and thereby breathe life into the Charter, improving the health and wellbeing of 
those living with MND.  

Key points highlighted and raised during previous Board discussions included:
 Education and training for support services was required.
 The suggestion that a focus group be formed, bringing together the relevant services with 

DE’s input, to identify the gaps and areas for improvement in services provided to MND 
patients. The outcome of this could be reported back to the Board.

 Another suggestion was the appointment of a single point of contact for MND patients, to 
assist them in accessing the right services at the right time.

187

mailto:capccg.contact@nhs.net


 It was noted that patients with other neurological conditions such as Parkinson’s disease 
could have similar needs to MND patients.  It was therefore suggested that the single point of 
contact could also be for patients with other neurological conditions.

DE advised that he had the time and commitment to assist the Board as above.

The CCG’s Director of Community Services and Integration volunteered to lead on the formation 
of the focus group.

4. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

4.1 The focus group has identified a series of actions to be addressed (see appendix A).

It will continue to meet to track progress with implementation of the Actions and discontinue 
when the work has been completed.

5. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

5.1 MND Charter (appendix B)

6. APPENDICES
6.1 Appendix A: Multiagency Action Plan

Appendix B: MND Charter

188



Appendix A

MULTI-AGENCY ACTION PLAN
LIVING WITH MND - FOCUS GROUP

UPDATED: MEETING HELD 21 APRIL 2017

TOPIC ACTION
MDT Meetings - attendance/purpose

To review membership at the MDT meetings.  Social 
Care to consider future representation

 

To review purpose of the MDT and communicate to 
stakeholders regarding referral process.

Training from MND Advanced training is available from MND.  Approach 
Daniel Emery to access

Open or closed cases in Social Care 
impact on adhoc access by Service 
Users when needs change To review current process in social care to be able to 

communicate clearly to service users how to request a 
re-assessment or initiate MDT referral/telephone 
assessment

Housing prioritisation for MND 
patients, younger people and over 65 
yrs

To review process to ensure that Housing needs are 
reviewed as early as possible after diagnosis as 
housing/adaptations have a longer lead in time

 To refer to OT's after diagnosis to undertake Housing 
Assessments

MND to include in materials the 
importance of housing

To review MND materials and prioritisation of 
housing/equipment eg. use case studes

Invoices/payment relating to Social 
Care/Live in Carers To revew Live in Carers and what does the contract 

include or exclude eg. meals, to rule out Social Care and 
Service Users paying twice.

MDT Clinic and MDT Meeting MDT held in Thorpe Hall including all professionals, 2 
monthly. 

 
To consider timeslots for the professionals attending

 To review consistency of MDT approach across the CCG 
footprint

Services Specification held with CPFT

To review if the service should be incuded in the 
neurological specifications in the future

Equipment/Wheelchairs ability to 
access quickly and know where to 
return

Equipment can be delivered by NRS next day and 
returned by calling for a return in 10 days.

 * Wheelchair referral through GP Practice.  To establish 
returns policy and feedback

189



This page is intentionally left blank

190



themndcharter
Achieving quality of life, dignity and respect for people with MND and their carers

191



The MND Charter is a statement of the respect,  
care and support that people living with motor 
neurone disease (MND) and their carers deserve,  
and should expect.

We believe that everyone with a connection 
to MND, either personally or professionally, 
should recognise and respect the rights of 
people with MND as set out in the Charter, 
and work towards the Charter’s vision of the 
right care, in the right place at the right time.

About MND:
●   MND is a fatal, rapidly progressing 

disease that affects the brain and  
spinal cord.

●   It can leave people locked in a failing 
body, unable to move, talk and 
eventually breathe.

●   A person’s lifetime risk of developing 
MND is up to one in 300.

●   It kills around 30% of people within 12 
months of diagnosis, more than 50% 
within two years.

●   It affects people from all communities.

●   It has no cure.

Therefore, what matters most is that people 
with MND receive a rapid response to their 
needs and good quality care and support, 
ensuring the highest quality of life as 
possible and the ability to die with dignity. 
The MND Charter serves as a tool to help 
make this happen. 

MND is a devastating, complex disease and 
particularly difficult to manage. We believe 
that if we get care right for MND we can get 
it right for other neurological conditions, 
and save public services money in the long 
run. But more importantly, we can make 
a positive difference to the lives of people 
with MND, their carers and their loved ones.

192



1

2

People with MND have the right to an early diagnosis 
and information 
● An early referral to a neurologist.
● An accurate and early diagnosis, given sensitively.
● Timely and appropriate access to information at all stages of their condition.

There is no diagnostic test for MND – it can only 
be diagnosed by ruling out other neurological 
conditions. People with MND can be halfway through 
their illness before they receive a firm diagnosis.

GPs need to be able to identify the symptoms and 
signs of a neurological problem and refer directly to 
a neurologist in order to speed up diagnosis times 
for MND. 

Appropriate tests must be carried out as soon as 
possible to confirm MND. The diagnosis should be 
given by a consultant neurologist with knowledge 

and experience of treating people with MND1. The 
diagnosis should be given sensitively, in private, 
with the person with MND accompanied by a family 
member/friend and with time to ask questions. A 
follow-up appointment with the neurologist should 
be arranged soon after diagnosis.

At diagnosis people with MND should be offered 
access to appropriate information and should be 
informed about the MND Association. Appropriate 
information should be available at all stages of the 
person’s condition in a language of their choice.

People with MND have the right to high quality care 
and treatments 
● Access to co-ordinated multidisciplinary care managed by a specialist key 

worker with experience of MND.
● Early access to specialist palliative care in a setting of their choice, including 

equitable access to hospices.
● Access to appropriate respiratory and nutritional management and support, as 

close to home as possible. 
● Access to the drug riluzole.
● Timely access to NHS continuing healthcare when needed.
● Early referral to social care services. 
● Referral for cognitive assessment, where appropriate.

People with MND may need care provided by health 
and social care professionals from up to 20 disciplines.  
This clearly needs co-ordination to work effectively. 
Co-ordinated care can improve the quality of life 
of people with MND and provide value for money 
for the NHS by preventing crises and emergency 
hospital admissions. The care should be co-ordinated 
by a specialist key worker with experience of MND 
who can anticipate needs and ensure they are met 
on time. Ongoing education for health and social 

care professionals is important to reflect advances in 
healthcare techniques and changes in best practice. 

A third of people with MND die within 12 months 
of diagnosis. Early access to specialist palliative care2 
soon after diagnosis is therefore vital and should be 
available in a setting of the person’s choice. Some 
hospices give preferential access to people with a 
cancer diagnosis. It is important that access is based 
on need, not diagnosis, so that people with MND 
have equitable access to hospice care. Hospices can 

THIS MEANS:

THIS MEANS:

193



3
People with MND have the right to be treated  
as individuals and with dignity and respect
● Being offered a personal care plan to specify what care and support  

they need.
● Being offered the opportunity to develop an Advance Care Plan to ensure 

their wishes are met, and appropriate end-of-life care is provided in their 
chosen setting. 

● Getting support to help them make the right choices to meet their needs when 
using personalised care options. 

● Prompt access to appropriate communication support and aids. 
● Opportunities to be involved in research if they so wish.

Everyone with MND should be offered a personal care 
plan3 to specify what care and support they need. 
The plan should be regularly reviewed as the disease 
progresses and the person’s needs change.

People with MND should be offered the opportunity 
to develop an Advance Care Plan4 to make clear their 
wishes for future care and support, including any 
care they do not wish to receive. The plan should 
be developed with support from a professional with 
specialist experience and may include preferences for 
end-of-life care.

Some people with MND will need support to help 
them make the right choices to meet their needs 
when using personalised care options, such as 
personal budgets.

As the disease progresses, some people with MND 
will experience difficulty speaking. It is important 

that people with MND can access speech and 
language therapy to help them maintain their voice 
for as long as possible. However, as the disease 
progresses, people with MND may need access to 
communication aids including augmentative and 
alternative communication (AAC)5. The ability to 
communicate is a basic human right. For people 
with MND, communication support and equipment 
are vital in order to remain socially active and to 
communicate their wishes about their care, especially 
during hospital stays and other medical environments. 

Many people with MND value the opportunity to 
be involved in research as it provides hope that 
one day an effective treatment will be developed. 
Everyone with MND who wishes to should be able to 
participate in research as far as is practicable. 

THIS MEANS:

provide high-quality respite care, which can benefit 
both the person with MND and their carer. 

As MND progresses, the respiratory muscles and 
muscles of the mouth and throat may be affected. 
People with MND may therefore need respiratory 
and nutritional support. It is important that these 
services are available as close to the person’s home as 
possible so that travelling is minimised and support is 
available quickly.

In 2001 the National Institute for Health and Care 
Excellence (NICE) recommended riluzole as a cost-
effective drug for people with MND. GPs can be 
reluctant to prescribe riluzole on cost grounds, 
despite its NICE-approved status, or to monitor for 

side effects during its use. However, it is vital that 
people with MND have ongoing access to this 
important treatment.

As the disease progresses, people with MND may 
need more intensive health care. It is important 
that people with MND have timely access to NHS 
continuing healthcare when they need it.

People with MND are likely to need help with getting 
up, washing, dressing and preparing food as the 
disease progresses. Access to social care services 
is therefore important to maintain quality of life. 
People with MND may also need access to cognitive 
assessment, as up to half of people with the disease 
experience changes in cognition.

194



1 Recomendation in the NICE guideline on MND.

2 Specialist palliative care – palliative care is the active holistic care of patients with progressive illness, including the provision of psychological, 
social and spiritual support. The aim is to provide the highest quality of life possible for patients and their families. Specialist palliative care is care 
provided by a specialist multidisciplinary palliative care team.

3 Personal care plan – a plan which sets out the care and treatment necessary to meet a person’s needs, preferences and goals of care. 

4 Advance care plan – a plan which anticipates how a person’s condition may affect them in the future and, if they wish, set on record choices 
about their care and treatment and/or an advance decision to refuse a treatment in specific circumstances so that these can be referred to 
by those responsible for their care or treatment (whether professional staff or family carers) in the event that they lose capacity to decide or 
communicate their decision when their condition progresses.

5 Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC) – is used to describe the different methods that can be used to help people with speech 
difficulties communicate with others. These methods can be used as an alternative to speech or to supplement it. AAC may include unaided 
systems such as signing and gesture as well as aided systems such as low tech picture or letter charts through to complex computer technology. 

4
People with MND have the right to maximise their 
quality of life 
● Timely and appropriate access to equipment, home adaptations, 

environmental controls, wheelchairs, orthotics and suitable housing.
● Timely and appropriate access to disability benefits.

People with MND may find their needs change 
quickly and in order to maximise their quality of life, 
they may need rapid access to equipment, home 
adaptations, wheelchairs and suitable housing. These 
needs should be anticipated so that they are met in 
a timely way. This is particularly true of wheelchairs 
which are important for maximising independence 
and quality of life.

People with MND need timely and appropriate access 
to disability benefits to help meet the extra costs of 
living with a disability. Information on appropriate 
benefits needs to be readily accessible in one place 
and easily understandable.

Carers of people with MND have the right to be 
valued, respected, listened to and well supported
● Timely and appropriate access to respite care, information, counselling and 

bereavement services.
● Advising carers that they have a legal right to a Carer’s Assessment of their 

needs1, ensuring their health and emotional well being is recognised and 
appropriate support is provided.

● Timely and appropriate access to benefits and entitlements for carers.

Caring for someone with MND is physically and 
emotionally demanding. Carers need to be supported 
in order to maintain their caring role. Every carer 
should have their needs assessed and given timely 
and appropriate access to respite care, information, 
counselling and bereavement services. It is important 
to support the emotional and physical needs of the 

carer in a timely way so that they can continue their 
caring role. 

Carers should also have timely and appropriate access 
to benefits and entitlements to help manage the 
financial impact of their caring role.

THIS MEANS:

THIS MEANS: 

5

195



“Many people with MND die without 
having the right care, not having a suitable 
wheelchair, not having the support  
to communicate. 

We have got to set a standard so that 
people like us are listened to and treated 
with the respect and dignity we deserve. 

We have got to stop the ignorance surrounding this disease and 
have to make sure that when a patient is first diagnosed with MND, 
they must have access to good, co-ordinated care and services. 

One week waiting for an assessment or a piece of equipment is like 
a year in most people’s lives, because they are an everyday essential 
to help us live as normal a life as possible and die with dignity”

Liam Dwyer, who is living with MND

© MND Association 2016

MND Association
PO Box 246 Northampton NN1 2PR
www.mndassociation.org

Registered charity no 294354

We are proud to have the following organisations supporting  
the MND Charter:

Royal College of General Practitioners

Association of British Neurologists

Royal College of Nursing

Chartered Society of Physiotherapy

College of Occupational Therapists

Royal College of Speech & Language Therapists 

British Dietetic Association

For more information:
www.mndassociation.org/mndcharter
Email: campaigns@mndassociation.org 
Telephone: 020 7250 8447

196



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No.  8

12 JUNE 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Dr Liz Robin  
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Diane Lamb

Contact Officer(s): Ryan O’Neill, Senior Public Health Analyst Tel. 01733 207175

ANNUAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY PERFORMANCE REPORT 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Director of Public Health Deadline date: 

     It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board note and comment on the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy Annual Performance Report 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board following a request from the Health 
and Wellbeing Board to receive regular reports on the performance against key outcome metrics 
of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
  

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The purpose of this report is to enable review of the key outcome metrics for the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2016/19 to date, recognising that due to the time lag in obtaining quality 
controlled and nationally benchmarked data, several of the indicators in this report provide the
baseline for the start of Health and Wellbeing Strategy implementation, rather than providing
information about the impact of the Strategy to date.   

2.2 This report is for the Health and Wellbeing Board to consider under its Terms of Reference: 3.1:

To develop a Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the City which informs and influences the 
commissioning plans of partner agencies.

2.3 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy covers the whole population and several issues within it are 
potentially relevant to children in care – including childhood overweight and obesity, teenage 
pregnancy and child and adolescent mental health. 

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

197



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

Introduction

Producing a joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy to meet the health needs of local residents is one 
of the main duties of Health & Wellbeing Boards as identified in the Health & Social Care Act 
2012 The Health & Wellbeing Board of Peterborough City Council approved the 2016-19 Health 
& Wellbeing Strategy for Peterborough in July 2016. It is available at URL: 
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-
health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true and is comprised of the following  
sections that focus on key factors that influence healthcare outcomes in Peterborough:

1. Children & Young People’s Health
2. Health Behaviours & Lifestyles
3. Long Term Conditions & Premature Mortality
4. Mental Health for Adults of Working Age
5. Health & Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment
6. Ageing Well
7. Protecting Health
8. Growth, Health & the Local Plan
9. Health & Transport Planning
10. Housing & Health
11. Geographical Health Inequalities
12. Health & Wellbeing of Diverse Communities
13. Working together effectively 

A number of key outcome indicators have been chosen in order that progress can be objectively 
monitored against national performance in relation to both observed numbers (e.g. number of 
people dying from all cardiovascular diseases) and statistical significance in comparison to 
England (e.g. directly age-standardised mortality rates, which take in to account differences in 
demographics between populations, such as disproportionately high percentages of older or 
younger people compared to England). For each indictor, an appropriate partnership Board has 
been asked to agree both the appropriateness of the indicator and a three year improvement 
trajectory, encompassing the period from the start of Health & Wellbeing Strategy in 2016 through 
to March 2019.

Appendix 1 summarises currently available data in relation to the aforementioned outcome 
indicators, which support Peterborough’s 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy. It should be 
noted that many of these indicators are based on nationally-available benchmarked data that is 
available only on an annual basis and therefore current performance should be seen as a 
‘baseline’ from which to assess future performance, rather than necessarily a reflection of 
interventions undertaken since the commencement of the 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

Key Findings 

Baseline data that show recent improvements within Peterborough in relation to Health & 
Wellbeing include:

● The suicide rate in Peterborough has fallen in each of the past three years and is now 
below that of England, although not statistically significantly different.

● The life expectancy gap between the most deprived 20% and least deprived 80% of 
geographical areas in Peterborough has narrowed from 2.5 years in 2007-11 to 1.9 years 
in 2011-15, with life expectancy currently standing at 79.5 years for residents within the 
most deprived 20% and 81.4 years among the least deprived 80%. However, at Lower 
Super Output Area (LSOA) level (populations of approximately 1,500 people), there is a 
gap of 8.4 years between life expectancy for males in Peterborough's most deprived 10% 
of LSOAs compared to the least deprived 10% of LSOAs and for females, this gap is 6.1 
years.

● Although under 75 mortality from all cardiovascular diseases is statistically significantly 
worse in Peterborough than England for all persons and for females, for males, 

198

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true


4.5

Peterborough's directly age-standardised rate has fallen in 2013-15 from statistically 
worse to statistically similar to England for the first time since 2004-06.

● Both observed numbers and directly age-standardised rates of hospital admissions as a 
result of heart failure and stroke fell in Peterborough between 2013/14 and 2014/15. 
Emergency hospital admissions as a result of cardiovascular disease also fell in 
Peterborough between 2013/14 and 2014/15, but remain higher among the most deprived 
20% of the area than the least deprived 80%. 

● Smoking prevalence in Peterborough for 2015 is 18.1%, statistically similar to England 
but among the lowest figures within Peterborough's group of nearest socio-economic 
neighbours

● Under 18 and under 16 conceptions have both fallen in 2015, although the under 18 rate 
remains statistically significantly worse than England

● The number of Peterborough residents attending sports/physical activities provided by 
Vivacity has increased 5.7% in 2016/17, from 1,313,384 to 1,388,710

● Internal data from Peterborough City Council’s Adult Social Care team show consistent 
increases in the number of adults in receipt of assistive technology, number of adults with 
social care needs receiving short term services to increase independence and the number 
of adults with social care needs requesting support, advice or guidance. 

● The number of health checks delivered in Peterborough to residents aged 40-74 has been 
statistically significantly higher than England for each of the past three years. 

● In 2015-16, Peterborough achieved 8 of 10 benchmark goals relating to screening and 
immunisation (e.g. 90.0% + of 2 and 5 year olds receiving MMR for one/two dose/s).

● The number of people killed/seriously injured on Peterborough roads has been 
statistically similar to England for three consecutive periods, having been statistically 
significantly worse in 2009-11 and 2010-12. 

Baseline data that show recent negative trends and/or areas that may require further intervention 
to address over the course of the 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy include:

● A significantly high directly age-standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions are 
attributable to the most deprived 20% of the Peterborough population and both the 
observed number of admissions and the directly age-standardised rate increased 
between 2013/14 and 2014/15. 

● The directly age-standardised rate of hospital admission episodes for alcohol-related 
conditions worsened in 2015/16 and was been statistically significantly worse than 
England for five consecutive years. 

● The crude rate of hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
people aged 15-24 years has been significantly worse than England for five consecutive 
years and rose to a new high of 189.5/10,000 in 2015/16. 

● The directly age-standardised rate of hospital admissions as a result of self-harm amongst 
10-24 years olds in Peterborough was statistically significantly higher than England for 
each of the five years 2011/12 – 2015/16 and has risen between 2014/15 and 2015/16 
from 611.2/100,000 to 798.7/100,000.

● Peterborough has one of the highest directly age-standardised rates of emergency 
hospital admissions among over 65s as a result of falls in the East of England. 

199



● The percentage of people receiving a late HIV diagnosis in Peterborough has been higher 
(therefore worse) than benchmark national goal of 50.0% for five consecutive pooled 
periods.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016/19 was subject to a three month public consultation 
and Partnership Boards overseeing implementation of the HWB Strategy were consulted on 
which metrics to use. 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 The purpose of this Report is to provide information on the impact of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy on key outcome metrics, or to provide information on previous trends and current 
baselines for these metrics. 

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board has requested information on progress against key outcome 
metrics of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 The HWB Board already receives information on a quarterly basis on delivery against the actions 
outlined in the HWB Strategy – so the alternative option would be to provide a quarterly update 
on outcome metrics as part of the quarterly report. However many of the most significant 
outcome metrics (benchmarked nationally) are only available on an annual basis at different 
points during year. So an annual performance report focussed on outcome metrics was 
considered most effective at giving the ‘big picture’ of delivery against the HWB Strategy. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 This paper is monitoring performance against outcome metrics rather than proposing specific 
projects, therefore there are no direct financial implications. 

Legal Implications

9.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board has a statutory duty to prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

Equalities Implications

9.3 The Report includes a section on monitoring health inequalities. 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 Peterborough Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2016/19) 

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix 1 - Peterborough City Council Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 Annual Review.

200



Appendix 1 

Peterborough City Council 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy 

2016-19 Annual Review

May 2017

201



2

Contents

Section 
Number

Section Page 
Number

1 Introduction 2
2 Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 - Annual Review 2017 Key Findings Overview 3
3 Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 - Annual Review 2017 Key Findings by Section 5

3.1 Children & Young People's Health 5
3.2 Health Behaviours & Lifestyles 7
3.3 Long Term Conditions & Premature Mortality 9
3.4 Mental Health for Adults of Working Age 10
3.5 Health & Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment 11
3.6 Ageing Well 12
3.7 Protecting Health 13
3.8 Growth, Health & The Local Plan 15
3.9 Health & Transport Planning 16

3.10 Housing & Health 16
3.11 Geographical Health Inequalities 17
3.12 Health & Wellbeing of Diverse Communities 19

Appendix 1 Full Peterborough City Council 2016 – 19 Health & Wellbeing Board Dashboards 20

1. Introduction

Producing a joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy to meet the health needs of local residents is one of 
the main duties of Health & Wellbeing Boards as identified in the Health & Social Care Act 20121 The 
Health & Wellbeing Board of Peterborough City Council approved the 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy for Peterborough in July 2016, after a period of collaboration between key stakeholders 
across the healthcare sector and members of the public to establish key priorities and goals related 
to the health of residents in Peterborough. The 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy is available at 
URL: https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-
health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true and is comprised of 12 main sections 
that focus on key factors that influence healthcare outcomes in Peterborough:

1. Children & Young People’s Health
2. Health Behaviours & Lifestyles
3. Long Term Conditions & Premature Mortality
4. Mental Health for Adults of Working Age
5. Health & Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment
6. Ageing Well
7. Protecting Health
8. Growth, Health & the Local Plan
9. Health & Transport Planning
10. Housing & Health
11. Geographical Health Inequalities
12. Health & Wellbeing of Diverse Communities

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-act-2012-fact-sheets

202

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/healthcare/public-health/PCCHealthWellbeingStrategy-2016-19.pdf?inline=true


3

Each Health & Wellbeing Strategy section performance report includes a quarterly update from the 
section lead on current and on-going activities, future plans and milestones, risks and key 
considerations. In addition to this, a number of key performance indicators have been chosen for 
each section in order that progress can be objectively monitored against national performance in 
relation to both observed numbers (e.g. number of people dying from all cardiovascular diseases) 
and statistical significance in comparison to England (e.g. directly age-standardised mortality rates, 
which take in to account differences in demographics between populations, such as 
disproportionately high percentages of older or younger people compared to England). 

For each performance indicator, an appropriate partnership Board has been asked to agree both the 
appropriateness of the indicator and a three year improvement trajectory, encompassing the period 
from the start of Health & Wellbeing Strategy in 2016 through to March 2019.

This report summarises currently available data in relation to the aforementioned performance 
indicators which support Peterborough’s 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy. It should be noted 
that many of these indicators are based on nationally-available benchmarked data that is available 
only on an annual basis and therefore current performance should be seen as a ‘baseline’ from 
which to assess future performance, rather than necessarily a reflection of interventions undertaken 
since the commencement of the 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy. Staff within the Public Health 
Directorate of Peterborough City Council are currently working with other relevant stakeholders to 
ensure that future quarterly reports include contemporary performance data as a supplemental set 
of measures to monitor healthcare outcomes in Peterborough.

2. Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 – Annual Review 2017 Key Findings Overview
Baseline data that show recent improvements within Peterborough in relation to Health & Wellbeing 
include:

- The suicide rate in Peterborough has fallen in each of the past three years and is now below 
that of England, although not statistically significantly different.

- The life expectancy gap between the most deprived 20% and least deprived 80% of 
geographical areas in Peterborough has narrowed from 2.5 years in 2007-11 to 1.9 years in 
2011-15, with life expectancy currently standing at 79.5 years for residents within the most 
deprived 20% and 81.4 years among the least deprived 80%. However, at Lower Super 
Output Area (LSOA) level (populations of approximately 1,500 people), there is a gap of 8.4 
years between life expectancy for males in Peterborough's most deprived 10% of LSOAs 
compared to the least deprived 10% of LSOAs and for females, this gap is 6.1 years.

- Although under 75 mortality from all cardiovascular diseases is statistically significantly 
worse in Peterborough than England for all persons and for females, for males, 
Peterborough's directly age-standardised rate has fallen in 2013-15 from statistically worse 
to statistically similar to England for the first time since 2004-06.

- Both observed numbers and directly age-standardised rates of hospital admissions as a 
result of heart failure and stroke fell in Peterborough between 2013/14 and 2014/15. 
Emergency hospital admissions as a result of cardiovascular disease also fell in Peterborough 
between 2013/14 and 2014/15, but remain higher among the most deprived 20% of the 
area than the least deprived 80%. 

203



4

- Smoking prevalence in Peterborough for 2015 is 18.1%, statistically similar to England but 
among the lowest figures within Peterborough's group of nearest socio-economic 
neighbours

- Under 18 and under 16 conceptions have both fallen in 2015, although the under 18 rate 
remains statistically significantly worse than England

- The number of Peterborough residents attending sports/physical activities provided by 
Vivacity has increased 5.7% in 2016/17, from 1,313,384 to 1,388,710

- Internal data from Peterborough City Council’s Adult Social Care team show consistent 
increases in the number of adults in receipt of assistive technology, number of adults with 
social care needs receiving short term services to increase independence and the number of 
adults with social care needs requesting support, advice or guidance. 

- The number of health checks delivered in Peterborough to residents aged 40-74 has been 
statistically significantly higher than England for each of the past three years. 

- In 2015-16, Peterborough achieved 8 of 10 benchmark goals relating to screening and 
immunisation (e.g. 90.0% + of 2 and 5 year olds receiving MMR for one/two dose/s).

- The number of people killed/seriously injured on Peterborough roads has been statistically 
similar to England for three consecutive periods, having been statistically significantly worse 
in 2009-11 and 2010-12. 

Baseline data that show recent negative trends and/or areas that may require further intervention 
to address over the course of the 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy include:

- A significantly high directly age-standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions are 
attributable to the most deprived 20% of the Peterborough population and both the 
observed number of admissions and the directly age-standardised rate increased between 
2013/14 and 2014/15. 

- The directly age-standardised rate of hospital admission episodes for alcohol-related 
conditions has worsened in 2015/16 and has been statistically significantly worse than 
England for five consecutive years. 

- The crude rate of hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
people aged 15-24 years has been significantly worse than England for five consecutive years 
and has risen to a new high of 189.5/10,000 in 2015/16. 

- Peterborough has one of the highest directly age-standardised rates of emergency hospital 
admissions among over 65s as a result of falls in the East of England. 

- The percentage of people receiving a late HIV diagnosis in Peterborough has been higher 
(therefore worse) than benchmark national goal of 50.0% for five consecutive pooled 
periods.

204



5

3. Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 – Annual Review 2017 Key Findings by 
Section

3.1 Children & Young People’s Health

Reduction of under 18 conceptions is a key priority of the 2016-19 Health & Wellbeing Strategy, as 
most are unplanned, around half end in abortion and research shows teenage pregnancy is 
associated with poor outcomes for both young parents and their children. Below data show that 
Peterborough’s under 16 conception rate has fallen to 2.4/1,000, below that of England (3.7/1,000) 
for 2015, although not statistically significantly lower. Peterborough’s under 18 conception rate in 
2015 is 28.3/1,000 which remains statistically significantly worse than England; however, this rate 
has fallen in each of the last there years.

Figure 1: Under 16 Conceptions in Peterborough, 2009 – 2015, Crude Rate per 1,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90639/age/169/sex/2

Figure 2: Under 18 Conceptions in Peterborough, 1998 – 2015, Crude Rate per 1,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20401/age/173/sex/2

205

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90639/age/169/sex/2
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90639/age/169/sex/2
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20401/age/173/sex/2
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20401/age/173/sex/2


6

Data below show that the prevalence of obesity in reception age children in Peterborough has fallen 
in each of the past three years, whereas it has risen among children in year six in each of the past 
three years; Peterborough remains statistically similar to England for both indicators.

Figure 3: Prevalence of Obesity in Reception Age Children, Peterborough, 2006/07 – 2015/16, %

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-
programme/data#page/4/gid/8000011/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90319/age/200/sex/4

Figure 4: Prevalence of Obesity in Year Six Children, Peterborough, 2006/07 – 2015/16, %

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-
programme/data#page/4/gid/8000011/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4

The directly age-standardised rate of hospital admissions as a result of self-harm in Peterborough 
has been statistically significantly higher than England for each of the five years 2011/12 – 2015/16 
and has risen between 2014/15 and 2015/16 from 611.2/100,000 to 798.7/100,000. Peterborough 
has the highest directly age-standardised rate for this indicator in the region, with the second-
highest rate observed in neighbouring Cambridgeshire (635.2/100,000).

206

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data#page/4/gid/8000011/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90319/age/200/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data#page/4/gid/8000011/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90319/age/200/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data%23page/4/gid/8000011/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/national-child-measurement-programme/data%23page/4/gid/8000011/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90323/age/201/sex/4


7

Figure 5: Hospital Admissions as a Result of Self-harm, 10-24 year olds, Peterborough, Directly 
Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000, 2011/12 – 2015/16

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-
health/profile/cypmh/data#page/4/gid/1938132754/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90813/age/245/sex/4

3.2 Health Behaviours & Lifestyles

Smoking prevalence among adults in Peterborough is 18.1% for 2015, statistically similar to England 
(16.9%) and reduced from 20.7% in 2012. Resultantly, Peterborough has one of the lowest 
percentages of smokers of any local authority within the below comparator group of nearest socio-
economic neighbours.  

Figure 6: Smoking Prevalence in Adults, Peterborough & Nearest Socio-Economic Neighbours, 
2015, %

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/92443/age/168/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031

The number of residents in Peterborough attending sports/physical activities provided by Vivacity 
has increased by 5.7% in 2016/17, to 1,388,710 from 1,313,384. 

207

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/cypmh/data#page/4/gid/1938132754/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90813/age/245/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/cypmh/data#page/4/gid/1938132754/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90813/age/245/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/92443/age/168/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/92443/age/168/sex/4/nn/nn-1-E06000031


8

Figure 7: Attendances at Sports/Physical Activities Provided by Vivacity, 2015/16 & 2016/17

1,313,384

1,388,710

2015/16 2016/17
1,250,000

1,270,000

1,290,000

1,310,000

1,330,000

1,350,000

1,370,000

1,390,000

1,410,000

Source: Internal Peterborough City Council performance data

Reducing hospital admissions resulting from alcohol consumption is a stated aim of the 2016-19 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy. However, as shown in the below figure, Peterborough’s directly age-
standardised rate of admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions has been statistically 
significantly higher than England for each of the five years to 2015/16 and is increasing with regards 
to both observed episodes and rate per 100,000. 

Figure 8: Admission Episodes for Alcohol-Related Conditions, Peterborough, Persons, 2008/09 – 
2015/16, Directly Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/91414/age/1/sex/4

208

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/91414/age/1/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/91414/age/1/sex/4


9

3.3 Long Term Conditions & Premature Mortality

Under 75 mortality from all cardiovascular diseases is statistically significantly worse in 
Peterborough than in England, for all persons and for females only. However, for males only in 2013-
15, Peterborough has improved to be statistically similar to England for the first time since 2004-06.

Figure 9:  Under 75 Mortality Rate from all Cardiovascular Diseases, Peterborough, Males Only, 
2001/03 – 2013/15 Directly Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/40401/age/163/sex/1

As shown in the figure below, hospital admissions for both heart failure and stroke have reduced in 
Peterborough between 2013/14 and 2014/15 with regards to both observed admissions and directly 
age-standardised rate per 100,000. 

Figure 10: Heart Failure & Stroke Hospital Admissions, Peterborough, 2013/14 – 2014/15, Directly 
Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000

Heart Failure Stroke
Time Period

Admissions DSR Admissions DSR

2013/14 405 283.1 387 270.5

2014/15 335 235.2 369 250.7

Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group

Emergency hospital admissions as a result of cardiovascular disease have also reduced in 
Peterborough between 2013/14 and 2014/15. However, data show that directly age-standardised 
rates of admissions are higher in the most deprived 20% of electoral wards in Peterborough 
compared to the least deprived 80% and although rates have reduced for both electoral ward 
groupings, this disparity widened between 2013/14 and 2014/15. 

209

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/40401/age/163/sex/1
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/40401/age/163/sex/1


10

Figure 11: Emergency Cardiovascular Disease Admissions, Most Deprived 20% & Least Deprived 
80% Electoral Wards in Peterborough, 2013/14 – 2014/15, Directly Age-Standardised Rate per 
100,000

1,848.1

1,650.1
1,598.8

1,344.3

2013/14 2014/15
1,000.0

1,100.0

1,200.0

1,300.0

1,400.0

1,500.0

1,600.0

1,700.0

1,800.0

1,900.0

Most Deprived 20% Least Deprived 80%

DS
R 

pe
r 1

00
,0

00

Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group

3.4 Mental Health for Adults of Working Age

The directly age-standardised suicide rate in Peterborough is currently 8.4/100,000, which is 
statistically similar to England. The rate has fallen in three consecutive periods, having been 
statistically significantly worse than England as recently as 2010-12. 

Figure 12: Suicide Rate, Persons, Peterborough, 2001/03 – 2013-15, Directly Age-Standardised 
Rate per 100,000

Source:  Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/41001/age/285/sex/4

210

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/41001/age/285/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/41001/age/285/sex/4


11

Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in people aged 15-24 are known 
to be a significant issue in Peterborough and, as shown in the figure below, the crude rate of 
applicable admissions has been statistically significantly higher than England for each of the last five 
years for which data are available and rose between 2014/15 and 2015/16. 

Figure 13: Hospital Admissions Caused by Unintentional & Deliberate Injuries in People Aged 15-24 
Years, Peterborough, 2010/11 – 2015/16, Crude Rate per 10,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90285/age/156/sex/4

3.5 Health & Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment

Internal data from Peterborough City Council’s Adult Social Care  team show consistent increases 
between 2015/16 and 2016/17 in the number of adults in receipt of assistive technology, number of 
adults with social care needs receiving short term services to increase independence and the 
number of adults with social care needs requesting support, advice or guidance. Extensive details 
relating to these indicators are available within the monthly Adult Social Care Performance Report 
compiled by the Adult Social Care/Performance teams at Peterborough City Council. 

Carer-reported quality of life fell between 2012/13 and 2014/15 (the latest nationally benchmarked 
statistics available),  to be statistically significantly worse than England, with an overall composite 
score based on relevant questions posed to carers about the quality of their life falling to 7.3 
compared to 7.9 in England. 

Figure 14: Carer-Reported Quality of Life, Peterborough, 2012/13 – 2014/15

Source: Public Health England, 
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/adultsocialcare/data#page/4/gid/1000101/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90
789/age/168/sex/4

211

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90285/age/156/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90285/age/156/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/adultsocialcare/data#page/4/gid/1000101/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90789/age/168/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/adultsocialcare/data#page/4/gid/1000101/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90789/age/168/sex/4


12

3.6 Ageing Well

The number of health checks delivered to residents aged between 40 and 74 has been statistically 
significantly higher than England for each of the past three years as shown in the figure below.

Figure 15: People Receiving an NHS Health Check per Year, Peterborough, 2013/14 – 2015/16, %

Source: Public Health England, https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-
detailed/data#page/4/gid/1938132726/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/91734/age/219/sex/4

Falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions for older people and Peterborough has 
some of the poorest outcomes with regards to emergency hospital admissions due to falls in over 
65s among its comparator group. Peterborough’s directly age-standardised rate of 2,409/100,000 is 
second only to Bedford within the group and Peterborough and Bedford are the only two local 
authorities that are statistically significantly worse than England for this indicator.

Figure 16: Emergency Hospital Admissions due to Falls, Age 65+, Peterborough & Nearest Socio-
Economic Comparators, 2015/16

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/22401/age/27/sex/4

Data show that the percentage of adult carers who have as much social contact as they would like in 
Peterborough fell between 2012/13 from 48.7% (higher than the national percentage of 41.3%) to 
29.7% in 2014/15 (the latest benchmarked data available), which was significantly below the 
England percentage of 38.5%.

212

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed/data%23page/4/gid/1938132726/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/91734/age/219/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/nhs-health-check-detailed/data%23page/4/gid/1938132726/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/91734/age/219/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/22401/age/27/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework%23page/3/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/22401/age/27/sex/4


13

Figure 17: Adult Carers Who Have as Much Social Contact as They Would Like, Peterborough, 
2012/13 – 2014/15

Source: Public Health England, https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-
health/profile/dementia/data#page/4/gid/1938132897/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90638/age/168/sex/4

3.7 Protecting Health

Although some benchmark goals relating to childhood immunisations have changed in 2015-16 from 
90.0% of population to 95.0% of population to achieve full ‘herd immunity’, Peterborough remains 
at ‘amber’ benchmark goal (90.0% - 95.0%) or better for eight of 10 indicators relating to screening 
and immunisation as noted in the below table, within which green = 95.0% +, amber = 90.0% – 
94.9% and red = below 90.0%

Figure 18: Screening & Immunisation Indicators, Peterborough Health & Wellbeing Strategy, 
2015/16 Update

PHOF Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough Value (%)

3.03iii Dtap/IPC/Hib (1 year old) 95.2

3.03iii Dtap/IPC/Hib (2 years old) 96.4

3.03v PCV 94.6

3.03vi Hib/MenC Booster (2 years old) 91.5

3.03vi Hib/MenC Booster (5 years old) 89.5

3.03vii PCV Booster 92.8

3.03viii MMR for One Dose (2 years old) 92.6

3.03ix MMR for One Dose (5 years old) 94.8

3.03x MMR for Two Doses (5 years old) 89.6

3.03xiii PPV 72.2 (benchmark goal = 75.0)

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (PHOF)

The chlamydia detection rate in Peterborough for 15-24 year olds has been above benchmark goal 
for each of the years 2012-15, although it has fallen slightly in 2015 compared to 2014. However the 
number of young people actually screened for Chlamydia is below average, therefore the high rate 
of cases detected leads to concern that overall prevalence of Chlamydia is high in this population.  

213

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data#page/4/gid/1938132897/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90638/age/168/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/dementia/data#page/4/gid/1938132897/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90638/age/168/sex/4


14

Figure 19: Chlamydia Detection Rate (15-24 Year Olds), Peterborough, 2012-2015

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90776/age/156/sex/4

The percentage of people aged 15 and above receiving a new diagnosis of HIV with a CD4 count less 
than 350 cells per mm3 (commonly known as a late diagnosis of HIV) has been worse than the 
benchmark goal of 50.0% in each of the five pooled periods within the figure below and has risen for 
2013-15 to 60.5%. 

Figure 20: HIV Late Diagnosis, Peterborough, 2009/11 – 2013/15, %

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90791/age/188/sex/4

214

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90776/age/156/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90776/age/156/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90791/age/188/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000043/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90791/age/188/sex/4


15

3.8 Growth, Health & the Local Plan

Only 17.8% of people in Peterborough utilise outdoor space for exercise/health reasons, 0.1% lower 
than England but down from 22.2% in March 2013– February 2014. 

Figure 21: Utilisation of Outdoor Space for Exercise/Health Reasons, Peterborough, 2011/12 – 
2015/16, %

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000041/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11601/age/164/sex/4

Percentages of reception and year 6 pupils with excess weight increased in 2015/16 compared to 
2014/15, but both remain statistically similar to England.  

Figure 22: Excess Weight in 4-5 Year Olds, Peterborough, 2007/08 – 2015/16, %

Source: National Childhood Measurement Programme, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20601/age/200/sex/4

Figure 23: Excess Weight in 10-11 Year Olds, Peterborough, 2007/08 – 2015/16, %

Source: National Childhood Measurement Programme, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20602/age/201/sex/4

215

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000041/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11601/age/164/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000041/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11601/age/164/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20601/age/200/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20601/age/200/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20602/age/201/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/20602/age/201/sex/4


16

3.9 Health & Transport Planning

Internal Peterborough City Council data shows that 48 businesses currently have a ‘travel plan’ 
designed to reduce environmental footprint, ease congestion and promote active travel within 
Peterborough; it is anticipated that this will increase to least 60 throughout 2017. 

The percentage of people killed and seriously injured on roads in Peterborough has fallen at a faster 
rate than that of England and is now down to 40.1/100,000 compared to 38.5/100,000 in England. 
As recently as 2010-12, Peterborough was statistically significantly worse than England for this 
indicator but is now statistically similar. 

Figure 24: Killed & Seriously Injured (KSI) Casualties on Peterborough Roads, 2009/11 – 2013/15, 
Crude Rate per 100,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000041/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11001/age/1/sex/4

3.10 Housing & Health

The number of hospital admissions caused by injuries in children 0-14 years in Peterborough has 
reduced from being statistically higher than that of England to now statistically similar. The crude 
rate per 10,000 in Peterborough for 2015/16 is 113.5 compared to 104.2/10,000 in England.

Figure 25: Hospital Admissions Caused by Injuries in Children 0-14 Years, Peterborough, 2010/11 – 
2015/16, Crude Rate per 10,000

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-
overview/data#page/4/gid/1938132992/pat/6/par/nn-3-E06000031/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90284/age/26/sex/4/nn/nn-3-
E06000031

The Excess Winter Deaths Index compiled by the Office of National Statistics/Public Health England 
calculates a ratio of ‘extra deaths’ from all causes that occur in winter months (December – March) 
compared to the average number of deaths in all other months of the year. This can be linked to 
vulnerable people becoming cold in their homes. A higher ratio equates to a greater disparity 

216

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000041/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11001/age/1/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000041/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/11001/age/1/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview/data#page/4/gid/1938132992/pat/6/par/nn-3-E06000031/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90284/age/26/sex/4/nn/nn-3-E06000031
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview/data#page/4/gid/1938132992/pat/6/par/nn-3-E06000031/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90284/age/26/sex/4/nn/nn-3-E06000031
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/child-health/profile/child-health-overview/data#page/4/gid/1938132992/pat/6/par/nn-3-E06000031/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90284/age/26/sex/4/nn/nn-3-E06000031


17

between deaths in winter months compared to April – November each year. The figure below shows 
that this ratio rose for the pooled period August 2012 – July 2015 but remains below periods 
between Aug 07-Jun 10 – Aug 09-Jul 12, when the index was as its historical highest (worst) in 
Peterborough.

Figure 26: Excess Winter Deaths Index, Peterborough, 3 Years pooled 2001/04 – 2012/15, Persons, 
Ratio

Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework, http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-
framework#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90641/age/1/sex/4

3.11 Geographical Health Inequalities

Life expectancy has increased more rapidly between 2007-11 – 2011-15 in the most deprived 20% of 
Peterborough electoral wards (1.0 years) than it has in the least deprived 80% of Peterborough 
electoral wards (0.3 years) but the disparity between the two groups remains 1.9 years 

Figure 27: Life Expectancy in Peterborough Electoral Wards, Pooled 5 Year Periods, 2007/11 – 
2011/15

Deprivation Group 2007-11 2008-12 2009-13 2010-14 2011-15

20% Most Deprived 78.5 78.9 79.1 79.2 79.5

80% Least Deprived 81.1 81.3 81.4 81.3 81.4

Disparity (years) 2.5 2.4 2.3 2.1 1.9

Source: Peterborough City Council/Cambridgeshire County Council Public Health Intelligence

A disproportionately high percentage of NHS Health Checks have been delivered to the most 
deprived 20% of Peterborough residents in the years 2013-14, 2014-15 and 2015-16, with 1,961 
(38.1% of the total) delivered to people from within the most deprived 20% in 2015-16. 

217

http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90641/age/1/sex/4
http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/4/gid/1000044/pat/6/par/E12000006/ati/102/are/E06000031/iid/90641/age/1/sex/4


18

Figure 28: Health Check Delivery in Peterborough Electoral Wards, 2013/14 – 2015/16

2013-14 2014-2015 2015-16
Deprivation Group Health Checks 

Delivered
% Of 
All

Health Checks 
Delivered

% Of 
All

Health Checks 
Delivered

% Of 
All

20% Most 
Deprived 2,036 33.7% 2,945 45.1% 1,961 38.1%

80% Least 
Deprived 4,006 66.3% 3,585 54.9% 3,192 61.9%

Total 6,042 100.0% 6,530 100.0% 5,153 100.0%

Source: Peterborough City Council Health Check Data

As with health checks, a disproportionately high percentage of 4 week smoking quits in each of the 
years 2013/14, 2014/15 and 2015/16 are attributable to residents from within the most deprived 
20% of Peterborough. In 2015/16, 229 4 week quits (32.3% of the overall total) were within the most 
deprived 20%. 

Figure 29: 4 Week Smoking Quits in Peterborough Electoral Wards, 2013/14 – 2015/16

2013-14 2014-2015 2015-16
Deprivation Group

4 Week Quits % Of All 4 Week Quits % Of All 4 Week Quits % Of All

20% Most Deprived 454 35.9% 377 36.0% 229 32.3%

80% Least Deprived 810 64.1% 669 64.0% 479 67.7%

Total 1,264 100.0% 1,046 100.0% 708 100.0%

Source: Peterborough City Council Health Smoking Quit Data

The emergency hospital admission rate per 100,000 in Peterborough was statistically significantly 
worse than the Peterborough average for patients registered with the most deprived 20% of General 
Practices in both 2013/14 and 2014/15 and had risen for both the most deprived 20% and the least 
deprived 80% across this two year period. 

Figure 30: Emergency Hospital Admissions in Peterborough Electoral Wards, 2013/14 – 2014/15, 
Directly Age-Standardised Rate per 100,000

Quintile
Observed 

Events DSR LI UI
Observed 

Events DSR LI UI

Most Deprived 20% 4,510 10,975.4 10,634.0 11,325.0 4,727.0 11,235.0 10,894.1 11,583.4

Least Deprived 80% 11,538 8,696.8 8,534.0 8,861.0 12,396.0 9,243.1 9,076.8 9,411.7

Peterborough 16,048 9,212.4 9,065.0 9,361.0 17,123.0 9,701.9 9,552.1 9,853.4

2013/14 2014/15

Source: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group Secondary Use Service Dataset

218



19

3.12 Health & Wellbeing of Diverse Communities

Information and data on the health needs of diverse communities was taken to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in the Diverse Ethnic Communities Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (October 
2016).  ‘Actions’ from this section of the Strategy are progressing well, but creating appropriate 
metrics with data which is often of variable quality is more challenging, and is still under discussion. 

Report prepared by:

Ryan O’Neill

Advanced Public Health Analyst

Peterborough City Council

219



Appendix 1: Full Peterborough City Council 2016 – 19 Health & Wellbeing Board Dashboards

1. Children & Young People’s Health

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Current 
Value

Agreed Target

1.1a
CAMH - Number of Children & Young People 

commencing treatment in NHS-funded community 
services

-
Indicator currently unavailable, will be 
released as part of NHS 5 Year Forward 

View
- - - - -

1.1b
CAMH - Proportion of Children & Young People with an 

eating disorder receiving treatment within 4 weeks 
(routine) and 1 week (urgent) 

-
Indicator currently unavailable, will be 
released as part of NHS 5 Year Forward 

View
- - - - -

1.1c
CAMH - Proportion of Children & Young People 

showing reliable improvement in outcomes following 
treatment

-
Indicator currently unavailable, will be 
released as part of NHS 5 Year Forward 

View
- - - - -

1.1d
CAMH - Total bed days in CAMHS tier 4 per CYP 

population/total CYP in adult in-patient 
wards/paediatric wards

-
Indicator currently unavailable, will be 
released as part of NHS 5 Year Forward 

View
- - - - -

1.2 Prevalence of obesity - reception year (proportion, %)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 259 9.3% 9.3% Match or exceed average of 

CIPFA neighbours

1.3 Prevalence of obesity - year 6 (proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 460 19.8% 19.8% Reduction of 1.6% per year, to 

reach 13.3% by 2018/19

1.4
Number of young people Not in Education, 

Employment or Training (NEET) (Proportion, %)
Decreasing - getter 

better

Peterborough higher (worse) than 
England. Statistical significance 

unavailable
2016 - 5.0% 4.2% Reduction to 3.5% by January 

2019

1.5
Successful implementation of a multi-agency neglect 
strategy resulting in increased early intervention to 

prevent such patterns becoming entrenched
-

Strategy launched by Peterborough 
Safeguarding Children Board 13/09/2016

- - - -

Jo Procter (Head of Service for 
Adult & Children's 

Safeguarding Boards) to 
provide periodic audit data to 

measure success of 
implementation

220



21

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Current 
Value

Agreed Target

1.6 Under 18 conceptions (crude rate per 1,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015 95 28.3 20.8 Reduce by at least same rate as 

England

1.7 Under 16 conceptions (crude rate per 1,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2015 8 2.4 3.7

Reduce rate by 1.3 per year to 
match previous Peterborough 

best (4.7/1,000)

2. Health Behaviours & Lifestyles

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

2.1 Smoking Prevalence - All (proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2015 - 18.1% 2.1 Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England

2.2
Smoking Prevalence - Routine & Manual Occupations 

(proportion, %)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2015 - 25.6% 2.2 Match or exceed England 

performance

2.3 Excess weight in adults (proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2013-15 - 70.8% 2.3 Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England

2.4a Physically active adults (proportion, %)
Increasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2015 - 54.7% 2.4a Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England

2.4b Physically inactive adults (proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015 - 34.3% 2.4b Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England

2.5
The numbers of attendances to sport and physical 
activities provided by Vivacity (observed numbers)

Increasing - getter 
better

5.7% increase between 15/16 and 16/17 2015/16 1,388,710 - 2.5 Increase of year-on-year 
number

2.6
Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions  - 

Persons (directly standardised rate per 100,000)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015/16 1,245 708 2.6 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% per 

year

2.7
Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions  - 

Males (directly standardised rate per 100,000)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015/16 800 939 2.7 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% per 

year

221



22

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

2.8
Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions  - 

Females (directly standardised rate per 100,000)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 445 491 2.8 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% per 

year

2.9 The annual incidence of newly diagnosed type 2 
diabetes (observed numbers) - Awaiting provision from CCG  - - - - TBC - Awaiting data from CCG

3. Long Term Conditions & Premature Mortality

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

3.1
Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular 

diseases - Persons (directly standardised rate per 
100,000)

Decreasing - getter 
better

Statistically significantly worse than 
England

2013-15 349 86.3 74.6 Reduction in DSR of 0.5% per 
year

3.2
Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular 
diseases - Males (directly standardised rate per 

100,000)

Decreasing - getter 
better

Statistically similar to England 2013-15 230 116.6 104.7 Reduction in DSR of 1.0% per 
year

3.3
Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular 

diseases - Females (directly standardised rate per 
100,000)

Decreasing - getter 
better

Statistically significantly worse than 
England

2013-15 119 57.7 46.2
Continue recent trend of 

reduction in DSR of 
2.45/100,000 per year

3.4
Inequalities between electoral wards in emergency 

CVD hospital admissions (disparity in directly 
standardised rate per 100,000)

Increasing - getting 
worse

Disparity between most deprived 20% and 
least deprived 80% has increased 
between 2013/14 and 2014/15

2014/15 N/A 305.8 N/A
Reduction in DSR of most 

deprived 20% of Peterborough 
electoral wards of 2% per year

3.5 Recorded Diabetes (proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2014/15 9,740 6.5% 6.4% Match or exceed England trend

3.6a
The rate of hospital admissions for stroke (directly 

standardised rate per 100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Rate has reduced, national benchmark 

unavailable
2014/15 369 250.7 N/A Reduction in DSR of 1% per 

year

3.6b
The rate of hospital admissions for heart failure 

(directly standardised rate per 100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Rate has reduced, national benchmark 

unavailable
2014/15 335 235.2 N/A Reduction in DSR of 1% per 

year

222



23

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

3.7
Outcomes for a wider range of long term conditions 

will be defined following completion of the long term 
conditions needs assessment

-
To be decided upon completion of 

relevant Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
N/A N/A N/A N/A -

4. Mental Health for Adults of Working Age

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

4.1
Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and 

deliberate injuries in young people (15-24 years, crude 
rate per 10,000)

Increasing - getting 
worse

Statistically significantly worse than 
England

2015/16 431 189.5 134.1 -

4.2 Rates of use of section 136 under the mental health act -

Instances of S136 use in Peterborough 
have fallen but this is partly attributable 
to closing of Cavell Centre. Constabulary 
suggest target should be based around 

avoiding use of police stations as place of 
safety

2015/16 20 - - -

4.3
Suicide Rate - Persons (directly standardised rate per 

100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2013-15 42 8.4 10.1 -

4.4
Suicide Rate - Males (directly standardised rate per 

100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2013-15 29 11.5 15.8 -

emerg4.5
Suicide Rate - Females (directly standardised rate per 

100,000)
- Data redacted due to low numbers 2013-15 - - - -

4.6 Hospital readmission rates for mental health problems - Awaiting provision from CPFT - - - - -

4.7a
Adults in contact with mental health services in settled 

accommodation
Increasing - getter 

better
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2012/13 410 30.7% 58.5% -

4.7b
Adults in contact with mental health services in 

employment
Increasing - getter 

better
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2012/13 65 4.8% 8.8% -

223



24

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough 

Trend Current Status
Current 

Time 
Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

4.8
Carers for people with mental health problems 

receiving services advice or information
Increasing - getter 

better
Remains below England (statistical 

significance not calculated
2013/14 5 2.9% 19.5% -

5. Health & Wellbeing of People with Disability and/or Sensory Impairment

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough 
Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

5.1a
Adults with learning disabilities in employment 

(proportion, %)
Increasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2013/14 55 8.4% 6.7% Match or exceed England 

performance

5.1b
ASCOF - Percentage of adults known to Adult Social 
Care in employment (to increase) (proportion, %)

Increasing - getter 
better

Statistically significantly worse than 
England

2012/13 65 4.8% 8.8% Match or exceed England 
performance

5.2a
Adults with learning disabilities in settled 

accommodation (proportion, %)
Decreasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2013/14 475 72.5% 74.9% Improve by 0.5% per year

5.2b
Adults in contact with mental health services in settled 

accommodation (proportion, %)
Increasing - getter 

better
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2012/13 410 30.7% 58.5% Improve at greater rate than 

national average

5.3
ASCOF - Permanent residential admissions of adults to 

residential care (to decrease) (65+, proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2013/14 20 17.3% 14.4% 1% decrease per year

5.4 Numbers of adults in receipt of assistive technology
Increasing - getter 

better
Green RAG status to reflect consistent 

increase in recipients
Feb-17

5,131 
(predicted end 

of year)
- - Year-on-year increase

5.5a
Adult Social Care service user survey quality of life 

measure - carer-reported quality of life
Decreasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2014/15 - 7.3 7.9 Improve each year

224



25

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough 
Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

5.5b
Adult Social Care service user survey quality of life 

measure - social care-related quality of life
Increasing - getter 

better

Statistical significance not calculated - 
Peterborough value has fallen between 
2012/13 and 2013/14 and is now below 

that of England

2015/16 - 19.1% 19.1% Year-on-year increase

5.6
Number of adults with social care needs receiving short 

term services to increase independence
Increasing - getter 

better
Green RAG status to reflect consistent 

increase in recipients
Feb-17

1,498 
(Predicted end 

of year)
- - Year-on-year increase

5.7
Number of adults with social care needs requesting 

support, advice or guidance
Increasing - getter 

better
Rate per 100,000 is 490.8, currently below 

target rate of 658/100,000
Sep-16 - 490.8 - 658.0/100,000

6. Ageing Well

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough 
Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

6.1a
Injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and over 

(Persons, Directly Standardised rate per 100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015/16 663 2,348 2,169 Match or exceed England 

performance

6.1b Numbers of over 40s taking up NHS health check offers
Increasing - getter 

better
Total of health checks delivered remains 

significantly above England average
2016/17 

Q3
1,362 2.7% 2.0% Match or exceed England 

performance

6.1c
Report on take up of any preventative service 

commissioned directly as part of STP in the future
- TBC - - - - -

6.2
Reducing avoidable emergency admissions (BCF), 

(crude rate per 100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England Mar-13 328 176.0 178.9 Match or exceed England 

performance

6.3a
The proportion of people who use services who feel 

safe (proportion, %)
Increasing - getter 

better
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015/16 1,514 65.0% 69.2%

Exceed England performance 
in order to reach statistical 

similarity

6.3b
The proportion of people who use services who say 
that those services have made them feel safe and 

secure (proportion, %)

Decreasing - getting 
worse

Statistically significantly better than 
England

2015/16 2,059 88.0% 85.4% Match or exceed England 
performance

225



26

Indicator Ref Indicator Peterborough 
Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

6.4
Using an Outcomes Framework - covering several key 
priority areas for older people in relation to their NHS 

care and the Social Care Outcomes Framework
-

Will be expanded as part of on-going work 
with Clinical Commissioning Group on 
Sustainability & Transformation (STP) 

Plans

- - - - -

6.5
Social Isolation: % of adults carers who have as much 

social contact as they would like (proportion, %)
Decreasing - getting 

worse
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2014/15 - 29.7% 38.5% Match or exceed England 

performance

6.6
Carer-reported quality of life score for people caring 

for someone with dementia
-

Indicator provided for the first time in 
2014-15. Peterborough has a lower score 

than England
2014/15 - 6.7% 7.7% Match or exceed England 

performance

7. Protecting Health

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

7.1
Percentage of eligible people screened for latent TB 

infection
- Awaiting provision from CCG  -  - -  - -

7.2
Percentage of eligible new born babies given BCG 

vaccination (aim 90%+)
- Awaiting provision from NHSE  - -  - - -

7.3
Proportion of drug sensitive TB cases who had completed 
a full course of treatment by 12 months (proportion, %)

Increasing - getter 
better

Statistically similar to England 2014 35 85.4% 84.4% Match or exceed England 
performance

226



27

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

7.4
Evidence of increasing uptake of screening and 

immunisation
-

Peterborough currently amber or green 
for 8/10 chosen indicators 2015/16 8/10 - -

• Achieve 95% performance for 
years 2016/17, 2017/18 and 

2018/19 where this is already 
being achieved or close to 

being achieved (Dtap/IPV/Hib 
(1 year old and 2 years old), 
MMR for one dose (5 years 

old)
• Improve MMR for two doses 

(5 years old) to national 
benchmark goal of 90% by 

2018/19
• For all other indicators, 

maintain 90% performance for 
years 2016/17 and 2017/18 

and improve to 95% for 
2018/19

7.5 HIV late diagnosis (proportion, %)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Remains above benchmark goal of 50.0% 2013-15 23 60.5% 40.3% Return to 25% to 50% (PHOF 

Amber 'Rag') by 2017-19

7.6a
Chlamydia- proportion aged 15-24 screened (proportion, 

%)
Decreasing - getting 

worse
Statistically significantly worse than 

England
2015 4,203 18.5% 22.5%

Increase to at least previous 
best of 24.7% (requires 

increase of 2.05% per year)

7.6b Increase in chlamydia detection rate (proportion, %)
Decreasing - getting 

worse
Remains above benchmark goal of 

2,300/100,000
2015 569 2,499 1,887

Benchmark goal already 
reached - maintain and 
improve by 1% per year

227



28

8. Growth, Health & the Local Plan

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

8.1 Excess weight in 4-5 year olds (% of all pupils)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 632 22.8% 22.1%

Match England trend 
(Peterborough already below 

England value)

8.2 Excess weight in 10-11 year olds (% of all pupils)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 794 34.2% 34.2%

Match England trend 
(Peterborough already below 

England value)

8.3
The percentage of the population exposed to road, rail 

and air transport noise of 65dB(A) or more during the day 
time (proportion, %)

Decreasing - getter 
better

Statistical significance not calculated - 
Peterborough percentage is now below 

England
2011 5,020 2.7% 5.2% Retain indicator within dataset 

but without target

8.4
The percentage of the population exposed to road, rail 
and air transport noise of 65dB(A) or more during the 

night time (proportion, %)

Decreasing - getter 
better

Statistical significance not calculated - 
Peterborough percentage is now below 

England
2011 8,190 4.5% 12.8% Retain indicator within dataset 

but without target

8.5
Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons 

(proportion, %)
Decreasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 - 17.8% 17.9% Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England

9. Health & Transport Planning

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

9.1 The number of businesses with travel plans -
48 business in Peterborough have travel 

plans
2016 48 - -

Increase from 48 to 60 
businesses in line with existing 

PCC target

9.2
To further develop a robust monitoring network to 

enable in depth transport model data to be measured
- In progress     

Workstream is on-going, 
updates to be provided 

periodically

228



29

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

9.3 Measures of air quality -
Peterborough currently has 1 Air Quality 

Assessment Area
2015 1 - -

Maintain or reduce 
Peterborough's number of Air 

Quality Management Areas 
(currently = 1 AQMA)

9.4
The numbers of adults and children killed or seriously 

injured in road traffic accidents (crude rate per 100,000)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2013-15 229 40.1 38.5 Reduce disparity between 

Peterborough and England

10. Housing & Health

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current 

(Indicator Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

10.1
Excess winter deaths index (3 years, all ages, Persons, 

Ratio)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England

Aug 2012 
- Jul 2015

268 19.6 19.6 Match or exceed England 
performance

10.2 Excess winter deaths index (3 years, all ages Males, Ratio)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England

Aug 2012 
- Jul 2015

81 11.8 16.6 Match or exceed England 
performance

10.3
Excess winter deaths index (3 years, all ages Females, 

Ratio)
Increasing - getting 

worse
Statistically similar to England

Aug 2012 
- Jul 2015

187 27.3 22.4 Match or exceed England 
performance

10.4
Reduction in unintentional injuries in the home in under 

15 year olds
Decreasing - getter 

better
Statistically similar to England 2015/16 464 113.5 104.2

Match or exceed England 
performance to improve to 

statistically similar to England

10.5
Reduction in delayed discharges from hospital related to 

housing issues (observed numbers)
Decreasing - getter 

better
Has reduced, statistical significance 

unavailable
2015/16 694 - - Reduction in observed 

numbers

229



30

11. Geographical Health Inequalities

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Peterborough Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current (Indicator 

Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

11.1a
Increase in levels of education and economic attainment 

in electoral wards with highest levels of deprivation 
(GCSE attainment)

-

In 2014/15, Attainment of 5+ A*-C GCSEs 
in most deprived 20% of Peterborough 
wards is 34.6% (least deprived 80% = 

51.8%).

2014/15 223 34.6% 57.3% -

11.1b
Increase in levels of education and economic attainment 

in electoral wards with highest levels of deprivation 
(Benefits Claimants)

-

In May 2016, the rate of benefit claimants 
in the most deprived 5 wards of 

Peterborough is 173.3/1,000 (other 80% 
of wards in Peterborough = 113.3/1,000)  

May-16 5,350 173.3 111.2 -

11.2
Increase in life expectancy in wards with highest levels of 

deprivation
Increasing - getter 

better

Life expectancy has increased at higher 
rate for most deprived 20% than least 
deprived 80% in each of past 5 pooled 

periods

2011-15 - 79.5 - -

11.3

Reduction in emergency hospital admissions from wards 
with the highest levels of deprivation (Central, 

Dogsthorpe, North, Orton Longueville, Ravensthorpe) 
(directly standardised rates per 100,000)

Increasing - getting 
worse

Rate per 100,000 has increased from 
2013/14 to 2014/15

2014/15 4,727 11,235 - -

11.4
Smoking cessation rates in wards with highest levels of 

deprivation (proportion, %)
Decreasing - getting 

worse

4 week quit percentage fell between 
2014-15 and 2015-16 from 38.0% to 

34.5%. Suggested target = 40.0%
2015/16 229 34.5 - -

11.5
Health checks completion in wards with highest levels of 

deprivation

Disproportionately 
high level of health 
checks delivered to 
most deprived 20%

In 2015/16, 38.1% of health checks were 
delivered to residents registered with 

practices within the most deprived 20% of 
practices

2015/16 1,961 38.1% - -

230



31

12. Health & Wellbeing of Diverse Communities

Indicator 
Ref Indicator Trend Current Status

Current 
Time 

Period

Peterborough 
Current (#)

Peterborough 
Current 

(Indicator Value)

England 
Value Agreed Target

12.1
We will work with local health services to improve data 
collection on ethnicity, both generally and to assess the 

success of targeted interventions
-

To follow via Peterborough City Council 
policy team in collaboration with Public 

Health Intelligence
 -  - -  - -

12.2
Outcome measures for health and wellbeing of migrants 

will be developed following completion of the JSNA
-

To follow via Peterborough City Council 
policy team in collaboration with Public 

Health Intelligence
 - -  - - -

231



T
his page is intentionally left blank

232



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA ITEM No.  9

12 JUNE 2017 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Wendi Ogle-Welbourn, Corporate Director People and Communities

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Wayne Fitzgerald, Cabinet Member for Integrated Adult 
Social Care and Health

Contact Officer(s): Will Patten, Director of Transformation, 
Peterborough City Council

Tel.
07919 365883

ADULT SOCIAL CARE, BETTER CARE FUND (BCF) UPDATE

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Wendi Ogle-Welbourn Deadline date: N/A

The Health and Wellbeing Board  are requested to note the update of BCF delivery and planning for 
BCF 2017/19 submission 

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT
1.1 This report is submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board at the request of the Corporate 

Director for People and Communities. 

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT
2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide information for the Board; it sets out an update on the 

delivery of the BCF Programme and planning approach for the BCF 2017/18 submission.

2.2 This report is for the Board to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 3.6 ‘To identify areas 
where joined up or integrated commissioning, including the establishment of pooled budget 
arrangements would benefit improving health and wellbeing and reducing health inequalities.’

3. TIMESCALES

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
4.1

4.2

As previously reported, Peterborough’s BCF has created a single pooled budget to support health 
and social care services (for all adults with social care needs) to work more closely together in 
the city. The BCF was announced in June 2013 and introduced in April 2015.  The £12.6 million 
budget is not new money; it is a reorganisation of funding currently used predominantly by 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Peterborough City 
Council (PCC) to provide health and social care services in the city. It includes funding for the 
Disabled Facilities Grant, which supports housing adaptations. In 2017, Peterborough will be 
required to submit a new, jointly agreed BCF Plan, covering a two year period.

MONITORING:
The BCF Q4 NHS England reporting template has been issued and the submission deadline is 
31st  May 2017.

A Section 75 end of year report is being drafted and will be presented to the next Health and 
Wellbeing Board meeting.

233



4.3
BCF PLANNING SUBMISSION 2017-19
At the time of writing, BCF planning guidance and funding allocations for 2017/18 and beyond 
have not yet been published. They were expected on 18th November, but have been delayed. 
Currently we do not have a date for publication, but anticipate that this may not be until after the 
general election purdah period.

The Better Care Fund and Policy Framework was published at the end of March 2017. The key 
requirements outlined, include:

● The plan will cover a period of 2 years: 2017/18 and 2018/19.National conditions have 
been reduced from eight to four, however, areas will likely still be     required to discuss 
their approach to meeting previous national conditions. The four national conditions are:

● Plans to be jointly agreed
● NHS contribution to Adult Social Care (ASC) is maintained in line with inflation
● Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services
● Managing transfers of care, with local areas implementing the ‘High Impact Change Model 

for Managing Transfers of Care’, as expected (this is a brand new condition for 2017-19)
● National performance metrics remain the same; Non-elective admissions, Delayed 

Transfers of Care, Residential admissions and Effectiveness of reablement. There is no 
longer a requirement for locally agreed metrics (injuries due to falls and friends and family 
metric). 

● A new ‘Improved BCF’ settlement will also see additional funding allocated to local 
authorities, with the following conditions attached:

● funds must be pooled into the BCF section 75
● does not replace and must not be offset against the NHS minimum contribution to adult 

social care
● must only be used for purposes of meeting ASC needs, reducing pressures on the NHS, 

including supporting more people to be discharged from hospital when ready and 
ensuring local social care provider market is supported

● the local authority must work with the CCG and providers to meet the national condition 
of managing transfers of care and provide quarterly progress reports

Since the agreement of 2016/17 BCF plans, the local system has collectively signed up to the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and new STP governance arrangements have 
been established. Over the same period there has been a significant increase in joint working 
between local public sector organisations in Peterborough and Cambridgeshire through the 
development of proposals for local devolution. These developments offer an opportunity to review 
the local approach to BCF plans to reduce the risk of duplication and improve the chance of 
success. A single commissioning board for Peterborough and Cambridgeshire has now been 
established, which will support a more joined up approach to planning and monitoring progress.

Planning discussions continue in the absence of the national BCF planning guidance. The 
approach in discussion supports both a greater alignment of BCF activity across the STP and 
local authority plans, and a greater alignment of Peterborough and Cambridgeshire BCF plans.

5. CONSULTATION
5.1 As previously reported, in the developing and drafting of the BCF Plan there were detailed 

discussions and workshops with partners. Joint working across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough continues and regular monitoring activities have been solidified to ensure clear and 
standardised reporting mechanisms. 

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT
6.1 Not applicable. The contents of this report provide an update for the board to note.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION
7.1 The report is for the board to note.

234



8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
8.1 Not applicable.

9. IMPLICATIONS
Financial Implications

9.1 Delivery assurance through the Board will enable the Council and the CCG to continue to meet 
NHS England’s conditions for receiving BCF monies.

The BCF funding is in line with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

Legal Implications
9.2 There are no legal implications related to this report.

Equalities Implications
9.3 There are no equalities implications related to this report.

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985

10.1 i) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q4 15-16 Peterborough (final)
ii) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q1 16-17 Peterborough (final)
iii) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q2 16-17 Peterborough (final)
iv) BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q3 16-17 Peterborough (final)

11. APPENDICES
11.1 None

235



This page is intentionally left blank

236



Updated on:  1 JUNE 2017

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
AGENDA PLAN 2017/2018

MEETING DATE ITEM CONTACT OFFICER 
Monday 12 June 2017  Annual Health and Wellbeing Strategy Performance Report

 Adult Social Care Better Care Fund (BCF) Update 
 Increased 7 Day GP Access
 Motor Neurone Disease Charter – Focus Group Update
 Older People’s Primary Prevention – Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment
 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Sustainability and  

Transformation Plan (STP) Update

For information:

Dr Robin / Ryan O’Neill
Will Patten
Mustafa Malik
Cathy Mitchell
Dr Liz Robin / Dr Angelique Mavrodaris 

Aidan Fallon /  Scott Haldane 
(scott.haldane@cpft.nhs.uk)

Monday 11 September 
2017 

 Adults and Children’s Local Safeguarding Board Annual Reports 
2016/17

 Healthwatch – Priorities, Ways of working across 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

 North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust Update on 
the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust and Peterborough 
and Stamford Hospitals NHS Foundation merger.

 Public Health Annual Report
 Health and Wellbeing Implications for Homeless people in 

Peterborough linked to DCLG Bid
 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

For Information:
Better Care Fund Update
Sustainable Transformation Programme Update
Quarterly Health & Wellbeing Strategy  Performance Update

Jo Proctor

New Chairperson to present

Stephen Graves

Dr Liz Robin
Adrian Chapman

Will Patten
Scott Haldine, (Scott.Haldane@cpft.nhs.uk)
Dr Robin

Monday 4 December 
2017 For Information:

Better Care Fund Update
Sustainable Transformation Programme Update

Will Patten
Scott Haldine, (Scott.Haldane@cpft.nhs.uk)

237

mailto:scott.haldane@cpft.nhs.uk
mailto:Scott.Haldane@cpft.nhs.uk
mailto:Scott.Haldane@cpft.nhs.uk


Updated on:  1 JUNE 2017

MEETING DATE ITEM CONTACT OFFICER 
Quarterly Health & Wellbeing Strategy  Performance Update Dr Robin

Monday 19 March 
2018

For Information:
Better Care Fund Update
Sustainable Transformation Programme Update
Quarterly Health & Wellbeing Strategy  Performance Update

Will Patten
Scott Haldine, (Scott.Haldane@cpft.nhs.uk)
Dr Robin

238

mailto:Scott.Haldane@cpft.nhs.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 23 March 2017
	4 Older People's Primary Prevention - Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
	4. Appendix 1 - OPPP JSNA DRAFT

	5 Increased 7 Day GP Access
	5. GP Report - APPENDIX A  Leaflet
	5. GP Report - APPENDIX B  Poster

	6 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Sustainability And Transformation Plan (STP) Update Report
	7 Motor Neurone Disease Charter -  Focus Group Update
	7. Appendix A MND Multiagency action plan
	7. Appendix B MND Charter

	8 Annual Health And Wellbeing Strategy Performance Report
	8. Appendix 1 PCC Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2016-19 - Annual Review

	9 Adult Social Care, Better Care Fund (BCF) Update
	10 Schedule of Future Meetings and Draft Agenda Plan

